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> 7.6% distribution growth to 114.6 cents per linked unit

> Acquisition of controlling share in a listed Australian property trust 

> R1,74 billion of capital raised through successful rights offer

> Inclusion in the JSE Top 40 Index and MSCI Emerging Markets Index

 
Highlights of the Year
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01 
Chairman’s Statement

INTRODUCTION

Since the previous Chairman’s Statement, 
published in August 2008, much has 
changed in the world economy and in 
particular in global financial markets.

In what is seen by some economists as the 
worst financial crisis since the 1930s, the 
global financial system was on the verge of 
collapse in October 2008.

World trade and industrial production 
collapsed as credit and trade finance became 
difficult to access. This came after leading 
US investment bank Lehman Brothers filed 
for bankruptcy in September 2008.

Governments and central banks were forced 
to take drastic steps to support the banking 
system, including massive cash bail-outs, 
guaranteeing retail deposits, cutting interest 
rates and imposing bans on scrip short-selling.

Against this background, South African 
listed property has proven to be remarkably 
resilient, performing better than equities 
and foreign listed property. 

There are a few reasons for the relative 
outperformance of South African listed 
property over this period. Firstly, South 
African listed property companies have very 
conservative levels of gearing, between 
25% and 30% on average. Secondly, 
foreign shareholders own less than 3% of 
South African listed property companies, 
compared to about 30% of the total JSE All 
Share Index. The disinvestment by foreign 
owners, who were forced to sell assets 
and deleverage as a result of the credit 
crisis, therefore had little impact on South 
African listed property. Thirdly, the South 
African banking sector proved to be in a 
much healthier position than most foreign 
banks. Bank funding was still available to 
South African property companies, which 
accordingly did not face problems of being 
unable to refinance debt.

Growthpoint, being the largest and most 
diversified listed property company in South 
Africa, was once again able to deliver on its 
mission of providing growth in distributions 
and long-term capital appreciation, based on 
sustainable income from renting out quality, 
well-located properties to diversified and 
financially sound tenants.

The 114,6 cents per linked unit distribution 
for the year, together with the appreciation 
in the linked unit price from R11.10 at  
30 June 2008 to R13.00 at 30 June 2009, 
represented a 27.4% total return for the year.

There were two major transactions 
concluded during the year:

>  The raising of an additional R1,7 billion of 
capital through a successful rights offer

>  The conclusion of an agreement to acquire 
a controlling stake in an Australian listed 
property fund

Comparison of sa listed property performanCe
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CAPITAL RAISING

On 30 January 2009, Growthpoint raised an 
additional R1,7 billion of capital through the 
issue of 128 million new linked units in terms 
of a partly underwritten rights offer. The 
new linked units were issued at a clean price 
of R12.94 per linked unit, on an estimated 
forward yield of approximately 9%. 

The reasons for undertaking the rights 
issue were:

>  The company has an obligation to 
refinance a R1,6 billion Commercial 
Mortgage Backed Securitisation (CMBS) 
issue in November 2009. In view of global 
credit conditions, the board deemed it 
prudent to raise more capital as there was 
investor demand, a willing underwriter and 
the linked units could be issued at a small 
(2%) discount to the previous 30-day 
volume weighted average price

>  Although not finalised, there was the 
possibility of making an investment 
in Australia, which would require 
additional capital

The rights offer was well received, with 
investors subscribing for more than the 128 
million linked units offered. The company 
used R1,3 billion of the cash received to pre-
pay certain loans and invested the balance in 
short-term cash deposits.

GROWTHPOINT 
PROPERTIES AUSTRALIA

rationale for investing 
in australia
With Growthpoint already being the largest 
South African listed property company, 
there are limited opportunities locally to 
acquire large, quality portfolios. Owners of 
such portfolios are not distressed sellers and 
there was little evidence of prices dropping 
over the last year.

As a result of the global recession and 
scarcity of funding, the Australian listed 
property market has suffered major write-
downs over the last year-and-a-half, with 
most stocks trading at market values 
significantly lower than net asset values.

Despite weakening against the US Dollar 
and the currencies of other developed world 
economies in the latter half of 2008, the 
SA Rand has remained relatively strong 
compared to the Australian Dollar over the 
same period. The above factors presented 
a unique opportunity for Growthpoint to 
make an investment in a quality property 
portfolio in a developed economy, at a 
yield that is at least as attractive as similar 
investments in South Africa.

When economic conditions return to normal, 
it is anticipated that there will be a re-rating 
of the Australian listed property market, 
which will be to the benefit of Growthpoint. 
Exposure to a developed world economy will 
also provide Rand-hedge benefits.

investment
On 30 July 2009, Growthpoint acquired 
a 50.1% controlling shareholding in the 
Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) listed 
Orchard Industrial Property Fund (OIF) for 
a cash consideration of AU$56 million. 
OIF unitholders also approved a 13 for 10 
rights issue at 16 Australian cents per unit, 
which closes on 15 September 2009 and 
has been underwritten by Growthpoint. 
Depending on the number of unitholders 
who follow their rights, Growthpoint will 
have a maximum further commitment of 
AU$144 million and will hold between 
60% and 78% of OIF.

OIF was renamed Growthpoint Properties 
Australia and trades on the ASX under the 
Share Code GOZ.

A key aspect of the transaction was the 
internalisation of management and a 
number of key staff from the existing 
external fund manager have been recruited 
to run the company.

GOZ owns 23 industrial properties, which 
are well located in the major metropolitan 
areas of Australia, valued at AU$643 million 
at 30 June 2009. 68% of net income 
is earned from large warehousing and 
distribution facilities leased to Woolworths, 
Australia’s premier retailer. 

The portfolio consists of high quality 
properties with an average lease length 
of 11 years.

The forecast distribution (reviewed by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia) for the 
year to 30 June 2010 is 14 Australian cents 
per GOZ unit.

The investment is not expected to have 
a significant impact on Growthpoint’s 
distributions in the short term, but enhances 
the diversification of Growthpoint’s 
portfolio and will support Growthpoint’s 
ability to continue generating long-term, 
sustainable, growing income.

INCLUSION IN 
VARIOUS INDICES

On 25 November 2008, Growthpoint was 
included in the Morgan Stanley Capital 
International (MSCI) Emerging Markets 
Index. Furthermore, Growthpoint made 
its landmark debut on the JSE/Actuaries 
All Share 40 Top Companies Index (ALSI 
40 Index) on 22 December 2008, ranked 
31 of the top 40 companies. The inclusion 
in these indices has resulted in increased 
international exposure for Growthpoint and 
the foreign shareholding has increased to 
above 6% for the first time.

LIQUIDITY AND TRADABILITY

Growthpoint’s linked units continue to 
enjoy high levels of liquidity and tradability. 
During the year ended 30 June 2009, R10,0 
billion of Growthpoint linked units traded on 
the JSE Limited, representing 54.4% of the 
weighted average linked units in issue. 
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UPDATE ON REIT 
LEGISLATION 

During the past year, the property industry 
has continued to work with the South 
African National Treasury to put in place 
a legislative framework for Real Estate 
Investment Trusts (REITs) that will be 
comparable with models in place in the 
USA, Europe and the UK, and various 
other jurisdictions.

Progress has been made and the matter 
is currently receiving the attention of the 
Tax Policy unit of the National Treasury.

STATE OF THE MARKET 

Although South African listed property 
companies have continued to report 
good results, with growth in profits and 
distributions over the last year, there is 
no doubt that operating conditions have 
deteriorated.

New developments that have come on 
stream in the last nine months have been 
difficult to let at feasibility rentals. The 
rate of defaulting tenants has increased, 
although arrears and bad debts are still 
low relative to total revenue. 

interest rates
The reduction in interest rates from June 
2008 to June 2009, as reflected in the graph 
below, has been positive for listed property 
share prices. 

The interest rate yield curve was sharply 
inverted at 31 December 2008, in 
anticipation of a decrease in short-term 
interest rates. As short-term rates were 
reduced by 4.0% from January 2009 to June 
2009, the interest rate yield curve reverted 
to a normal, slightly upward-sloping curve.

Government and state-owned enterprises, 
such as Eskom, will be requiring massive 
amounts of capital over the next few years 
to finance the upgrading of infrastructure. 
As these entities issue bonds to finance this 
expenditure, the increased bond supply will 
exert upward pressure on interest rates. 

Although inflation has fallen quite sharply 
in the last six months, and is likely to be back 
in the top of the Reserve Bank’s target range 
of 3% to 6% towards the end of 2009, there 
are still strong cost pressures, particularly in 
administered costs such as assessment rates 
and electricity, as well as wage demands. 
Most economists do not expect that 
inflation will stay within the targeted range 
for long before rising again. These factors are 
expected to inhibit further interest rate cuts.

Movements in interest rates do not have 
a significant impact on Growthpoint’s 
distributions as the company’s policy is to 
fix at least 75% of interest rates through fixed 
interest rate swap contracts. At 30 June 2009, 
the value of fixed interest rate swaps was 
108.4% of the nominal value of debt. This was 
largely a result of repaying R1,3 billion of debt 
after the R1,7 billion rights issue in January 
2009. Once the investment in Australia is 
fully paid for, by the end of September 2009, 
the ratio is expected to fall to below 97%.

13%

12%

11%

10%

9%

8%

7%

yield Curve

0 YEARS 1 YEAR 2 YEARS 3 YEARS 4 YEARS 5 YEARS 6 YEARS 7 YEARS 8 YEARS 9 YEARS 10 YEARS

30 JUNE 2008                     31 DECEMBER 2008                     30 JUNE 2009   

13%

12%

11%

10%

9%

8%

7%



9 

vaCanCy levels
It was noted in the 2008 Chairman’s 
Statement that there were a number of 
developments, mainly in the office sector, 
that would be completed in the year ending 
30 June 2009, both by Growthpoint and 
other parties. This was expected to create a 
short-term increase in office vacancies and 
limit the ability to increase office rentals 
substantially in certain nodes in the short-
term. Recessionary economic conditions 
have aggravated this, and it has been 
more difficult to let new space than was 
anticipated. However, the drop in demand 
has also restricted new developments, and 
when conditions improve and existing vacant 
space is let, this will enhance future revenue.

In the retail sector, the large regional centres 
continue to perform well, with good demand 
for space in the established centres. Smaller 
neighbourhood and community centres 
are not faring as well, as reflected in higher 
vacancy levels and arrears in these centres.

The industrial sector has also been affected 
by the economic slow-down, with demand 
for new space slowing significantly. There 
has been an increasing incidence of business 
failures among smaller industrial clients, 
especially those exposed to the motor, 
manufacturing and mining sectors.

growthpoint vaCanCy by seCtor
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PROSPECTS

Growthpoint has a large, diversifi ed, quality 
property portfolio and a solid client base, 
combined with conservative gearing 
policies and prudent fi nancial management. 
This should enable the company to 
continue achieving its mission of providing 
sustainable, growing income streams and 
long-term capital appreciation. 

Since the latter half of 2008, the impact of 
the global economic recession and fi nancial 
crisis began to be felt in South Africa and by 
Growthpoint. This was exacerbated by new 
property developments that were completed 
during the year in weak economic conditions.

Global liquidity constraints have resulted 
in lenders requiring higher margins on new 
loans. The weighted average margin on 
Growthpoint’s borrowings is currently
82 bps. Current market related margins are 
200 bps and higher for long-term funding, 
and this could lead to higher interest costs 
for Growthpoint when loans are refi nanced.

Growthpoint’s view is that economic activity 
will continue to be subdued for the next year 
until the effects of lower short-term interest 
rates, increased liquidity, and stabilising and 
slowly improving global economic conditions 
bring some relief. This, together with the 
impact of anticipated higher margins on
the refi nancing of debt and the repayment
of certain non-interest-bearing liabilities, 
may result in distributions for the year to
30 June 2010 not growing at the same rate 
as in 2009. However, provided that no major 
unforeseen events occur, we are expecting 
to achieve positive growth in distributions in 
the next fi nancial year. 

This profi t forecast has not been reviewed or 
reported on by Growthpoint’s auditors.

BOARD CHANGES

On 26 August 2008, Stuart Snowball was 
appointed as Financial Director and Estienne 
de Klerk as Executive Director. These are 
two senior executives with many years’ 
experience in fi nance and property. We 
congratulate them on their appointments 
and welcome them to the board. 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In a diffi cult economic environment, 
Growthpoint was once again a leader in the 
South African property market. The company 
prudently strengthened its balance sheet by 
raising R1,7 billion in January 2009 through 
a partly underwritten rights offer and taking 
advantage of a unique opportunity to make a 
large investment in Australian listed property 
at a signifi cant discount to net asset value.

Transactions of this magnitude, particularly 
a venture into a foreign country, are carefully 
and diligently considered.

To my fellow non-executive directors, thank 
you for your support and commitment 
and for your involvement in the Audit, Risk, 
Property, Transformation and Remuneration 
committees that continues to see 
Growthpoint at the forefront of good and 
sound corporate governance. 

Congratulations to Norbert Sasse and his 
executive team for their part in successfully 
implementing these transactions and 
for continuing to manage the company 
well in diffi cult times. Thank you to every 
Growthpoint employee for their dedication 
and hard work that makes Growthpoint the 
successful company it is.

j f marais
Chairman

25 August 2009
Sandton

j f marais
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Directors’ Review of Operations

FINANCIAL RESULTS 

Growthpoint recorded 7.6% growth in 
distributions per linked unit for the year ended 
30 June 2009. Growth in distributions was 
slower than in the last few years, as the global 
credit crisis and economic recession began 
to be felt noticeably in South Africa from the 
last quarter of 2008. New developments 
that came on stream during this time were 
most affected, with a drop in demand for new 
space by businesses looking to cut costs and 
consolidate rather than expand.

Investors will be pleased with the 17% 
capital appreciation in the price of 
Growthpoint linked units for the year ended 
30 June 2009, largely due to the decrease in 
interest rates over this period. 

CAPITAL RAISING

On 30 January 2009, Growthpoint raised 
R1,7 billion through the issue of 128 million 
new linked units in terms of a partially 
underwritten rights offer. The new linked 
units were issued at R13.60 per linked unit. 
This included 56,3 cents per linked unit 
accrued distribution in respect of the interim 
six months ended 31 December 2008, which 
was paid to linked unitholders in March 
2009, and 10 cents per linked unit accrued 
distribution for January 2009. 

R1,3 billion of the proceeds was used to 
prepay debt and the balance was invested 
in short-term money market investments. 
Subsequent to year-end, R360 million of the 
cash was used to make an initial investment 
in the Orchard Industrial Property Fund 
(OIF) in Australia. Growthpoint will draw 
down on the prepaid debt facilities to make 
a further investment of up to AU$144 
million, when the results of a rights offer 
announced by OIF in the middle of August is 
finalised in mid-September. The OIF rights 
offer has been underwritten by Growthpoint.

The raising of this additional capital has been 
seen favourably by analysts and investors. 
It has strengthened Growthpoint’s balance 
sheet at a time when the availability of 
funding globally has become scarce and 
property values have been declining. At 
year-end, Growthpoint’s loan to value (LTV) 
ratio was a conservative 32.2%.

INVESTMENT IN AUSTRALIAN 
LISTED PROPERTY FUND

The other significant transaction, announced 
in May 2009, was the conclusion of an 
implementation agreement to acquire a 
controlling interest in OIF, in two phases. 
The first phase was the acquisition of a 
50.1% interest in OIF through an investment 
of AU$56 million in new units issued by OIF 
at the end of July 2009. 

As a key part of the transaction, management 
has been internalised, in line with the 
Growthpoint model in South Africa, and the 
board has been reconstituted. A number of 
key staff, who have been responsible for the 
portfolio and were employed by the external 
manager, have been recruited to run the 
operation in Australia.

The mandate of OIF has also been 
expanded to include investment in retail 
and office properties, while the units have 
been consolidated on a 10 for 1 basis. 
Debt facilities with the banks have been 
renegotiated and secured until June 2012.

OIF has been renamed Growthpoint 
Properties Australia (GOZ) and trades on the 
Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) under the 
Share Code GOZ. 

In the second phase, Growthpoint has 
underwritten a 13 for 10 rights offer by 
GOZ at 16 Australian cents per unit (before 
consolidation of the units). This offer will 
be finalised on 15 September 2009 and will 
leave Growthpoint with between 60% and 
78% of GOZ, with a maximum further cost 
to Growthpoint of AU$144 million. 

desCription of the fund
The GOZ property portfolio currently 
consists of 23 top quality, well-located 
industrial properties, being mainly large 
logistics, warehousing and distribution 
facilities, with a total lettable area of 
689 410 m2. The book value of the 
properties at 30 June 2009 was AU$643 
million. 68% of net income is earned 
from properties leased to Woolworths, 
Australia’s premier retailer with an annual 
turnover of over AU$50 billion and a market 
capitalisation of more than AU$35 billion. 
6% of net income comes from government, 
8% from other Australian listed companies, 
6% from listed international companies, 
and the balance of 12% is occupied by 
private companies.

The properties are mostly occupied by 
single tenants on “triple net” leases with a 
weighted average lease length of more  
than 11 years.
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 impaCt of the aCquisition
The forecast distribution of GOZ for the 
year ending 30 June 2010 (which has been 
reviewed by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Australia) is 14 Australian cents per unit. 
The acquisition is not expected to have 
a material impact on Growthpoint’s 
distributions for the year to June 2010. 
Rental escalation rates, in line with Australian 
inflation, are relatively low, in the 2% to 
3% range. However, the inflation rate 
differentials between Australia and South 
Africa should lead to the Rand weakening 
against the Australian Dollar, which could add 
between 3% and 4% to distribution growth. 

strategy going forward
Growthpoint will be actively looking at 
opportunities to increase its footprint in 
Australia and to grow GOZ by acquiring 
quality, well-located commercial properties 
with solid tenants and long leases. It is 
possible that opportunities may present 
themselves to acquire small listed trusts in 
need of new capital or for Growthpoint to 
be involved in further merger and acquisition 
activity. In addition, as property values 
continue to fall, there may be more distressed 
sales, possibly by unlisted funds.

Access to capital will be a challenge as 
the Australian banks are over-exposed to 
commercial property and are demanding 
significantly higher margins on refinancing 
of debt as well as for new debt. The ability 
to issue new equity capital will initially be 
limited, until there is a re-rating of the listed 
units. GOZ will need to grow its market 
capitalisation and increase the free float by 
reducing Growthpoint’s shareholding over 
time. Initially, however, Growthpoint may need 
to inject further capital to grow the assets.

SIMPLIFIED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
At the end of this report, we have included 
a simplified income statement and balance 
sheet as well as a five-year record based on 
the simplified financial statements. 
We have done this in an attempt to make 
the financial statements easier to understand, 
to reflect the cash-based operating results 
as used by management and the board, and 
to eliminate fair value and other non-cash 
flow adjustments required in the statutory 
financial statements to comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). We have, in all cases, reconciled 
the management figures to the figures as 
reported in terms of IFRS.

COMMENTS ON 
AUDITED RESULTS

Material movements in the audited 
income statement and balance sheet are 
explained below.

revenue
Apart from normal contractual rental 
escalations, the 18.4% increase in gross 
revenue was mainly due to acquisitions 
and new developments that contributed 
R400 million.

Excluding the impact of acquisitions and 
disposals, as well as the rent from Investec 
Bank Limited, which had an abnormally 
high escalation in 2009, the “like-for-like” 
property net income increased by 9.8% 
from 2008 to 2009. Per sector, the “like-for-
like” increases were: office 10.0%,  
retail 9.0% and industrial 10.5%.

fair value adjustments
The year-end revaluation of properties 
resulted in an upward revaluation of R189 
million (0.6%) to R29,2 billion. 

From 30 June 2008 to 30 June 2009, there 
was a general reduction in long-term 
interest rates, resulting in a R1,4 billion 
increase in the fair value of borrowings and 
interest rate swaps for the current year. 

finanCing Costs
Finance costs increased by R224 million 
(32.1%), from R697 million to R921 million. 
R174 million was due to higher average loan 
balances as Growthpoint’s previously large 
pipeline of developments and acquisitions 
was paid for. Capitalised interest reduced 
by R16 million as certain developments 
were completed and the balance was due to 
slightly (0.4%) higher average interest rates 
as certain interest swaps expired and new 
swaps commenced.
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non-Cash Charges
The acquisition of the Property Services 
Businesses in the prior year gave rise 
to a R1,5 billion intangible asset as well 
as R448 million of goodwill on initial 
recognition. In terms of accounting 
standards, the intangible asset is 
amortised over a 15-year period. The 
amortisation is a book entry that does not 
affect cash flow or distributable income.

The Staff Incentive Scheme put in place 
as part of the management “buy-in” 
transaction concluded in the prior year has 
given rise to a plan asset, which is reflected 
on the balance sheet net of the plan liability. 

Except for the rights issue that was exercised 
by the Staff Incentive Scheme, increasing 
the plan asset by R9 million, the increase in 
the Staff Incentive Scheme liability and the 
fair valuation of the plan asset amounting to 
R21 million are book entries that do not 
affect cash flow or distributable income. 

Capital items 
An underwriting commission of R40 million 
in respect of the rights offer was paid to 
Investec Bank Limited, together with 
other costs relating to the rights issue of 
R4 million. Furthermore, expenses incurred 
to 30 June 2009 in respect of the acquisition 
of OIF amounted to R4 million, which are 
also included in capital costs.

The above costs are disclosed as capital items 
and do not affect distributable earnings. 

finanCe inCome
There are three components to 
finance income:

>  Antecedent divestiture of interest on the 
issue of new linked units was R85,1 million 
(2008: R41,3 million). This relates to the 
rights issue made in January 2009, where 
the unitholders who followed their rights 
received debenture interest that had 
accrued prior to paying for the new linked 
units. The issue price of the new linked 
units was therefore split into a capital and 
accrued interest component

>  Interest received on surplus cash balances 
was R39,9 million (2008: R12,8 million), 
mainly due to the surplus cash balances 
held after the January 2009 rights issue

>   Interest on the loans to Growthpoint’s BEE 
consortia increased from R32,7 million to 
R36,1 million. Interest income increases 
each year as the loan balances accumulate 
because interest is only repayable at the 
end of the loan periods

investment property
During the current financial year, 
Growthpoint acquired R395 million worth 
of new properties, R195 million being offices, 
R190 million industrial, and the balance an 
adjustment to a retail property acquired in 
2008. The company spent an additional 
R1 504 million on developments, extensions 
and capital expenditure, R957 million in the 
office portfolio, R241 million in the retail 
portfolio and R306 million in the 
industrial portfolio.

The year-end discounted cash flow 
valuations resulted in increases in property 
values of R189 million, representing an 
average increase over the entire portfolio 
of approximately 0.6%.
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SECTORAL REVIEWS

offiCe
In the year ended 30 June 2009, 
market demand for office space was weak. 
Vacancies increased from 3.8% to 6.2%, 
while vacancies in new developments 
contributed 2.7% (2008: 1.1%) to take 
total office vacancies to 8.9% at the end 
of the year.

Rental arrears increased from R5,1 million to 
R11,0 million and the provision for bad debts 
increased from R1,9 million to R5,5 million.

The office portfolio was written down by 
R73 million, or 0.6%, at 30 June 2009. 
Five new developments that had large 
vacancies at year-end contributed 
significantly to the write-down.

Besides Lincoln on the Lake in Umhlanga 
(KwaZulu Natal), which has a total lettable 
area of 6 671 m2, there are no other 
developments in progress that could add 
to the vacancies.

53% of leases that expired during the year 
were renewed, achieving an average 15% 
positive rent reversion on renewal. Some 
large clients moved to newly developed 
premises, not owned by Growthpoint, when 
their leases expired. 

The average contractual escalation at 30 June 
2009, on leases that will not be expiring in 
the next year, is 8.8%. In the year to 30 June 
2010, 12% of office leases will be expiring.

Although vacancies are likely to increase 
in the next few months, it is expected that 
the vacancy levels will reduce from current 
levels by 30 June 2010.

The economic slow-down has led to a 
decrease in demand for new space, with the 
result that proposed new developments, 
other than those that are substantially pre-
let, are not feasible in these circumstances.

retail 
The strength of Growthpoint’s retail portfolio 
was evident in the year ended 30 June 
2009, where despite the economic recession, 
vacancies only increased marginally from 
2.8% at 30 June 2008 to 3.2% at 30 June 
2009. Vacancies are not expected to increase 
materially in the next year.

Total arrears increased from R14,0 million 
to R16,3 million, with the provision for bad 
debts being reduced from R6,3 million to 
R6,0 million.

The retail portfolio was revalued upwards by 
R210 million, or 2.1%, at 30 June 2009.

The top 15 retail properties by value 
comprise 75% of the total retail portfolio 
value. These are mostly dominant regional 
shopping centres, well established with 
strong demand for space. Research has 
shown that the larger regional shopping 
centres are the best performing property 
asset class in the long term.

The smaller neighbourhood and community 
centres are showing some stress, with higher 
vacancy levels and arrears. These centres 
require active management to prevent them 
from deteriorating.

Slowing retail sales have forced national 
retailers to reconsider their expansion 
plans of a year or two ago and, in certain 
nodes, to consolidate their trading in more 
profitable stores. Large regional centres tend 
to be more profitable, and nationals are 
continuing to renew leases in these centres 
with positive rent reversions. 

78% of leases that expired in the year 
were renewed, achieving on average a 10% 
positive reversion.

Of some concern are increasing cost 
pressures, mainly of administered costs 
such as electricity and assessment rates. 
Although these are generally recoverable 
from tenants, they increase tenants’ costs 
which has an impact on our ability to 
achieve higher net rentals.

The average contractual escalation at 
30 June 2009 on leases that will not be 
expiring in the next year, is 7.8%. In the year 
to 30 June 2010, 16% of retail leases will 
be expiring.
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industrial
The industrial sector has been the best 
performing sector over the last three years, 
but has been more severely affected by the 
economic recession. Manufacturing output 
is sharply down and a number of clients 
dependent on the motor or mining industry 
have been severely affected and, in some 
cases, been forced to close down.

Vacancies in existing properties increased 
from 2.1% to 3.7%, with new developments 
taking the total vacancy level to 4.4%.

Arrears increased from R4,5 million to R9,1 
million and the provision for bad debts rose 
from R1,6 million to R5,5 million.

In spite of the above, the company was 
still able to achieve positive rent reversions 
of 18% on average on all leases that were 
renewed in the last year. 

There have been more liquidations in the 
industrial sector than in the other sectors. 
Because of the large number of industrial 
tenants and the fact that these are generally 
smaller tenants, the impact is not so severe 
on Growthpoint’s bottom line.

In June 2009, Growthpoint took transfer of 
five units in a newly developed industrial 
park in Somerset West. 

At Growthpoint Industrial Estate, near OR 
Tambo International Airport, 23 300 m2 of 
mini-units are expected to be completed 
in phases from September 2009. This will 
add to vacancy levels in the short term, 
but should be very lettable as soon as the 
economy starts recovering.

The industrial portfolio was revalued upwards 
by R52 million, or 0.8%, at 30 June 2009.

The average contractual escalation at 
30 June 2009, on leases that will not be 
expiring in the next year, is 8.9%. In the year 
to 30 June 2010, 18% of industrial leases will 
be expiring.

borrowings 
At 30 June 2009, the loan to value (LTV) 
ratio, determined by dividing the total 
nominal value of all debt (net of cash) by 
the sum of investment property and listed 
property investments, was 32.2%. 

It is expected that the LTV will increase to 
37.8%, once the final payment for the 
OIF transaction has been made in 
September 2009.

108.4% of interest-bearing debt was fixed 
at a weighted average rate of 10.1% for a 
weighted average of 9,7 years at 30 June 
2009. Once the final payment for OIF has 
been made, this should reduce to 96.6%.
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loan faCilities expiry profile at 30 june 2009

MONTHS 12 13-24 25-36 37-48 49-60 61-72 73-84 85-96 97-108
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180

rm 1 566 2 505 1 969 – 1 000 740 – – 1 415 – – – – – 703

01 

fixed interest rate expiry profile
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Growthpoint’s exposure to interest rate 
risk is fairly well spread until 2018, when 
approximately R2,4 billion of interest rate 
swaps and fi xed interest rate loans are due 
to expire. It is Growthpoint’s intention to 
monitor its interest rate risk and, at the 
appropriate time, to extend the 2018 swaps. 

Growthpoint has entered into a 6-year
and 5-year, forward-starting swap of
R250 million each, with starting dates of
30 September 2009 and 31 December 2009 
at an average fi xed rate of 8.7%. As there 
are no fi xed interest rate contracts
expiring in this period, this is refl ected as 
R500 million below the line in 2009 in the 
fi xed interest rate expiry profi le.

At 30 June 2009, Growthpoint had
R2,2 billion worth of contracted loan 
facilities in place, which is available to draw 
down, plus R497 million cash on hand.

The company is also fi nalising negotiations 
for an additional R1,5 billion worth of 
secured bank loan facilities. 

These facilities will enable Growthpoint to 
pay for the investment in OIF as well as 
repay the R1,6 billion Commercial Mortgage 
Backed Securitisation (CMBS) note issue that 
is due for repayment in November 2009.

ConClusion
Despite the diffi cult trading conditions 
experienced in 2009, the company has 
grown distributions to unitholders by 7.6% 
compared to the previous year.

The R1,7 billion successful capital raising and 
conclusion of Growthpoint’s fi rst offshore 
investment are notable achievements and 
further signs of the company’s ability to be 
innovative and proactive.

Growthpoint has a strong, independent 
board of directors, an executive team of top 
people in their respective fi elds and depth 
of talent in management at all levels. Every 
staff member has an equity interest in 
Growthpoint and is valued as an important 
part of the team. 

We remain positive and committed to 
continue delivering growing income 
distributions and enhancing and improving 
the quality of the portfolio, to the benefi t
of investors and other stakeholders.

l n sasse 
Chief Executive Offi cer 

j f marais 
Chairman

25 August 2009
Sandton

j f marais 
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Simplified Financial Statements 

simplified distribution income statement 
for the year ended 30 June 2009

Notes group
2009 rm

Group
2008 Rm

Revenue 1 3 211  2 712 

Property expenses (759) (675)

Net property income 2452  2 037 

Asset management costs (41) (38)

Other operating expenses (34) (24)

Investment income 1 1

Interest received 162 87

Interest paid (921) (697)

Profit before taxation 1 619  1 366 

Taxation 5 (5) (2)

Profit before debenture interest 1 614  1 364 

Debenture interest and dividends (1 614)  (1 364)

Retained profit –  – 

Number of linked units in issue 1 409 018 815  1 280 926 195 

Distribution per linked unit 114.60 106.50

simplified balance sheet 
as at 30 June 2009

Notes group
2009 rm

Group
2008 Rm

assets

Property assets 6 29 211  27 245 

Intangible assets – acquisition of Property Services Businesses 7 1 374  1 445 

Other non-current assets 621  1 154 

Derivative assets 166 759

Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia 396 325

Long-term employee benefits 47 59

Listed property investments 10 9

Equipment 2 2

Current assets 6 800 426

Cash and cash equivalents 497 27

Other current assets 303 399

total assets 32 006  30 270

equity and liabilities

Linked unitholders’ interest 8 19 031  18 772 

Nominal value of interest-bearing long-term liabilities 9 9 898  9 411 

Deferred capital gains tax 10 1 046  1 012 

Other non-current financial liabilities 9 590 (279) 

Current liabilities 11 1 441  1 354 

total equity and liabilities 32 006  30 270
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Notes to the Simplified Financial Statements 

group
2009 rm

Group
2008 Rm

1 Revenue as stated 3 430  2 920 

 Less: straight-line lease income adjustment (219) (208)

3 211  2 712 

2 Fair value adjustments as stated (143) (139)

 Less: fair value adjustment reversed 143 139

–  – 

3 Non-cash charges as stated (140) (193)

 Less: non-cash charges reversed 140 193

–  –  

4 Capital items as stated (35) 22

 Less: capital items reversed 35 (22)

–  – 

5 Taxation refund as stated 23 1

 Add back: deferred tax on tangible asset (28) –

 Add back: capital gains taxation (CGT) – prior year overprovision – (5)

 Add back: taxation on trading profit – 2

(5) (2)

6 Property assets as stated  28 637  27 245 

 Add back: investment property reclassified as held for sale (included in current assets, excluding residential units)  574  -  

 29 211  27 245 

7 Intangible assets as stated 1 733  1 832 

 Reversal of additional goodwill raised on deferred tax liability* (359) (387)

1 374  1 445 

8 Linked unitholders’ interest as stated 20 077  19 784 

 Raising of deferred tax liability on fair value of investment property (1 046)  (1 012)

19 031  18 772 

9 Other non-current financial liabilities as stated 8 815  9 132

 Add: reclassification of current financial liabilities 1 673  – 

 Nominal value of interest-bearing long-term liabilities (9 898)  (9 411)

590 (279)

10 Deferred taxation as stated 359 387

 Reversal of additional deferred tax liability on intangible asset (359) (387)

 Raising of deferred tax liability on fair value of investment property at CGT rate 1 046  1 012 

1 046  1 012 

11 Current liabilities as stated 3 114 1 354 

 Less: reclassification of current portion of non-current financial liabilities (1 673) –

1 441  1 354 

*In terms of IFRS 3 Business Combinations, goodwill was increased with the deferred tax liability (R387 million) 
that was raised on initial recognition of the intangible asset acquired in terms of the acquisition of the Property 
Services Businesses. Applying the principle that the group will recover the carrying value of the intangible asset 
through use rather than through sale, the tax base was determined to have no value, which gave rise to the 
deferred tax liability. This deferred tax liability will reverse over time as the intangible assets to which it relates, 
is amortised over a 15-year period.
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Five-Year Record

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

number of properties 166 345 419 436 438

simplified balance sheet rm rm rm rm rm

assets

Investment properties  9 119  15 017  22 173  27 245 29 211

Listed property investments 391  –  11 9 10

Property assets  9 510   15 017   22 184   27 254 29 221

Intangible assets  –   –   –   1 445 1 374

Other non-current assets  –  336 448  1 145 611

Curent assets 132 191 325 426 800

total assets  9 642  15 544  22 957  30 270 32 006

equity and liabilities

Linked unitholders’ interest  4 607  7 507  12 910  18 772 19 031

Nominal value of interest-bearing long-term liabilities  3 261  5 360  8 091  9 411 9 898

Other non-current liabilities/(assets) 556 388 255 (279) 590

Deferred capital gains tax 260 475 790  1 012 1 046

Current liabilities 958  1 814 911  1 354 1 441

total equity and liabilities 9 642  15 544 22 957  30 270 32 006

simplified income statement rm rm rm rm rm

Revenue  1 014  1 298  2 152  2 712 3 211

Property expenses (256) (351) (539) (675) (759)

Net property income 758 947  1 613  2 037 2 452

Asset management costs (39) (58) (108) (38) (41)

Other operating expenses (7) (8) (12) (24) (34)

Investment income 59 34 45 1 1

Operating profit 771 915  1 538  1 976 2 378

Interest paid (298) (361) (615) (697) (921)

Finance income 9 49 44 87 162

Profit before taxation 482 603 967  1 366 1 619

Taxation  –   –   –  (2) (5)

Profit before debenture interest 482 603 967  1 364 1 614

Debenture interest and dividends (482) (603) (967)  (1 364) (1 614)

Retained profit  –   –   –   – –

linked units in issue (million) 660.4 778.2  1 074.1  1 280.9 1 409.0

ratios

distribution per linked unit (cents) 73.2 81.3 93.1 106.5 114.6

distribution growth (%) 6.1% 11.1% 14.5% 14.4% 7.6%

tangible net asset value per linked unit (cents) 737  1 026  1 275  1 432 1 327

Property expenses as a % of revenue 25.2% 27.0% 25.0% 24.9% 23.6%

Asset mangement plus other operating expenses as a % of revenue 4.5% 5.1% 5.6% 2.3% 2.3%

Loan to value ratio (based on nominal value of interest-bearing 
debt net of cash) 34.5% 35.7% 36.5% 34.4% 32.2%

Interest times cover 2.7 2.9 2.7 3.2 3.1
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Directors’ Responsibility

FOR THE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The directors are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the 
group and company annual fi nancial 
statements of Growthpoint Properties 
Limited, comprising the balance sheets at 
30 June 2009, the income statements, the 
statements of changes in equity and cash 
fl ow statements for the year then ended, and 
the notes to the fi nancial statements, which 
include a summary of signifi cant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes, 
and the Directors’ Report, in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and in the manner required by the 
Companies Act of South Africa.

The directors’ responsibility includes: the 
design, implementation and maintenance of 
internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of these fi nancial 
statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances.

The directors’ responsibility also includes 
the maintenance of adequate accounting 
records and an effective system of risk 
management as well as the preparation 
of the supplementary schedules included 
in these fi nancial statements. Nothing 
has come to the attention of the directors 
to indicate that any breakdown in the 
functioning of these controls, resulting in 
material loss to the group and company, 
has occurred during the year and up to the 
date of this report.

The directors have made an assessment of 
the ability of the group and company to 
continue as a going concern. The directors 
have a reasonable expectation that the 
group and company have adequate 
resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future and 
have no reason to believe the business will 
not be a going concern in the year ahead. 
For this reason, they continue to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the 
fi nancial statements.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on 
whether the annual fi nancial statements 
are fairly presented in accordance with the 
applicable fi nancial reporting framework.

APPROvAL OF ThE ANNuAL 
FiNANciAL STATEmENTS
The group and company annual fi nancial 
statements of Growthpoint Properties 
Limited, as identifi ed in the fi rst paragraph, 
were approved by the board of directors on 
25 August 2009 and are signed on its
behalf by:

L N Sasse
Chief Executive Offi cer
25 August 2009
Sandton

J F marais
Chairman
25 August 2009
Sandton

J F marais
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Declaration by the Company Secretary

In terms of section 268G(d) of the Companies Act, 1973, as amended, I hereby certify 
that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the company has lodged with the Registrar of 
Companies, for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2009, all such returns as are required of a 
public company in terms of this Act and that such returns are true, correct and up to date.

R A Krabbenhöft
25 August 2009
Sandton 

NESTLÉ
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Report of the Independent Auditor

TO THE MEMBERS 
OF GROWTHPOINT 
PROPERTIES LIMITED

We have audited the group and company 
annual fi nancial statements of Growthpoint 
Properties Limited, which comprise the 
balance sheets at 30 June 2009, the income 
statements, the statements of changes in 
equity and cash fl ow statements for the year 
then ended, and the notes to the fi nancial 
statements, which include a summary of 
signifi cant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes, and the Directors’ Report 
as set out on pages 29 to 81.

DiREcTORS’ RESPONSiBiLiTy FOR 
ThE FiNANciAL STATEmENTS 
The company’s directors are responsible 
for the preparation and fair presentation of 
these fi nancial statements, in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and in the manner required 
by the Companies Act of South Africa. 
This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of fi nancial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in 
the circumstances.

AuDiTOR’S RESPONSiBiLiTy 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these fi nancial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing. 
Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the fi nancial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures 
to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial 
statements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the fi nancial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the fi nancial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of
the fi nancial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

OPiNiON 
In our opinion, the fi nancial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, 
the group and company fi nancial position 
of Growthpoint Properties Limited at 
30 June 2009, and their fi nancial 
performance and cash fl ows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and in the 
manner required by the Companies Act 
of South Africa.

KPmg iNc.
Registered Auditor

Per g S Kolbé
Chartered Accountant (SA) 
Registered Auditor
Director
25 August 2009

85 Empire Road
Parktown
Johannesburg
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Report of the Audit Committee

The committee considers that it has adequately performed its functions in terms of its 
mandate, the Code of Corporate Practice and Conduct and the Companies Act, 1973, 
as amended (notably by the Corporate Laws Amendment Act, 2006).

The committee meets at least quarterly and is responsible for:

>  Reviewing the annual financial statements before they are presented to the board 

>  Reviewing internal control systems with reference to the findings of the internal and 
external auditors 

>  Considering any changes in accounting policies and financial disclosure requirements 

>  Considering any recommendations of the internal and external auditors 

>  Reviewing the tenure of the external auditors, setting and approving the external auditors’ 
fees for their audit and approving any non-audit work to be performed by the 
external auditors 

The committee is satisfied with the external auditors’ confirmation of their independence 
and that the audit of the 2009 annual financial statements has been carried out 
by the external auditors without any restriction of the audit’s scope.

EBONY PLACE
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Directors’ Report

The directors have pleasure in submitting 
their 21st annual report, which forms part 
of the audited financial statements of the 
company and the group for the year ended 
30 June 2009.

NATURE OF BUSINESS

Growthpoint Properties Limited 
(Growthpoint) is a variable rate property 
loan stock company, with a portfolio of 
438 properties valued at R29,2 billion 
as at 30 June 2009 (2008: 436 properties 
valued at R27,2 billion). The business 
of the company is to invest in quality 
rental generating properties as long-
term investments. The properties will be 
maintained, upgraded and refurbished 
where necessary, so as to at least maintain 
the value of the investment in the long term. 

Growthpoint is listed on the JSE Limited 
(the JSE) under the Financial – Real Estate 
sector.

Share Code: GRT  
ISIN: ZAE 0000 37669 (Growthpoint)

SHARE AND DEBENTURE 
CAPITAL

The authorised share capital of Growthpoint 
was increased by special resolution, passed 
at the annual general meeting (AGM) held 
on 5 November 2008, from R75 000 000 
to R100 000 000, divided into two billion 
ordinary shares of five cents each. Each 
ordinary share is linked to 10 variable 
rate debentures of 250 cents each. 
The special resolution was registered on 
18 November 2008.

The company’s ordinary shares and 
debentures trade as linked units on the 

JSE. In terms of the debenture trust deed, 
the interest payable on the debenture 
component of the linked unit is always 1 000 
times greater than the dividend payable per 
ordinary share.

During the year to 30 June 2009, the 
company issued 128 092 620 new linked 
units in a renounceable rights offer, at an 
issue price of R13.60 per linked unit, in the 
ratio of 10 rights offer units for every 100 
linked units held by linked unitholders.

In terms of a resolution passed as a special 
resolution by linked unitholders at the AGM 
held on 5 November 2008, the company 
and any of its subsidiaries were authorised, 
by way of a general approval, to acquire 
ordinary shares and debentures issued as 
linked units by the company, in terms of 
Sections 85 (2) and 85 (3) of the Companies 
Act No 61 of 1973, as amended, and in terms 
of the rules and provisions of the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE.

INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES Issued  
capital

Rm

Interest in net 
profit/(loss)

Rm

Investment – 2009 Investment – 2008

Shares 
Rm

Loan 
Rm

Shares 
Rm

Loan 
Rm

Changing Tides 5 (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Claremain Properties (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Growthpoint Building Managers (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Growthpoint Finance Company (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Growthpoint Management Services (Pty) Limited – (71) – 2 527 – 2 668

Lighthouse Mall (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Majorshelf 184 (Pty) Limited – 12 90 16 76 16

Metboard Finance Company (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Metboard Finance Company Security SPV (Pty) 
Limited

– – – – – –

Metboard Properties Limited 3 – 2 360 42 2 357 (81)

Michael and Michael Properties (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

New Heights 344 (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Ovbel Finance Limited – – – – – –

Ovbel Registrars (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Paramount Property Fund Limited 25 – 1 781 801 1 987 565

Scopeful 157 (Pty) Limited – (1) 7 3 8 3

Skilfull 82 (Pty) Limited – – – – – – 

Skilfull 115 (Pty) Limited – (1) 13 5 15 5

Tresso Trading 337 (Pty) Limited – – – – – (1)

Tuinweg Property Investments (Pty) Limited – – 17 203 32 203

TOTAL 28 (61) 4 268 3 597 4 475 3 378
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 

Capital commitments for major building projects authorised and contracted for but not yet 
paid, as at 30 June 2009, amounted to R174 million (2008: R1 551 million). In addition,  
the company has entered into agreements to purchase properties to a value of R50 million 
(2008: R233 million). Details of these future acquisitions are given in the “Directors’ Review 
of Operations”.

The implementation agreement for Growthpoint’s investment in the Orchard Industrial 
Property Fund (OIF) was signed on 18 May 2009. In terms thereof, Growthpoint’s investment 
could be for a maximium of AU$200 million, payable by 15 September 2009. Currency swap 
contracts have been secured to hedge the investment at an effective exchange rate of 
R6.46 per AU$.

DIRECTORS AND SECRETARY

Details of the directors and secretary can be found on page 100.

Messrs J C Hayward, H S Herman, H S P Mashaba, C G Steyn and F J Visser are to retire 
by rotation at the forthcoming AGM, in terms of article 13.1 of the company’s articles of 
association. These directors, being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election at the 
forthcoming AGM. 

Mr S Hackner resigned as a director on 8 July 2008. Mr J F Marais was elected as Chairman 
and Mr H S P Mashaba as Deputy Chairman, with effect from 8 July 2008. Mr E K de Klerk 
was appointed as an executive director and Mr S M Snowball was appointed as Financial 
Director on 26 August 2008. Mr B T Ngcuka retired and did not hold himself available for 
re-election as a director at the AGM held on 5 November 2008. 

INTEREST AS VESTED 
BENEFICIARY OF A TRUST

The Growthpoint Securitisation Warehouse 
Trust (the Trust) was established in 2005 
in order to hold a portfolio of properties in 
a ring-fenced, insolvency remote vehicle, 
for the purposes of raising funds through 

Commercial Mortgage Backed Securitisation 
(CMBS) issues of debt notes to the bond 
market. In terms of the Trust Deed, 
Growthpoint is the sole, vested beneficiary 
of the Trust in respect of income and 
capital gains. Accordingly, the balance 
sheet and income statement of the 
Trust are consolidated in the group 
financial statements. 

The table below shows the salient financial 
results of the Trust for the year 
ended 30 June 2009:

2009
Rm

2008
Rm

Net profit before taxation 625 758

Fair value adjustments included in net profit before taxation: 144 413

– Net fair value adjustment of investment property 310 314

– Fair value adjustment of interest-bearing borrowings (166) 99

Investment property at cost plus improvements 6 613 5 619
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2009 Beneficial Non-beneficial Total

Direct Indirect 

E K de Klerk – 168 399 – 168 399

E K de Klerk: Staff Incentive Scheme options 2007 400 000 – – 400 000

E K de Klerk: Staff Incentive Scheme options 2008 126 062 – – 126 062

M G Diliza – 15 646 079 – 15 646 079

J C Hayward 55 000 – – 55 000

H S Herman – 55 000 – 55 000

P H Fechter – – 3 000 000 3 000 000

H S P Mashaba – 8 800 000 – 8 800 000

R Moonsamy – 6 054 954 – 6 054 954

L N Sasse 310 183 – – 310 183

L N Sasse: Staff Incentive Scheme options 2007 775 000 – – 775 000

L N Sasse: Staff Incentive Scheme options 2008 274 343 – – 274 343

S M Snowball – 283 029 – 283 029

S M Snowball: Staff Incentive Scheme options 2007 180 000 – – 180 000

J H N Strydom – – 147 400 147 400

2008 Beneficial Non-beneficial Total

Direct Indirect

E K de Klerk* – 140 969 – 140 969

E K de Klerk: Staff Incentive Scheme options 2007* 533 333 – – 533 333

M G Diliza – 15 407 479 – 15 407 479

S Hackner 1 125 000 424 211 – 1 549 211

J C Hayward 50 000 – – 50 000

H S Herman – 50 000 – 50 000

P H Fechter – – 2 871 428 2 871 428

H S P Mashaba – 8 800 000 – 8 800 000

R Moonsamy – 6 054 954 – 6 054 954

L N Sasse 258 500 – – 258 500

L N Sasse: Staff Incentive Scheme options 2007 1 033 333 – – 1 033 333

S M Snowball* 37 897 159 402 – 197 299

S M Snowball: Staff Incentive Scheme options 2007* 240 000 – – 240 000

J H N Strydom – – 134 000 134 000

* Appointed 26 August 2008 – figures shown for comparative purposes

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN LINKED UNITS 

As at 30 June 2009, the directors’ interests in linked units were:
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Director Date Number of units Purchase/sale Price per unit

M G Diliza 30 Jan 09 238 600 Subscription: Rights Offer units R13.60

P H Fechter (Family Trust) 30 Jan 09 128 572 Subscription: Rights Offer units R13.60

J C Hayward 30 Jan 09 5 000 Subscription: Rights Offer units R13.60

H S Herman 30 Jan 09 5 000 Subscription: Rights Offer units R13.60

L N Sasse 30 Jan 09 51 683 Subscription: Rights Offer units R13.60

L N Sasse 19 Feb 09 258 333 Scheme options exercised Nil 

L N Sasse 18 Mar 09 23 073 Sale R13.26

L N Sasse 19 Mar 09 235 260 Sale R13.29

L N Sasse 31 Oct 08 274 343 Award of Scheme options 2008 Nil 

J H N Strydom 30 Jan 09 13 400 Subscription: Rights Offer units R13.60

S M Snowball 6 Oct 08 60 000 Scheme options exercised Nil

E K de Klerk 30 Jan 09 27 430 Subscription: Rights Offer units R13.60

E K de Klerk 19 Feb 09 133 333 Scheme options exercised Nil 

E K de Klerk 19 Mar 09 133 333 Sale R13.29

E K de Klerk 30 Oct 08 126 062 Award of Scheme options 2008 Nil 

Director Date Number of units Purchase/sale Price per unit

M G Diliza 23 Jan 09 1 404 828 Sale: Rights Offer units R1.07

P H Fechter (Family Trust) 30 Jan 09 158 571 Sale: Rights Offer units R0.48

H S P Mashaba 23 Jan 09 880 000 Sale: Rights Offer units R1.07

R Moonsamy 23 Jan 09 549 100 Sale: Rights Offer units R1.07 

R Moonsamy 7 Jan 09 56 396 Sale: Rights Offer units R1.86

 NOTES 

1  The balance of Mr Sasse’s 2007 award of options in Growthpoint’s 
Staff Incentive Scheme shall vest in three tranches of 25% each 
on 1 September 2009, 2010 and 2011, and are exercisable within 
90 days from those dates, failing which they shall be forfeited.

2  Mr Sasse’s 2008 options in Growthpoint’s Staff Incentive Scheme 
shall vest in four tranches of 25% each on 1 September 2010, 2011, 
2012 and 2013, and are exercisable within 90 days from those 
dates, failing which they shall be forfeited.

3  The balance of Mr de Klerk’s 2007 award of options in 
Growthpoint’s Staff Incentive Scheme shall vest in three tranches 
of 25% each on 1 September 2009, 2010 and 2011, and are 
exercisable within 90 days from those dates, failing which they 
shall be forfeited.

4  Mr de Klerk’s 2008 options in Growthpoint’s Staff Incentive 
Scheme shall vest in four tranches of 25% each on 1 September 
2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013, and are exercisable within 90 days 
from those dates, failing which they shall be forfeited. 

5  The balance of Mr Snowball’s 2007 options in Growthpoint’s 
Staff Incentive Scheme shall vest in three tranches of 25% each 
on 1 September 2009, 2010 and 2011, and are exercisable within 
90 days from those dates, failing which they shall be forfeited.

6  Through phase 1 of the BEE ownership in Growthpoint, effective 
31 August 2005, Messrs Moonsamy and Diliza have an indirect 
and beneficial interest in 5 246 671 and 13 998 600 linked units 
respectively. The balance of their indirect beneficial holding 
reflected in the tables above is not subject to BEE arrangements.

7  Through phase 2 of the BEE ownership in Growthpoint, effective 
8 December 2006, Mr Mashaba has an indirect and beneficial 
interest in 8 800 000 linked units.

The following directors sold their Rights in terms of the Rights Offer, which closed on 30 January 2009:

During the year ended 30 June 2009, directors carried out the following transactions:
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The following table shows a breakdown of the annual remuneration (excluding Staff Incentive 
Scheme awards) of directors for the year ended 30 June 2009:

Name

Salary /  
directors fees 

2009 Rands

Contributions 
to defined 

contribution 
plan  

2009 Rands

Gross 
remuneration 

2009 Rands
Annual bonus 

2009 Rands

Total 
remuneration 

2009 Rands

Total 
remuneration 

2008 Rands

Executive directors
L N Sasse  2 904 660  656 750  3 561 410  3 600 000  7 161 410  6 850 000 
E K de Klerk  1 910 753  271 875  2 182 628  1 400 000  3 582 628 – 
S M Snowball  1 310 047  296 000  1 606 047  800 000  2 406 047 – 
Total  6 125 460  1 224 625  7 350 085  5 800 000  13 150 085  6 850 000 
Non-executive directors
S Hackner (resigned 8 Jul 08)  41 250 –  41 250 –  41 250  157 500 
M G Diliza  320 000 –  320 000 –  320 000  212 500 
P H Fechter  650 000 –  650 000 –  650 000  692 500 
J C Hayward  300 000 –  300 000 –  300 000  200 000 
H S Herman  200 000 –  200 000 –  200 000  140 000 
S R Leon (resigned 26 Oct 07) – – – – –  25 000 
J F Marais  355 000 –  355 000 –  355 000  389 000 
H S P Mashaba  290 000 –  290 000 –  290 000  197 500 
R Moonsamy  190 000 –  190 000 –  190 000  162 500 
B Ngcuka  117 500 –  117 500 –  117 500  110 000 
C G Steyn  510 000 –  510 000 –  510 000  680 000 
J H N Strydom  502 000 –  502 000 –  502 000  713 500 
F J Visser  225 000 –  225 000 –  225 000  140 000 
Total  3 700 750 –  3 700 750 –  3 700 750  3 820 000 
Total executive and 
non-executive directors  9 826 210  1 224 625  11 050 835  5 800 000  16 850 835  10 670 000 

The following shows a breakdown of the components of the annual remuneration of L N Sasse for the 2008 financial year:

Name
Salary 

2008 Rands

Contributions 
to defined 

contribution 
plan  

2008 Rands

Gross 
remuneration 

2008 Rands
Annual bonus 

2008 Rands

Total 
remuneration 

2008 Rands

L N Sasse 2 810 503 439 497 3 250 000  3 600 000 6 850 000

The fees paid to non-executive directors for the year ended 30 June 2009 were paid on the following basis as approved by the Remuneration Committee 
and the board, on authority granted by members at the annual general meeting held on 5 November 2008:

Basic fee - R25 000

Fees per meeting attended:

Board  
– Director 25 000 
– Deputy Chariman 30 000 
– Chairman 35 000

All committees 
– Chairman 20 000 
– Member 15 000

Mr Fetcher received additional fees in respect of his involvement as Chairman of the Property Committee in Growthpoint’s  acquisition of its investment in 
Growthpoint Properties Australia (formerly Orchard Industrial Property Fund).
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ExECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ TOTAL ASSUMED REMUNERATION COST TO COMPANY

The table below provides the total cost to the company in relation to executive directors’ remuneration. Total cash payments and benefits 
reflect the information disclosed in the tables above. The IFRS accounting charge (in terms of IAS 19 Employee Benefits) reflects the cost that 
has been expensed by the company in its income statement in the relevant year in relation to long-term incentive awards that have been 
granted to executive directors. 

DETAILS OF SERVICE 
CONTRACTS 

Executive directors retire from their 
positions and from the board (as executive 
directors) at the age of 60.

L N SASSE AND E K DE KLERK 
The service contracts (commencement date: 
1 July 2007) for Messrs L N Sasse and E K de 
Klerk are for a period of four years. After four 
years, their service contracts are subject to 
two calendar months’ written notice. 

MANAGEMENT AND 
ADMINISTRATION

With effect from 1 July 2007, Growthpoint 
Management Services (Pty) Limited (GMS), 
a wholly owned subsidiary of Growthpoint, 
has been undertaking, in terms of a 
management agreement, Growthpoint’s 
property fund management business, 
property administration business and all 
related activities. As at 30 June 2009, 
GMS and its wholly owned subsidiary, 
Growthpoint Building Managers (Pty) 
Limited, had 436 people in employment to 
manage these businesses.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

AcquiSiTiON OF cONTROLLiNg 
ShARE iN AuSTRALiAN 
PROPERTy TRuST
On 30 July 2009, unitholders in Australia’s 
Orchard Industrial Property Fund (OIF) 
voted in favour of all the resolutions required 
to issue 50.1% of the units in the fund to 
Growthpoint for a cash consideration of 
AU$56 million and to enable Growthpoint to 
internalise the management of the fund.

OIF unitholders also approved a 13 for 10 
rights offer at 16 Australian cents per unit, 
closing on 15 September 2009, underwritten 
by Growthpoint. Depending on the number 
of unitholders who follow their rights, 
Growthpoint will have a maximum further 
commitment of AU$144 million and own 
between 60% and 78% of Growthpoint 
Properties Australia.

OIF was renamed Growthpoint Properties 
Australia and trades on the Australian Stock 
Exchange under the Share Code GOZ.

Name

Salary, bonus 
and other 

benefits  
2009 Rands

*Accounting 
IFRS charge 

in respect 
of Incentive 

Scheme awards 
2009 Rands

Total assumed 
remuneration  

2009 Rands

Salary, bonus 
and other 

benefits  
2008 Rands

*Accounting 
IFRS charge 

in respect 
of Incentive 

Scheme awards 
2008 Rands

Total assumed 
remuneration  

2008 Rands

Executive directors

L N Sasse  7 161 410  6 088 428  13 249 838  6 850 000  4 858 961  11 708 961 

E K de Klerk  3 582 628  3 090 742  6 673 370 – – –

S M Snowball  2 406 047  1 207 104  3 613 151 – – –

Total  13 150 085  10 386 274  23 536 359  6 850 000  4 858 961  11 708 961 

*  It should be noted that the amount estimated here will or could differ significantly from the actual expense due to the fact that no attrition is taken into 
account and that it is based on the principal actuarial assumptions set out in note 17 to the financial statements.



36 

02 
Income Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2009

Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Notes Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

1 578 1 349 Revenue, excluding straight-line lease income adjustment 3 211 2 712 

97 81 Straight-line lease income adjustment 14.2 219 208

1 675 1 430 Revenue 2 3 430 2 920

(363) (311) Property expenses 3  (759) (675)

1 312 1 119 Net property income 2 671 2 245 

(21) (24) Other operating expenses 4 (75) (62)

1 291 1 095 Net property income after other operating expenses 2 596 2 183

832 634 Investment income 5 1 1

2 123 1 729 Operating profit  2 597 2 184

(8) 9 Fair value adjustments 6 (143) (139)

(583) (379) Finance costs 7 (921) (697)

(41) (94) Non-cash charges 8 (140) (193)

(48) – Capital items 9 (35) 22

172 101 Finance income 10 162 87

1 615 1 366 Profit before debenture interest 1 520  1 264

(1 612) (1 363) Debenture interest (1 612) (1 363)

3 3 (Loss)/profit before taxation (92) (99)

(2) 4 Taxation 11 23 1

(2) – – Normal and secondary taxation on companies (5) (4)

– 4 – Capital gains taxation – 5

– – – Deferred taxation 28 –

1 7 (Loss)/profit for the year (69) (98)

cents cents

Distribution per linked unit 12 114.60 106.50

Basic loss per share 13 (4.90) (7.91)
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Balance Sheets 
as at 30 June 2009

Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Notes Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

ASSETS

26 449 25 975 Non-current assets 30 991 30 231

13 256 13 072  Fair value of investment property for accounting purposes 14.1 27 582 26 409

692 595  Straight-line lease income adjustment 14.2 1 055 836

13 948 13 667 Fair value of property assets 28 637 27 245

– – Intangible assets 15 1 733 1 832

47 59 Other long-term employee benefits 17 47 59

– – Equipment 16 2 2

– – Listed property investment 18 10 9

396 325 Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia 19 396 325

166 732 Derivative assets 166 759

11 892 11 192 Other investments 20.1 – –

1 158 223 current assets 1 374 426

574 – Investment property held for sale 14.3 596 42

192 206 Trade and other receivables 21 281 357

392 17 Cash and cash equivalents 22 497 27

27 607 26 198 Total assets 32 365 30 657

EquiTy AND LiABiLiTiES

1 611 1 606 Shareholders’ interest 1 436 1 501

70 64 Ordinary share capital 23 70 64

5 6 Retained earnings – –

1 536 1 536 Non-distributable reserve 24 1 366 1 437

18 641 18 283 Non-current liabilities – debentures 25 18 641 18 283

20 252 19 889 Linked unitholders’ interest 20 077 19 784

4 607 5 275 Other non-current liabilities 9 174 9 519

4 607 5 275 Other non-current financial liabilities 26.5 8 815 9 132

– – Deferred tax liability 28 359 387

2 748 1 034 current liabilities 3 114 1 354

250 323 Trade and other payables 27 615 638

1 673 – Current portion of other non-current financial liabilities 26.4 1 673 –

2 – Taxation payable 3 5

823 711 Linked unitholders for interest and dividends 823 711

27 607 26 198 Total equity and liabilities 32 365 30 657

Linked units in issue 1 409 018 815 1 280 926 195

cents cents

Net asset value per linked unit 29 1 425 1 545

Tangibl e net asset value per linked unit 29 1 327 1 432
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Statements of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2009

Group

Ordinary share 
capital

 
Rm

Non- 
distributable 

reserve
Rm

Retained 
earnings 

Rm

Shareholders’ 
interest

 
Rm

Balance at 30 June 2007 54 – – 54

Shares issued 10 1 536 – 1 546

Loss for the year – – (98) (98)

Transfer to non-distributable reserve – (99) 99 –

Dividends declared – – (1) (1)

Balance at 30 June 2008 64 1 437 – 1 501

Shares issued 6 – – 6

Loss for the year – – (69) (69)

Transfer to non-distributable reserve – (71) 71 –

Dividends declared – – (2) (2)

Balance at 30 June 2009 70 1 366 – 1 436

Company

Ordinary share 
capital

 
Rm

Non- 
distributable 

reserve
Rm

Retained 
earnings 

Rm

Shareholders’ 
interest

 
Rm

Balance at 30 June 2007 54 – – 54

Shares issued 10 1 536 – 1 546

Profit for the year – – 7 7

Dividends declared – – (1) (1)

Balance at 30 June 2008 64 1 536 6 1 606

Shares issued 6 – – 6

Loss for the year – – 1 1

Dividends declared – – (2) (2)

Balance at 30 June 2009 70 1 536 5 1 611
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Cash Flow Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2009

Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Notes Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

cash flows from operating activities

1 592 1 295 Cash received from tenants 3 135 2 661

(457) (266) Cash paid to suppliers (719) (604)

1 135 1 029 Cash generated from operations 30 2 416 2 057

832 634 Investment income 5 1 1

136 68 Finance income, excluding accrued interest on long-term loans 10 126 54

(568) (309) Finance costs, excluding accrued interest on financial liabilities 7 (906) (577)

– 2 Taxation (paid)/received 31 (7) 1

(48) – Capital items 9 (35) 22

(1 502) (1 174) Distribution to unitholders 32 (1 502) (1 174)

(15) 250 Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 93 384

cash flows from investing activities

(915) (1 415) Investment in investment property (1 899) (3 411)

– – Investment in investment property reclassified as held for sale (41) –

– – Investment in equipment (1) –

30 – Proceeds on sale of investment property 122 120

– – Proceeds on sale of investment property reclassified as held for sale 61 –

– – Acquisition of Property Services Businesses 44 – (5)

(9) – Other long-term employee benefits loan advanced (9) –

1 929 1 380 Decrease in amounts due by subsidiaries and joint ventures – –

(2 789) (3 253) Increase in amounts owing to subsidiaries and joint ventures – –

(1 754) (3 288) Net cash outflow from investing activities 33 (1 767) (3 296)

cash flows from financing activities

1 500 2 230 Non-current loans raised 1 500 3 710

(1 013) (796) Repayment of other non-current financial liabilities (1 013) (2 396)

6 5 Proceeds from issue of shares 6 5

1 651 1 601 Proceeds from issue of debentures 1 651 1 601

2 144 3 040 Net cash inflow from financing activities 2 144 2 920

375 2 Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 470 8

17 15 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 27 19

392 17 cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 22 497 27
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements and group financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and the requirements of the South 
African Companies Act and incorporate the 
principal accounting policies set out below.

The policies set out below have been 
consistently applied to all the years 
presented. 

Issued but not yet effective IFRS 
amendments as at 25 August 2009 are not 
expected to have a material impact on the 
group (refer to 1.18). 

The financial statements are prepared on 
the fair value basis for investment properties 
and investment properties reclassified as 
held for sale, as set out in note 1.3, and 
financial instruments as set out in 1.2. Other 
assets, liabilities and equity are stated at 
historic cost. Fair value adjustments (where 
applicable) do not affect the calculation of 
distributable earnings but do affect the net 
asset value per linked unit to the extent that 
adjustments are made to the carrying values 
of assets and liabilities.

1.1 BASiS OF cONSOLiDATiON
The consolidated financial statements 
include the financial statements 
of Growthpoint Properties Limited 
(“Growthpoint” or “the company”) and its 
subsidiary companies and controlled trusts 
(together referred to as “the group” and 
individually as “group companies”) and the 
group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income, 
expenses and cash flows of joint ventures. 

1.1.1 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities, including 
special purpose entities, controlled by the 
group. Control exists when the group has 
the power, directly or indirectly, to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. In assessing control, potential 

voting rights that presently are exercisable 
are taken into account. Controlled trusts 
are trusts of which the company is the sole, 
vested beneficiary in respect of profits 
and capital gains. The financial statements 
of subsidiaries and controlled trusts are 
included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control 
commences until the date that 
control ceases.

In the financial statements of the company, 
investments in subsidiaries and controlled 
trusts are carried at fair value. A list of the 
group’s subsidiaries is set out in note 20.

1.1.2 Joint ventures
Joint ventures are those entities over which 
the group exercises joint control in terms 
of a contractual agreement and whose 
activities require unanimous consent for 
strategic, financial and operating decisions. 
Joint ventures are accounted for by including 
the group’s share of the jointly controlled 
assets, liabilities, income, expenses and cash 
flows on a line by line basis in the financial 
statements from the date that joint control 
commences until the date that joint 
control ceases. 

Adjustments are made to bring the 
accounting policies of jointly controlled 
entities in line with the group, where 
appropriate.

1.1.3 Transactions eliminated on 
consolidation
Intra-group balances, transactions and any 
unrealised gains and losses arising from 
intra-group transactions are eliminated 
in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements. Unrealised gains arising 
from transactions with joint ventures are 
eliminated to the extent of the group’s 
interest in the entity. Unrealised losses are 
eliminated in the same way as unrealised 
gains, but only to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment. 

1.2 FiNANciAL iNSTRumENTS
Financial instruments are contracts that 
give rise to a financial asset of one entity, 
and a financial liability or equity instrument 
of another entity. All transaction costs 
relating to financial instruments at fair value  
through profit or loss are immediately 
expensed. Any gains or losses on these 
instruments arising from fair value 
adjustments, where appropriate, do not 
affect distributable earnings.

The company recognises financial 
instruments on the date it commits to 
purchase or sell such instruments. From this 
date, any gains and losses in the fair value of 
the financial assets and financial liabilities 
are recorded.

1.2.1 Long-term loans to BEE consortia

Long-term loans are initially recognised and 
subsequently measured at fair value. The 
gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

1.2.2 Listed property investments
Listed property investments are designated 
as held at fair value through profit and loss 
financial assets. These assets are initially 
recognised and subsequently measured 
at fair value, with gains or losses being 
recognised in the income statement. 
The fair value of these assets is their quoted 
bid price at the close of business on the 
balance sheet date. 

1.2.3 Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are initially 
recognised and subsequently measured at 
fair value. An estimate is made for doubtful 
debts based on a review of all outstanding 
amounts at the year-end. Bad debts are 
written off to profit or loss during the year 
in which they are identified.
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1.2.4 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
balances and call deposits. Cash equivalents 
are short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of change in fair value. 
Cash and cash equivalents are measured 
at fair value.

1.2.5 Debentures
Debentures are designated as held at 
fair value through profit or loss financial 
liabilities. These instruments are measured 
initially at fair value, which is the 
nominal value less debenture discount,  
and subsequently measured at fair value. 
Fair value represents the net asset value 
attributable to debenture holders after 
adjusting all other assets and liabilities to 
fair value (excluding intangible assets). 
Until such time as the debenture discount 
is fully utilised, the net change in fair value 
of the tangible assets and liabilities will 
increase or decrease the carrying amount 
of the debentures. Once the debenture 
discount has been fully utilised, any increase 
in net asset value will increase the reserves 
attributable to shareholders. 

1.2.6 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially 
recognised and subsequently measured 
at fair value.

1.2.7 Derivative financial instruments
The group uses derivative financial 
instruments to hedge its exposure to 
interest rate risk arising from its financing 
activities and to hedge its exposure to 
foreign currency risk. In accordance with its 
treasury policy, the group does not hold or 
issue derivative financial instruments for 
trading purposes. However, as the hedge 
relationship is not designated as a hedge 
for accounting purposes, the derivatives are 
accounted for as trading instruments.

Derivative financial instruments are 
initially recognised and subsequently 
measured at fair value. The gain or loss on 
remeasurement to fair value is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 

The group holds interest rate swap and 
foreign exchange derivative instruments. 
The fair value of interest rate swaps is the 
estimated amount that the group would 
receive or pay to terminate the swap at 
balance sheet date, taking into account 
current interest rates and the current 
creditworthiness of the swap counterparties. 
The fair value of foreign exchange derivatives 
is the difference between the contract/
strike price entered into and the applicable 
exchange rate at the balance sheet date.

1.2.8 Other financial liabilities 
Non-derivative financial liabilities other 
than debentures are measured initially and 
subsequently at fair value by discounting the 
future cash payments using the market rate 
applicable at balance sheet date.

1.2.9 Offset
Financial assets and financial liabilities 
are offset and the net amount reported in 
the balance sheet when the company has 
a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts, and intends either to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.3 iNvESTmENT PROPERTy
Investment property consists of land and 
buildings, installed equipment and vacant 
land held to earn rental income for the  
long-term and subsequent capital 
appreciation. Properties are measured 
initially at cost on acquisition and subsequent 
additions that will result in future economic 
benefits and whose cost can be measured 
reliably, are capitalised. Investment property 
under construction is valued at fair value. 
Direct costs relating to major capital 
projects are capitalised until the properties 
are brought into commercial operation. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment 
properties are measured at their fair value.

Investment property is maintained, upgraded 
and refurbished where necessary, in order to 
preserve or improve the capital value as far 
as it is possible to do so. Maintenance and 
repairs which neither materially add to the 
value of the properties nor prolong their 
useful lives are charged against income.

Independent valuations are obtained on 
a rotational basis, ensuring that every 
property is valued every three years. The 
directors value the remaining properties 
annually on an open market basis.

The calculations are prepared by considering 
the aggregate of the net annual rents 
receivable from the properties and where 
relevant, associated costs, using the 
discounted cash flow method. This method 
takes projected cash flows and discounts 
them at a rate which is consistent with 
comparable market transactions. The 
discount rates reflect the risks inherent 
in the net cash flows and are constantly 
monitored by reference to comparable 
market transactions.

Surpluses and deficits on revaluation or 
disposals of investment properties are 
recognised in net profit or loss. Such 
surpluses or deficits are excluded from the 
calculation of distributable earnings.

1.4 iNTANgiBLE ASSETS

1.4.1 Goodwill
Goodwill (including negative goodwill, 
if applicable) arises on the acquisition of 
group undertakings and represents the 
excess of the cost of the acquisition over the 
group’s interest in the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the acquiree. When the excess is 
negative (negative goodwill), it is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, goodwill 
is measured at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.
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1.4.2 Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that are acquired 
by the group, which have finite useful 
lives, are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

1.4.3 Amortisation
Amortisation is recognised in profit or 
loss on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of intangible assets, 
other than goodwill, from the date that 
they are available for use. Subsequently 
the amortisation is transferred to a non-
distributable reserve in the statement of 
changes in equity. The residual value of the 
intangible asset is assesed as Rnil and the 
estimated useful life for the current and 
comparative periods is as follows:

>  Rights to manage investment property 
– 15 years

1.5 EquiPmENT
Items of equipment are measured at 
cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. 
Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line 
basis, over the current estimated useful lives 
of the assets. The estimated useful lives of 
the assets for the current and comparative 
periods are:

>  Furniture, fittings and office equipment 
– 5 years

>  Computer equipment 
– 2-3 years

>  Motor vehicles 
– 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and 
residual values are reassessed annually. 
Subsequent expenditure relating to an 
item of equipment is capitalised when it 
is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to the group and its cost can be 
measured reliably. All other subsequent 
expenditure is recognised as an expense in 
the period in which it is incurred.

1.6 imPAiRmENT
The carrying amount of the group’s non-
financial assets, other than investment 
property and deferred tax assets, are 
reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
then the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. For goodwill, the recoverable 
amount is estimated at each reporting date. 
Impairment losses in respect of goodwill 
are not reversed.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the greater of its value 
in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present 
values using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, assets are grouped together into 
the smaller group of assets that generate 
cash inflows from continuing use that are 
largely independent of the cash inflow of the 
other assets or groups of assets (the “cash 
generating unit”). The goodwill acquired in 
a business combination, for the purpose of 
impairment testing, is allocated to cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised if the 
carrying amount of an asset or its cash 
generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses 
are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment 
losses recognised in respect of the cash 
generating units are allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the units and then to reduce the 
carrying amount of the other assets in the 
unit (group of units) on a pro-rata basis.

Impairment losses recognised in prior 
periods are assessed at each reporting date 
for any indications that the loss 
has decreased or no longer exists.  
An impairment loss is reversed if there 
has been a change in estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount.  

An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised.

1.7 LEASES
The group is party to numerous 
leasing contracts as the lessor of property.  
All leases are operating leases, which are 
those leases where the group retains a 
significant portion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership. 

An adjustment is made to contractual rental 
income earned to bring to account in the 
current period the difference between the 
rental income that the group is currently 
entitled to and the rental for the period 
calculated on a smoothed, straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease term.

The group is party to leasing contracts as 
the lessee of some property and equipment. 
Leases are classified as operating leases, 
where substantially all the risks and rewards 
associated with ownership of the asset are 
not transferred from the lessor to the lessee. 
Operating lease rentals with fixed escalation 
clauses are recognised in the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. The resulting difference arising 
from the straight-line basis and contractual 
cash flows is recognised as an operating 
lease asset or operating lease liability.

1.8 REvENuE REcOgNiTiON

1.8.1 Rental income
Revenue from the letting of investment 
property comprises gross rental income and 
recoveries of fixed operating costs. Rental 
income is recognised in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
Recoveries of costs from lessees, where the 
company merely acts as an agent and makes 
payment of these costs on behalf of lessees, 
are offset against the relevant costs. 
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1.8.2 Investment income
Interest from the group’s listed property 
investments is recognised using the effective 
interest method. Dividends from the group’s 
listed property investments are recognised 
on the date the group’s right to receive 
payment is established. Interest earned on 
cash invested with financial institutions is 
recognised on an accrual basis using the 
effective interest method. 

1.9 PROPERTy LETTiNg 
cOmmiSSiONS
When considered material, letting 
commissions are written off over the period 
of the lease. Letting commissions, in respect 
of new developments, are capitalised to the 
cost of the property.

1.10 OPERATiNg PROFiT
Operating profit disclosed in the income 
statement represents the net property 
income earned from investment property 
and includes investment income on listed 
property investments.

1.11 PROviSiONS
Provisions are recognised when the group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of a past event and it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefit will be required to settle 
the obligation and, in addition, a reliable 
estimate of the amount can be made. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the liability.

1.12 TAxATiON
Income tax for the year comprises current 
and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in 
the income statement except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised directly 
in equity, in which case it is recognised 
in equity. Current tax is the expected tax 
payable on the taxable income for the year, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively 

enacted at balance sheet date, and any 
adjustments to tax payable in respect of 
previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance 
sheet method, providing for temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used 
for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 
recognised for the following temporary 
differences: the initial recognition of assets 
or liabilities in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and that affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit, 
goodwill that arises on initial recognition 
in a business combination, and differences 
relating to investments in subsidiaries and 
jointly controlled entities to the extent that 
it is probable that they will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. The deferred tax 
relating to the amortisation of the intangible 
asset is initially recognised in profit or loss 
and is subsequently transferred to a non-
distributable reserve in the statement of 
changes in equity. The amount of deferred 
tax recognised is based on the expected 
manner of realisation or settlement of the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities, 
using tax rates expected to be applied to 
temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if 
there is a legally enforeceable right to offset 
current tax liabilities and assets, and they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same 
tax authority on the same taxable entity, or 
on different tax entities, but they intend to 
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a 
net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will 
be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to 
the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax 
assets are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realised.

Secondary tax on companies is recognised 
at the same time as the liability to pay the 
related dividend.

1.13 BORROwiNg cOSTS
In the event that borrowing costs are 
incurred prior to the qualifying asset being 
ready for its intended use, such costs will 
be capitalised until such time as the asset 
is substantially ready for its intended use. 
Qualifying assets are those that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to prepare 
for their intended use. Capitalisation is 
suspended during extended periods in which 
active development is interrupted. All other 
borrowing costs are expensed in the period 
in which they are incurred using the effective 
interest method.

1.14 EmPLOyEE BENEFiTS

1.14.1 Short-term benefits
The cost of all short-term employee benefits 
is recognised during the period in which 
the employee renders the related service. 
Short-term employee benefits are measured 
on an undiscounted basis. The accrual for 
employee entitlements to salaries, bonuses, 
staff incentive schemes and annual leave 
represent the amount which the group has 
a present legal or constructive obligation 
to pay as a result of employees’ services 
provided up to the balance sheet date. 

1.14.2 Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-
employment benefit plan under which 
an entity pays fixed contributions to a 
separate entity and will have no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further 
amounts. Obligations for contributions to 
the defined contribution provident plan are 
recognised as an employee benefit expense 
in profit or loss when they are due. Prepaid 
contributions are recognised as an asset to 
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction 
in future payments is available.
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1.14.3 Other long-term employee benefits
The group’s net obligation in respect of 
long-term employee benefits other than 
the provident plan, is the amount of future 
benefits that employees have earned in 
return for their service in the current and 
prior periods. That benefit is discounted to 
determine its present value, and the fair 
value of any related assets is deducted. 
The discount rate is the yield at the reporting 
date on AA credit-rated bonds that have 
maturity dates approximating the terms of 
the group’s obligations. The calculation is 
performed using the projected unit credit 
method. Any actuarial gains or losses are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise.

1.15 SEgmENT REPORTiNg
The risks and rewards faced by the group 
relate primarily to the business segments 
and therefore these form the primary 
segments. The major business segments 
are retail, office and industrial. Properties 
are classified as retail, office and industrial 
according to the nature of their tenants 
and income and expenses for all of the 
properties comprising the various segments 
are consolidated accordingly.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include 
items directly attributable to a segment 
as well as those that can be allocated on 
a reasonable basis. Unallocated items 
comprise mainly investments (other than 
investment properties), loans, intangible 
assets, other long-term employee benefits, 
equipment, debentures, deferred tax, income 
tax assets or liabilities, borrowings and the 
related expenses to these items. 

The geographical split is a secondary 
segment. The major geographical segments 
are Gauteng, Western Cape, KwaZulu Natal, 
Eastern Cape, North West and Other. 
The geographic breakdown of the value 
and gross lettable area of the property  
portfolio is disclosed in the “Directors’ 
Review of Operations”.

1.16 FiNANciAL guARANTEE 
cONTRAcTS
A financial guarantee contract is a contract 
that requires the issuer to make specified 
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss 
it incurs because a specified debtor fails to 
make payment when due in accordance 
with the original or modified terms of a 
debt instrument.

These financial guarantee contracts are 
classified as insurance contracts as defined 
in IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. A liability 
is recognised when it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the 
contract and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. 
The amount recognised is the best 
estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the contract at the balance sheet date. 
Where the effect of discounting is material, 
the liability is discounted. The discount rate 
used is a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of 
money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability.

The group performs liability adequacy tests 
on financial guarantee contract liabilities 
to ensure that the carrying amount of the 
liabilities is sufficient in view of estimated 
future cash flows. When performing the 
liability adequacy test, the group discounts 
all expected contractual cash flows and 
compares this amount to the carrying 
value of the liability. Where a shortfall is 
identified, an additional provision is made.

1.17 KEy JuDgmENTS AND 
SOuRcES OF ESTimATiON 
uNcERTAiNTy
The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application 
of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimates are revised 
and in any future periods affected.

Information regarding judgments that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements 
as well as the key sources of estimation 
uncertainty is set out in notes 1.2, 1.3, 1.12, 
28 and 43. 

Other matters that required key judgment 
in the preparation of these financial 
statements were:

Accounting treatment of BEE transaction 
The company has provided funding to two 
Special Purpose Entities (SPEs) that were 
created for purposes of the black economic 
empowerment (BEE) transactions by way 
of subordinated fixed-rate loans of R203.75 
million and R57.35 million respectively. 
The capital and interest on these loans are 
repayable in 2015 and 2016 respectively. 
Senior and junior funding by other financiers 
to the transaction totals R730.0 million and 
R168.5 million respectively. 

The directors have considered whether 
or not the company and group bear the 
majority of the residual risk of the funding 
structure. They have concluded, based on 
assumptions and market conditions as at 
30 June 2009, that this is not the case.  
This conclusion was reached after taking into 
account the following key assumptions:

>  Growth in distributions in line with the 
company’s budget

>  A return of 5% per annum on the assets 
held by the SPEs

>  Market price of Growthpoint linked units 
of at least R6.89

Consequently, the SPEs have not been 
consolidated in the group financial 
statements. 
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1.18 STANDARDS AND 
iNTERPRETATiONS APPLicABLE TO 
ThE gROuP NOT yET EFFEcTivE
There are new or revised Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations in issue that 
are not yet effective. These include the 
following Standards and Interpretations 
that are applicable to the business of the 
entity and may have an impact on future 
financial statements.

IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements
IAS 1 will be adopted by Growthpoint for the 
first time for its financial reporting period 
ending 30 June 2010.

The group and company will present all 
non-owner changes in equity in a single 
statement of comprehensive income  
(which will include the current income 
statement) and owner changes in equity in 
the statement of changes in equity. 

Reclassification adjustments and income 
tax relating to each component of other 
comprehensive income will be disclosed 
on the face of the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

IAS 17 Leases (amendment) 
IAS 17 will be effective for Growthpoint’s 
financial reporting period ending  
30 June 2011.

The standard is amended by the deletion 
of the guidance stating that a lease of 
land with an indefinite economic life is 
normally classified as an operating lease, 
unless at the end of the lease term title is 
expected to pass to the lessee. In terms of 
the amendment, a land lease with a lease 
term of several decades may be classified 
as a finance lease, even if at the end of the 
lease term title will not pass to the lessee. 
This is because substantially all risks and 
rewards are transferred to the lessee and 
the present value of the residual value of the 
leased asset is considered neglible. This is in 
line with the group and company’s current 
accounting policy.

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs
IAS 23 will be effective for Growthpoint’s 
financial reporting period ending  
30 June 2010. 

The standard has been revised to require 
capitalisation of borrowing costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying 
assets that commence on or after 
1 July 2009. This is in line with the group and 
company’s current accounting policy.

IAS 23 will also be improved to align it with 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and 
Measurement, by referring to the use of an 
effective interest rate, as described in IAS 39, 
as a component of borrowing costs.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
The revised IFRS 3 will be adopted by 
Growthpoint for the first time for its 
financial reporting period ending 
30 June 2010. 

IFRS 3 applies prospectively to all new 
business combinations that occur after 
1 July 2009. For these future business 
combinations, the group will change its 
accounting policies to be in line with the 
revised IFRS 3. In future, all transaction costs 
will be expensed and contingent purchase 
considerations will be recognised at fair 
value at acquisition date. For successive 
share purchases, any gain or loss for the 
difference between the fair value and the 
carrying amount of the previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree will be 
recognised in profit or loss.

Business acquisitions approved after balance 
sheet date, before approval of the financial 
statements, are disclosed in line with the 
revised IFRS 3.

IFRS 7 Improving disclosures about 
financial instruments (amendment)
The amendments to IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments – Disclosures, will be adopted by 
Growthpoint for the first time for its financial 
reporting period ending 30 June 2010.

In terms of the amendments, additional 
disclosure will be provided on the fair value 
measurement disclosures for financial 
instruments and the liquidity risk disclosures 
for financial liabilities.

IFRS 8 Operating segments 
IFRS 8 will be adopted by Growthpoint 
for the first time for its financial reporting 
period ending 30 June 2010.

In terms of this IFRS, segment reporting 
will be based on the information that 
management uses internally for evaluating 
segment performance and when deciding 
how to allocate resources to operating 
segments. Such information may be 
different from what is used to prepare the 
income statement and balance sheet. 

The operating segments of Growthpoint are 
the same as the current business segments 
based on IAS 14 Segment Reporting, with 
the exception of Growthpoint Management 
Services (Pty) Limited (GMS), which 
is evaluated separately. In the current 
disclosure, GMS is allocated, using a 
proportionate method, to the various 
business segments. 

The accounting policies of these operating 
segments are the same as those described in 
the above accounting policies.

1.19 imPROvEmENTS TO 
STANDARDS AND 
iNTERPRETATiONS NOT yET 
EFFEcTivE
Improvements have been made to 
Standards and Interpretations in issue not 
yet effective per the Improvements to IFRS 
2008 Standards and Improvements to IFRS 
2009 Standards with an effective date 
for Growthpoint of 1 July 2009 or 1 July 
2010. Management have considered all the 
improvements and have concluded that they 
will have either no or minimal impact with 
the exception of the following:
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Subject of amendment Amendment Potential effect

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets – Disclosure of 
estimates used to determine recoverable amount

IAS 36 disclosure requirements for when the 
unit’s (or group of units’) recoverable amount is 
based on fair value less costs to sell are aligned 
with those required for when the recoverable 
amount is based on value in use.

Additional disclosure required.

Subject of amendment Amendment Potential effect

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations – Disclosures of non-
current assets (or disposal groups) classified as 
held for sale or discontinued operations

IFRS 5 is amended to state that the required 
disclosures for non-current assets (or disposal 
groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued 
operations are specified in that standard. 
The disclosure requirements of other IFRSs are 
applicable to those assets (or disposal groups) 
only if they specifically require disclosures 
in respect of non-current assets (or disposal 
groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued 
operations, or they relate to items not within the 
measurement scope of IFRS 5.

Additional disclosure required.

IAS 36 Impairments of Assets – Unit of accounting 
for goodwill impairment test

IAS 36 is amended to state that the largest unit 
to which goodwill should be allocated is the 
operating segment level as defined in IFRS 8 
before applying the aggregation criteria of IFRS 8.

Potential change in method applied to perform 
impairment testing.

IAS 38 Intangible Assets – Additional 
consequential amendments arising from revised 
IFRS 3

Guidance in IAS 38 on accounting for intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is 
amended as a consequence of guidance contained 
in IFRS 3 (2008). The amendments indicate that 
an intangible asset that is separable only together 
with a related contract, identifiable asset or 
liability is recognised separately from goodwill 
together with the related item. In addition, 
the amendments state that complementary 
intangible assets with similar useful lives may be 
recognised as a single asset.

The recognition of intangible assets and goodwill 
in a business combination will be accounted for in 
terms of IFRS 3.

IAS 38 Intangible Assets – Measuring the fair 
value of an intangible asset acquired in a business 
combination

The amendments clarify the description of 
valuation techniques commonly used by entities 
when measuring the fair value of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination for which no 
active market exists.

Additional valuation techniques available, 
assisting in an improved fair value calculation 
in a business combination.

improvements to iFRS 2008

improvements to iFRS 2009
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

2 Revenue
74 56 Assessment rates recovered 170 138

27 17 Casual parking 47 32

130 119 Contracted operating cost recoveries 244 216

1 312 1 131 Contracted rental 2 661  2 257 

16 9 Other income 36 23

– – Property management income 22 17

19 17 Turnover rental 31 29

1 578 1 349 Revenue, excluding straight-line lease income adjustment 3 211  2 712 

97 81 Straight-line lease income adjustment 219 208

1 675 1 430 3 430  2 920

3 Property expenses
91 77 Assessment rates 200 182

8 4 Bad debts written off 17 6

25 21 Cleaning 45 38

17 16 Consulting fees 31 28

(3) (4) Electricity – net (6) (7)

144 106 – cost 283 194

(147) (110) – recovery (289) (201)

18 17 Insurance 42 39

13 18 Letting commissions 17 20

34 24 Other property expenses 65 52

– – Personnel expenses 84 83

– – – contributions to defined contribution plan 9 6

– – – other 75 77

– – Property management expenses 48 34

3 3 Promotions and marketing costs – net 7 8

12 12 – cost 20 21

(9) (9) – recovery (13) (13)

49 35 Property management fee 2 2

33 35 Repairs and maintenance 66 70

46 40 Security 90 77

21 19 Tenant installation costs 34 30

8 6 Water and other municipal charges – net 17 13

37 29 – cost 81 69

(29) (23) – recovery (64) (56)

363 311 759 675

4 Other operating expenses
10 13 Administration costs 10 13

– – Asset management costs 41 31

3 3 Auditor’s remuneration – audit fee 3 3

3 2 Directors’ fees 17 9

1 1 Legal fees 1 1

4 5 Other fund expenses 3 5

21 24 75 62

5 investment income
– – Distributions from listed investments – interest 1 1

417 283
Distributions from Growthpoint Securitisation Warehouse Trust 
as vested beneficiary –  –

415 351 Distributions from subsidiaries –  –

832 634 1 1
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

6 Fair value adjustments
(30) 774 Gross investment property fair value adjustment 189  1 823 

(97) (81) Less: straight-line income adjustment (219) (208)

(127) 693 Net investment property revaluation (30)  1 615 

(145) 1 337 Investment in subsidiaries and interest in controlled trust –  –

– – Listed investment portfolio 1 (1)

(218) 178 Interest-bearing borrowings – (loss)/profit (567) 442

62 774 Derivatives – profit 62 779

(886) (32) Derivatives – loss (915) (33)

(14) – Foreign exchange – loss (14) –

35 (48) Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia – profit/(loss) 35 (48)

(8) 9 Zero coupon loans – profit/(loss) (8) 9

1 293 (2 902) Debentures (note 6.1) 1 293 (2 902)

(8) 9 (143) (139)

6.1 Debenture fair value adjustment

Debentures are adjusted to fair value which represents the net asset value 
attributable to debenture holders excluding intangible assets. 

The adjustment consists of: 

1 301 (2 911)
Fair value adjustments for other assets and liabilities, excluding fair value 
adjustment on debentures (note 6) 1 436  (2 763)

(97) (81) Straight-line lease income adjustment (219) (208)

– (4) Capital gains taxation – (5)

20 19 Notional interest on zero coupon loan 20 19

48 – Capital items 35 (20)

21 75
Increase in Staff Incentive Scheme liability, 
return on plan assets and actuarial gains or losses 21 75

1 293 (2 902) 1 293  (2 902)

7 Finance costs
– – Occupational interest – 1

583 379 Interest paid on long-term loans 921 696

583 379 921 697

12 12 Borrowing costs capitalised to investment property developments 
(at prime less 2.0%)

68 84

8 Non-cash charges
20 19 Notional interest on zero coupon loans 20 19

– – Amortisation of intangible asset 99 99

(12) 40 Return on plan assets and actuarial (gains)/losses (12) 40

33 35 Increase in Staff Incentive Scheme liability 33 35

41 94 140 193

9 capital items
– – Realised profit on sale of residential units (13) (8)

44 – Rights issue costs 44 –

4 – Business acquisition costs 4 –

– – Insurance refund – (14)

48 – 35 (22)
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
  2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

10 Finance income
28 4 Interest received from bank 40 11

85 41 Interest received from antecedent divestiture of distribution ** 85 41

36 33 Interest received from long-term loans (BEE loans) 36 33

1 1 Interest received from other 1 2

22 22 Interest received from subsidiary and controlled trust – –

172 101 162 87

**Where Growthpoint issues linked units at a market price that includes 
accrued interest, the accrued interest portion of the price is included in 
finance income as antecedent divestiture of distribution.

11 Taxation
South African taxation

2 – Normal – current year 5 4

– (4) Capital gains taxation – prior year overprovision – (5)

– – Deferred taxation – on amortisation of intangible asset (28) –

2 (4) (23) (1)

The taxation rate is reconciled as follows:

28.00% 28.00% Statutory taxation rate 28.00% 28.00%

– (250.20%) Exempt income – 27.00%

351.07% 7.70% Disallowable expenses (0.20%) (28.50%)

102.85% – Capital allowances claimed 44.72% –

(0.84%) (101.00%) Current and prior year taxation overprovision 0.01% 4.90%

(278.15%) 210.70% Deferred taxation asset not raised (15.85%) (30.30%)

(140.93%) 3.80% Effect of capital gains taxation payable at a lower rate (31.63%) (0.40%)

6.60% 3.30% Secondary tax on companies (0.17%) (0.10%)

68.60% (97.70%) Effective taxation rate 24.88% 0.60%

12 Distribution per linked unit
calculation of distributable earnings

Net property income after other operating expenses 2 596 2 183

Less: straight-line lease income adjustment (219) (208)

Investment income 1 1

Finance costs (921) (697)

Finance income 162 87

Taxation (2008: excluding taxation on residential units sold) (5) (2)

Distributable earnings 1 614 1 364

Distribution comprises:

– Debenture interest 1 612 1 363

– Ordinary dividend 2 1

Total distribution 1 614 1 364

Retained distributable earnings – –
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Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 cents

Distribution per linked unit 114.60 106.50

Interest on debentures 114.19 106.39

Dividend 0.11 0.11

Distribution for the year 114.60 106.50

Interim six months ended 31 December 56.30 51.10

Final six months ended 30 June 58.30 55.40

13 Earnings per share
The directors are of the view that the disclosure of earnings per share set 
out below, while obligatory in terms of IAS 33 Earnings per Share and the JSE 
listing requirements, is not meaningful to investors as the shares are traded 
as part of a linked unit and practically all the revenue earnings are distributed 
in the form of debenture interest plus dividends in the ratio of 1 000 to 1. 
In addition, headline earnings include fair value adjustments for listed 
property investments and for financial liabilities as well as notional interest 
on non-interest bearing long-term loans and accounting adjustments required 
to account for lease income on a straight-line basis. These adjustments do not 
affect distributable earnings. The calculation of distributable earnings and the 
distribution per linked unit as shown in note 12 are more meaningful.

Number of 
shares

Number of 
shares

Shares in issue at end of year 1 409 018 815 1 280 926 195

Weighted average number of shares in issue 1 409 018 815 1 238 460 442

cents cents

Basic loss per share (4.90) (7.91)

Headline earnings per linked unit 45.26 159.31

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

Basic earnings are reconciled to headline earnings as follows:

Loss after taxation (69) (98)

Add: net fair value adjustment – investment property 26 (1 381)

– Fair value adjustment 30 (1 615)

– Applicable taxation (4) 234

Headline loss attributable to shareholders (43) (1 479)

Less: fair value adjustment – debentures (931) 2 089

– Fair value adjustment (1 293) 2 902

– Applicable taxation 362 (813)

 Add: debenture interest paid 1 612 1 363

headline earnings attributable to linked unitholders 638 1 973
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

14 Property assets
(refer to property portfolio schedule on page 84)

14.1 Fair value of investment property for accounting purposes

13 667 11 478 Opening fair value of property assets 27 245 22 173

168 1 113 Additions at cost – acquisitions 395 2 266

747 302  – capital expenditure 1 504 1 145 

(30) – Disposals at fair value (122) (120)

(574) – Transferred to investment property held for sale (note 14.3) (574) (42)

(30) 774 Gross fair value adjustment on investment property 189 1 823

13 948 13 667 Property valuation 28 637 27 245

(692) (595) less: straight-line lease income adjustment (note 14.2) (1 055) (836)

13 256 13 072 Fair value of investment property for accounting purposes 27 582 26 409

692 595 Straight-line lease income adjustment 1 055 836

13 948 13 667 closing fair value of property assets 28 637 27 245

8 920 8 291 – cost 21 519 20 018

5 028 5 376 – cumulative fair value surplus 7 118 7 227

Mortgage bonds have been registered over investment property, including 
investment property reclassified as held for sale, with a fair value of R24 306 
million (2008: R22 062 million) as security for long-term interest-bearing 
liabilities at a nominal value amounting to R9 898 million 
(2008: R9 411 million).

The properties were valued at 30 June 2009 using the discounted cash flow of 
future income streams method by the following valuers who are all registered 
valuers in terms of Section 19 of the Property Valuers Professional Act 
(Act No 47 of 2000):

Mills Fitchett PWV PG Mitchell 
 N Dip (Prop Val), MIV (SA), CIEA

Mills Fitchett KZN T Bate 
 MSc BSc Land Econ (UK) MRICS, MIV (SA)

Mills Fitchett Magnus Penny Mike Gibbons 
 N Dip (Prop Val), MIV (SA), Professional valuer

Glenross A G Rostovsky 
 MIV (SA), Professional valuer, Appraiser

Old Mutual Properties T King 
 BSc DipSurv, MRICS Valuer (SA)

SC Property Valuation  S Crous 
Services CC Dip Real Estate (Prop Val), MIV (SA)

CB Richard Ellis R Hunting 
 MRICS, MIV (SA)

Rode and associates K Scott 
 B Com (Hons), Registered valuer 
 (SA Council of Property Valuers)

Benchmark S Levinson 
 B Com (Real Estate Valuation),  
 Professional valuer

Chris van Rooyen C van Rooyen 
Property Valuers N Dip (Prop Val), MIV (SA), Professional valuer
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

14.2 Straight-line lease income adjustment

595 514 Opening balance 836 628

97 81 Arising during the year 219 208

692 595 1 055 836

14.3 Investment property reclassified as held for sale

– – Opening fair value of property assets 42 –

574 – Transferred from investment property (note 14.1) 574 42

–  – Additions at cost – capital expenditure 41 –

– – Proceeds on disposals (61) –

574 – closing fair value of property assets 596 42

259 – – cost 281 19

315 – – cumulative fair value surplus 315 23

The investment property reclassified as held for sale are properties that the directors 
have decided will be recovered through sale rather than through use. The opening balance 
relates to 61 residential units, of which 44 were sold in the current year and a profit of 
R13 million was realised, which is included in capital items in the income statement. The 
units are situated in the Montclare Place building in Claremont, Cape Town. It is expected 
that the balance of the units will be disposed of in the forthcoming year. Sale agreements 
have been entered into for a further six properties in the office sector, with a fair value 
of R574 million at year-end. These properties are reflected at their current fair value and 
not at the selling prices, as the directors are of the view that the finalisation of these sale 
transactions is uncertain due to a number of suspensive conditions that must still be met. 

15 intangible assets

Amortisation

The amortisation is recognised as a non-cash charge in the income statement and is 
excluded from the unitholders’ distribution calculation. 

impairment testing for cash-generating unit containing goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the group’s 
management services entity, which represents the property administration 
and management business within the group where goodwill is monitored for 
internal management purposes. 

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was based on its value 
in use. It was determined that the recoverable amount was higher than the 
carrying amount and therefore no impairment loss was recognised. The 
recoverable amount was calculated by discounting the future cash flows 
generated from the continuing use of the unit and was based on the following 
key assumptions from discussions with management of Growthpoint 
Management Services (Pty) Limited (GMS) and past experience:
 a)  The management contract will continue on similar terms to the agreement 

that was in place before the acquisition transaction, which had the 
following terms:  
– asset management fee was calculated at 0.50% of the  
“enterprise value”; and  
– enterprise value was measured by taking the sum of the nominal value 
of external debt plus market capitalisation.

Goodwill

Right to 
manage 

property Total

cost 448 1 483 1 931

Opening balance 448 1 483 1 931

Amortisation and impairment losses – (198) (198)

Opening balance – (99) (99)

Amortisation for the year – (99) (99)

carrying value at 30 June 2009 448 1 285 1 733

Carrying value at 30 June 2008 448 1 384 1 832



54 

15 intangible assets (continued)
b)  Letting commission on new deals was calculated at 100% of recommended 

SAPOA tariffs, while letting commission on renewals was calculated at 
50% of recommended SAPOA tariffs. 

c)  Collection fees range from 1% to 4% of cash collected on a property-by-
property basis. 

d)  Salaries are in respect of staff of 243 people, who were previously 
employed by IPG.

e)  Operating expenditure was based on discussions with the previous 
property managers and after consideration of historic costs, which included 
rental of premises, IT systems and support, marketing and other expenses 
necessary for operating a listed company. 

f)  All profits will be distributed to linked unitholders and thus no tax will 
be payable. 

g)  A discount rate of 10% was applied in determing the recoverable amount 
of the unit. The discount rate was estimated based on the group’s weighted 
average debt. 

h)  Revenue and operating expenses will increase by 6% (2008: 7%) 
per annum. 

The discounted cash flow was performed over a 14-year period (2008: 15-year 
period), which took into account the remaining period of the contract that 
existed and that the contract would be renewed for another 10-year period.

16 Equipment

17 Other long-term employee benefits

Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

Plan assets

94 – Opening balance 94 –

9 134 Linked units issued 9 134

12 (40) Return on plan assets and actuarial gains/(losses) 12 (40)

(22) – Units vested (22) –

93 94 93 94

Staff incentive Scheme liability

 (35)  – Opening balance  (35) –

 (26)  (35) Current service costs  (26)  (35)

 (7)  – Interest on Staff Incentive Scheme liability and actuarial loss  (7)  – 

 22  – Units vested  22 –

 (46)  (35)  (46)  (35)

47 59 carrying value 47 59

Furniture & 
fittings

Equipment Total

cost 3 2 5

Opening balance 3 1 4

Acquisitions – 1 1

Depreciation and impairment losses (2) (1) (3)

Opening balance (1) (1) (2)

Depreciation for the year (1) – (1)

carrying value at 30 June 2009 1 1 2

Carrying value at 30 June 2008 2 – 2
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As part of the management “buy-in” transaction, the company established 
a Staff Incentive Scheme. The company issued 8.5 million linked units to the 
Staff Incentive Scheme Trust. The initial Staff Incentive Scheme units will vest 
with the beneficiaries over a period of four years from the date of issue, 
in tranches of 25% per year from 1 September 2008. A second scheme was 
introduced for employees that were employed after the management “buy-in” 
transaction. The units allocated will vest with the beneficiaries over a period 
of five years, in tranches of 0% in year one and 25% per year thereafter. 
An additional 400 405 linked units were also allocated in October 2008 to 
Messrs L N Sasse and E K de Klerk which will vest over a period of five years, in 
tranches of 0% in year one and 25% per year thereafter.

Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date  
(expressed as weighted averages):

 2009 2008 
Discount rate 7.8% 11.9% 
Expected growth on plan assets 7.0% 10.0%

Probability of staying was estimated as being 95% in 2009, 90% in 2010,  
80% in 2011 (2008: 95% in 2008, 90% in 2009, 80% in 2010 and 70% in 
2011), for the initial scheme. For the second scheme, probability of staying was 
estimated as being 95% in 2010, 90% in 2011, 80% in 2012 and 70% in 2013.

The expense is recognised as a non-cash charge in the income statement and 
is excluded from the calculation of unitholders’ distributions. The net amount 
of the current service costs, interest on the Staff Incentive Scheme liability and 
actuarial loss is disclosed as an increase in the Staff Incentive Scheme liability in 
the income statement of R33 million (2008: R35 million), as discussed in note 8.

Group
2009 Units

Group
2008 Units

units in issue 9 218 021 8 561 667

Opening balance 8 561 667 –

Units issued/acquired during the year 656 354 8 561 667

Awarded (8 879 293) (8 213 436)

Opening balance (8 213 436) –

Awarded during the year (665 857) (8 213 436)

– 4-year scheme (105 667) (8 191 874)

– 5-year scheme (560 190) (21 562)

Forfeited in respect of resignations 578 398 224 849

Opening balance 224 849 –

Forfeited during the year 353 549 224 849

Available for allocation 917 126 573 080

units vested (2 058 243) –

25% vested on 1 September 2008 (1 999 952) –

Retirements (58 291) –

Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

18 Listed property investments
– – Opening valuation 9 11

– – Disposals at carrying value – (1)

– – Fair value adjustment on listed investments 1 (1)

– – 10 9
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

19 Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia
261 261 Amount advanced 261 261

261 261 Opening balance 261 261

114 78 Accrued interest 114 78

78 45 Opening balance 78 45

36 33 Arising during the year 36 33

375 339 Nominal value of long-term loans 375 339

21 (14) Fair value adjustment 21 (14)

396 325 396 325

BEE 1 consortium

Amount advanced R203 750 000

Date advanced 2 September 2005

Repayment date (capital and interest) 30 September 2015

Fixed interest rate 10.25%

The loan was advanced to acquire 100 000 000 Growthpoint linked units. 
The rights to repayment are subordinated to the rights of the senior lenders 
(R565 500 000) and junior lenders (R130 500 000). Should the growth in 
Growthpoint’s distributions and linked unit price be sufficient, an additional 
2% interest may be charged at the end of the loan period, as well as a 
participation in equity, limited to an internal rate of return on the loan of 15%. 
In order to protect its interest, Growthpoint is entitled, but not obligated to 
provide guarantees to the senior and junior lenders should there be a breach 
of any of their loan covenants at any time.

BEE 2 consortium

Amount advanced R57 350 000

Date advanced  8 December 2006

Repayment date (capital and interest)  30 September 2016

Fixed interest rate  10.35%

The loan was advanced to acquire 22 000 000 Growthpoint linked units. 
The rights to repayment are subordinated to the rights of the senior lenders 
(R164 450 000) and junior lenders (R37 950 000). Should the growth in 
Growthpoint’s distributions and linked unit price be sufficient, an additional 
2% interest may be charged at the end of the loan period, as well as a 
participation in equity, limited to an internal rate of return on the loan of 15%. 
In order to protect its interest, Growthpoint is entitled, but not obligated to 
provide guarantees to the senior and junior lenders should there be a breach 
of any of their loan covenants at any time.

20 Balances with controlled entities
20.1 Other investments

Investments in subsidiaries

3 562 3 562 Shares and interest in linked units at initial recognition

706 913 Cumulative subsequent fair value adjustments

3 582 3 378 Amounts due by subsidiaries at fair value*

7 850 7 853

The amounts due by subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free with no fixed 
terms of repayment and will be settled in cash.
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

The company owns 100% of the shares in:
Changing Tides 5 (Pty) Limited
Growthpoint Finance Company (Pty) Limited
Growthpoint Management Services (Pty) Limited
Majorshelf 184 (Pty) Limited
Metboard Finance Company (Pty) Limited
Metboard Finance Company Security SPV (Pty) Limited
Metboard Properties Limited
New Heights 344 (Pty) Limited
Paramount Property Fund Limited
Scopeful 157 (Pty) Limited
Skillful 115 (Pty) Limited
Skillful 82 (Pty) Limited
Tresso Trading 337 (Pty) Limited
Tuinweg Property Investments (Pty) Limited

All the subsidiaries are incorporated in South Africa, except for Tuinweg 
Property Investments (Pty) Limited which is incorporated in Namibia.

Paramount Property Fund Limited owns 100% of the shares in:
Claremain Properties (Pty) Limited
Lighthouse Mall (Pty) Limited
Michael & Michael Properties (Pty) Limited
Ovbel Finance Limited
Ovbel Registrars (Pty) Limited

Growthpoint Management Services (Pty) Limited owns 100% of the shares in: 
Growthpoint Building Managers (Pty) Limited

investment in the growthpoint Securitisation warehouse Trust  
(the Trust or gSwT)

1 170 1 170 Contribution at initial recognition

1 520 1 458 Cumulative subsequent fair value adjustments

1 352 711 Amount due by the Trust at fair value*

4 042 3 339

*  Amounts due by the Trust are unsecured, interest free, with no fixed terms 
of repayment and will be settled in cash.

11 892 11 192 Total other investments

21 Trade and other receivables
20 17 Rental debtors 36 30

(10) (5) Impairment of debtors (17) (10)

2 2 Prepaid expenses 5 6

77 65 Deferred expenditure (including letting commissions and tenant installations) 110 109

56 – Currency future fixed deposit 56 –

– 86 Value Added Tax – 144

– – Property management debtor – 15

47 41 Sundry debtors (including deposits for future acquisitions) 91 63

192 206 281 357

22 cash and cash equivalents
18 15 Cash held on call account as security for municipal and other guarantees 18 17

374 2 Other call accounts 479 10

392 17 497 27
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

23 Ordinary share capital
Authorised

100 75 2 000 000 000 (2008: 1 500 000 000 ) ordinary shares with a nominal value 
of 5 cents each

100 75

issued

1 409 018 815 (2008: 1 280 926 195) ordinary shares of 5 cents each:

64 54 In issue at beginning of the year (1 280 926 195 shares) 64 54

6 10 Issued during the year (128 092 620 shares) 6 10

70 64 70 64

In terms of the memorandum of association and the debenture trust deed, 
the shares are linked with unsecured, subordinated, variable-rate debentures 
of 250 cents (2008: 250 cents) each in the ratio of one ordinary share to 10 
debentures.

This linkage means that each share may only be issued and traded together 
with the debentures with which it is linked, until such time as it is de-linked 
in accordance with the terms of the memorandum of association and the 
debenture trust deed.

The unissued shares are under the control of the directors of the company 
subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, 1973 and the requirements 
of the JSE Limited.

24 Non-distributable reserve
1 536 1 536 capital reserve on issue of linked units 1 366 1 437

1 536 – Opening balance 1 437 –

– 1 536 Capital reserve arising on issue of linked units – 1 536

– – Amortisation (99) (99)

– – Deferred taxation 28 –

Where a linked unit is issued, it is allocated between an equity and a 
debenture portion. The debenture component of the linked unit is recognised 
initially at fair value, as defined in note 43. The remaining component is 
recognised as equity. Where an intangible asset is acquired using linked units, 
this results in the majority of the issue price being allocated to the equity 
component. This component is reflected in a non-distributable reserve. 
On the issue of linked units for the acquisition of the Property Services 
Businesses, the majority of the payment related to an intangible asset which 
was accounted for as a non-distributable reserve in equity. All transactions 
related to the acquisition, such as the amortisation of the intangible asset, 
will be transferred to the non-distributable reserve.

25 Debentures
14 090 188 150 (2008: 12 809 261 950) unsecured variable-rate 
subordinated debentures

18 283 13 646 Fair value at beginning of the year  18 283 13 646

1 651 1 735 Issued during the year 1 651 1 735

19 934 15 381 19 934 15 381

(1 293) 2 902 Fair value adjustment (1 293) 2 902

18 641 18 283 18 641 18 283

18 641 18 283 Fair value 18 641 18 283

35 225 32 023 Nominal value 35 225 32 023

(23 995) (22 444) Discount on issue (23 995) (22 444) 

11 230 9 579 Issue value 11 230 9 579

8 704 5 802 Fair value adjustment – previous years 8 704 5 802

(1 293) 2 902 Fair value adjustment – current year (1 293) 2 902
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

The rights of the debenture holders to repayment of capital are subordinated 
to the claims of all other secured and unsecured creditors. The interest payable 
on 10 debentures in each linked unit will be a multiple of 1 000 times the 
dividend payable on each share. 

Subject to the subordination provisions, the debentures will be repayable if a 
final court order is granted or an effective special resolution is passed for the 
winding up of the company or if the company, inter alia, commits a material 
breach of a material obligation under the trust deed. The debentures are 
redeemable at the instance of the debenture holders at any time after 25 
years from the date of incorporation. 

This right must be exercised by special resolution of the debenture holders. 
Upon passing of the said special resolution, the debentures shall be redeemed 
on the last Friday in December of the fifth year after the year in which the 
special resolution is passed. 

The yield on the debentures is dependent upon the dividend paid on ordinary 
shares. For this reason, limitations have been placed on the company in that 
it may not change its share capital if such change results in a change in the 
equity to debenture ratio.

26 Other non-current financial liabilities
26.1 Variable rate loans – secured by investment property

– 658 26.1.1 Variable rate mortgage loan – Old Mutual Specialised 
Finance (Pty) Limited R658 million facility

Interest was charged at a rate of Jibar + 1.05% per annum. 

– 658

– 355 26.1.2 Variable rate mortgage loan – ABSA Bank Limited (ABSA) 
R600 million facility

Interest was charged at the prime overdraft rate less 2.00% per annum. 

– 355

1 200 1 200 26.1.3 Variable rate mortgage loan – ABSA R1 200 million facility

Interest is charged at a rate of Jibar + 0.80% per annum.  
The capital is repayable on 31 March 2011.

1 200 1 200

– – 26.1.4 Variable rate mortgage loan – ABSA R740 million facility (Paramount) 

Interest is charged at a rate of Jibar + 0.80% per annum.  
The capital is repayable on 28 February 2015.

740 740

500 – 26.1.5 Variable rate mortgage loan – Standard Bank Limited 
R1 000 million facility

Interest is charged at a rate of Jibar + 1.07% per annum.  
The capital is repayable on 25 July 2010.

500 –

1 000 – 26.1.6 Variable rate mortgage loan – Nedbank Limited 
R2 000 million facility

Interest is charged at the prime overdraft rate less 2.30% per annum.  
The capital is repayable on 30 September 2013.

1 000 –

26.2 Fixed rate mortgage loans secured by investment property

703 703 26.2.1 Fixed rate mortgage loan – Investec Bank Limited (Investec)

Interest is charged at a rate of 9.01% per annum. The capital is repayable on 
28 February 2011 with a final date of repayment of 28 February 2024. 

703 703

– – 26.2.2 Fixed rate mortgage loan – Investec Securitisation issue 1 R805 
million facility (GSWT)

Interest is charged at a rate of 9.37% per annum. 
The scheduled repayment date is 2 August 2010.

805 805
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

 

26 Other non-current financial liabilities (continued)
– – 26.2.3 Fixed rate mortgage loan – Investec Securitisation issue 2 R969 

million facility (GSWT)

Interest is charged at a rate of 8.58% per annum.  
The scheduled repayment date is 1 August 2011.

969 969

1 566 1 566 26.2.4 Fixed rate mortgage loan – Investec Securitisation issue 3 
R1 566 million facility

Interest is charged at a rate of 9.96% per annum.  
The scheduled repayment date is 1 November 2009.

1 566 1 566

– – 26.2.5 Fixed rate mortgage loan – Investec Securitisation 
R1 000 million facility (Metboard)

Interest is charged at a rate of 8.97% per annum.  
The scheduled repayment date is 1 September 2011.

1 000 1 000

– – 26.2.6 Fixed rate mortgage loan – Rand Merchant Bank Limited (RMB) 
R250 million facility (Paramount)

Interest is charged at a rate of 10.27% per annum.  
The scheduled repayment date is 30 April 2018.

250 250

– – 26.2.7 Fixed rate mortgage loan – RMB R490 million facility (Paramount)

Interest is charged at a rate of 10.38% per annum.  
The scheduled repayment date is 31 April 2018.

490 490

675 675 26.2.8 Fixed rate mortgage loan – RMB R675 million facility

Interest is charged at a rate of 9.63% per annum.  
The scheduled repayment date is 28 February 2018.

675 675

Loans listed, including investment property reclassified as held for sale, 
from 26.1.1 to 26.2.8 are secured by first mortgage bonds over investment 
property with a value of R24 306 million (2008: R22 062 million).

5 644 5 157 Total nominal value of long-term interest-bearing loans 9 898 9 411

(41) (259) Fair value adjustment on fixed interest rate loans: (89) (656)

3 – – loss 3 –

(44) (259) – profit (92) (656)

511 239 Fair value adjustments on derivatives: 513 239

497 239 – interest rate swaps – loss 499 239

14 – – foreign exchange – loss 14 –

6 114 5 137 Fair value of long-term interest-bearing loans and derivatives 10 322 8 994 

26.3 Non-interest-bearing long-term liabilities

26.3.1 Non-interest-bearing long-term loan

153 153 Nominal value 153 153

(21) (39) Unamortised discount (21) (39)

132 114 Book value prior to revaluation 132 114

The balance is payable as follows :

R96 513 884 – November 2009

R56 874 239 – November 2010

The loan is secured by second covering mortgage bonds over investment 
property with a value of R2 939 million (2008: R2 830 million). 
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

26.3.2 Non- interest-bearing loan

24 24 Nominal value 24 24

(4) (6) Unamortised discount (4) (6)

20 18 Book value prior to revaluation 20 18

The loan is unsecured and will be discharged as follows:

–  to the extent that any portion of the vacant land acquired in terms of this 
arrangement is sold or developed, from the proceeds of the sale or on 
completion of the development; or

–  to the extent that any portion of the land remains unsold or undeveloped 
at 31 October 2009, the unpaid amount will become due and payable 
at that date.

152 132 Total book value of long-term non-interest-bearing loans 152 132

14 6 Fair value adjustment of non-interest-bearing loans 14 6

166 138 Fair value of non-interest-bearing loans 166 138

6 280 5 275 Total financial liabilities 10 488 9 132

(1 673) _ 26.4 Less portion repayable within the next 12 months (1 673) –

(1 566) – Nominal value – interest-bearing (1 566) –

(107) – Book value – non-interest-bearing (107) –

4 607 5 275 26.5 Total non-current financial liabilities 8 815 9 132

4 096 5 036 –  loans 8 302 8 893

511 239 –  derivatives 513 239

Loan covenants

Interest times cover – 3.1 times (2008: 3.2 times)

Loan to value ratio for Growthpoint based on the nominal value of debt,  
net of cash – 32.2% (2008: 34.4%)
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

27 Trade and other payables
99 195 Accrued expenses 253 406

85 70 Accrued interest 135 120

45 41 Tenant deposits 100 88

– – Property management creditor 86 –

13 16 Trade creditors 25 24

8 – Value Added Tax 16 –

– 1 Income received in advance – –

250 323 615 638

28 Deferred taxation
28.1 Deductible temporary differences

2 075 2 437 Fair value adjustment – debentures 2 075 2 437

135 28 Fair value adjustment – non-current liabilities 122 –

– 1 Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia – 2

2 4 Impairment of trade receivables 4 4

2 212 2 470 Deferred taxation asset partially recognised 2 201 2 443

Recovery of these deferred tax assets is dependent on the generation of 
sufficient future taxable income. In order to recognise an asset, it must be 
probable that deductible temporary differences in excess of existing taxable 
temporary differences will be used. In practice, all taxable income  
(excluding capital gains) is distributed to unitholders primarily in the form of 
tax deductible debenture interest. While the debentures (representing the 
most significant of the above deductible temporary differences) are carried 
at fair value and remain unredeemed, future tax deductions are likely to equal 
or exceed any tax liability which may arise (excluding capital gains taxation). 
The deferred tax effect of the right to manage the property assets is excluded 
from the calculation of the unrecognised deferred tax asset as the deferred 
tax liability does not qualify for offset against the unrecognised deductable 
temporary difference. The deferred tax asset is limited to the amount of any 
deferred tax liability raised, being that portion of the deferred tax asset that 
is recoverable. The net effect of Rnil is therefore reflected on the consolidated 
balance sheet.

28.2 Taxable temporary differences

The recognition of a deferred tax liability is dependent on the manner in 
which Growthpoint will recover the carrying value of the related assets. 
The most significant asset in this case is investment property, which is 
expected to be recovered through a combination of use (rental to third 
parties) and ultimately by sale.

In determining the amount of deferred tax to be raised, accounting 
standards require:

a)  the revaluation of land to be separated from that of the buildings and 
deferred tax to be computed using the consequences of sale; and

b)  in respect of the buildings, management is required to estimate the 
expected period of use until sale and an estimated sales value (residual). 
The fair value adjustment is then split between a use and sale component 
and the respective tax consequences applied to each component. 
 
In view of the size of the property portfolio, the complexity of determining 
the residual value and anticipated sale date of these properties, and the 
fact that any deferred tax liability raised will be offset by deferred tax 
assets, management believes that an exercise to determine the requisite 
amounts would require expenditure well in excess of any expected benefit.
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The effective rate will be between 14% and 28% (2008: 14% and 28%). 
The factors that would reduce the effective rate to less than 28% 
(2008: 28%) are that:

a)  the tax effect on the revaluation of land must be provided for using the 
sales consequences; and

b)  Growthpoint has historically sold investment properties for a significant 
amount in relation to the carrying value and therefore a large component 
of the carrying value is recoverable through sale.

The following analysis of deferred tax has been provided for illustrative 
purposes, presuming that the effective tax rate calculated is 14.5% 
(2008: 14.5%) for investment properties:

Company
Temporary 
differences 

2009

Company
Temporary 
differences 

2008

Group
Temporary 
differences 

2009

Group
Temporary 
differences 

2008

investment property component

5 343 5 375 Fair value adjustment – investment property assets 7 433 7 282

Other assets/liabilities

– – Intangible asset – right to manage property assets 1 284 1 384

166 732 Fair value adjustment – gain on fair value of derivatives 166 759

– – Fair value adjustment – non-current liabilities – 291

2 226 2 371 Fair value adjustment – other investments – –

21 – Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia 21 –

30 – Letting commission 84 –

7 786 8 478 8 988 9 716

investment property component Rate used %

775 779 Fair value adjustment – investment property assets 14.5% 1 078 1 056

Other assets/liabilities

– – Intangible asset – right to manage property assets 28% 359 387

46 205 Fair value adjustment – gain on fair value of derivatives 28% 46 213

– – Fair value adjustment – non-current liabilities 28% – 81

312 332 Fair value adjustment – other investments 14% – –

6 – Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia 28% 6 –

8 – Letting commission 28% 24 –

1 147 1 316 Potential deferred tax liability 1 513 1 737

The excess of the potential deferred tax asset over the potential tax liability is 
not recognised for the reason stated in note 28.1 above.
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Company
Illustrated 

deferred tax 
2009

Company
Illustrated 

deferred tax 
2008

Group
Illustrated 

deferred tax 
2009

Company
Illustrated 

deferred tax 
2008

28 Deferred taxation (continued)
Movement in deferred tax relates to:

1 154 905 Balance at beginning of the year (unrecognised) 707 892

– (32) Change in estimate – (32)

Temporary differences reversed on disposal of assets

10 – – investment property 5 1

(99) 281 Temporary differences arising during the year (24) (154)

(99) 281 – net timing difference (52) 233

– – – intangible asset deferred tax liability recognised 28 (387)

1 065 1 154 Balance at the end of the year (unrecognised) 688 707

29 Net asset value

Number 
of units

Number 
of units

Linked units in issue at end of year 1 409 018 815 1 280 926 195

cents cents

Net asset value per linked unit 1 425 1 545

Tangible net asset value per linked unit 1 327 1 432

Net asset value per linked unit is reconciled to tangible net asset value per 
linked unit as follows:

Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

Net asset value 20 077 19 784

Less: net effect of Property Services Businesses acquisition (1 374)  (1 445)

– intangible assets (1 733)  (1 832)

– deferred tax liability 359 387

Tangible net asset value 18 703  18 339 

30 cash generated from operations
1 291 1 095 Net property income after other operating expenses 2 596 2 183

(97) (81) Straight-line lease income adjustment (219) (208)

– – Depreciation 1 –

14 (54) Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 76 (51)

(73) 69 (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (38) 133

1 135 1 029 2 416 2 057

31 Taxation paid/(received)
– 2 Amounts unpaid at beginning of the year 5 5

2 (4) Amounts charged/(credited) to the income statement 5 (1)

(2) – Amounts unpaid at end of the year (3) (5)

– (2) 7 (1)
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

32 Distribution to unitholders
711 521 Amounts unpaid at beginning of the year 711 521

1 612 1 363 Interest 1 612 1 363

2 1 Dividends 2 1

(823) (711) Amounts unpaid at end of the year (823) (711)

1 502 1 174 1 502 1 174

33 Net cash outflow from investing activities
25 975 18 366 Opening balance of non-current assets 30 231 22 632

(1 280) 4 321 Non-cash movements (1 007) 4 303

(127) 693 Fair value adjustment of investment property (30) 1 615

97 81 Straight-line lease income adjustment 219 208

(574) – Investment property reclassified as held for sale (554) (42)

– – Fair value adjustment of listed property investments 1 (1)

(566) 624 Fair value adjustment on derivatives (593) 651

71 (15) Fair value adjustment and accrued interest on long-term loans 71 (15)

(160) 1 337 Fair value adjustment on investment in subsidiaries and interest in Trust – –

– 1 542 Property management subsidiary acquired by issue of linked units – –

– 134 Linked units issued for Staff Incentive Scheme – 134

12 (40) Return on plan assets and actuarial gain/(loss) 12 (40)

(33) (35) Increase in Staff Incentive Scheme liability (33) (35)

– – Amortisation of intangible asset (99) (99)

– – Depreciation on equipment (1) –

– – Net movement as a result of the IPG transaction – 1 927

(26 449) (25 975) Closing balance of non-current assets (30 991) (30 231)

(1 754) (3 288) (1 767) (3 296)
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Retail 
Rm

Office 
Rm

Industrial 
Rm

Investment
Rm

Corporate 
Rm

Total 
Rm

34 group segmental analysis
income statement 2009

Revenue, excluding straight-line lease income adjustment  1 144  1 315  752  –  –  3 211 

Straight-line lease income adjustment 31 152 36  –  –  219 

Revenue  1 175  1 467  788  –  –  3 430 

Property expenses  (289)  (304)  (166)  –  –  (759)

Net property income  886 1 163  622  –  –  2 671 

Other operating expenses  –  –  –  –  (75)  (75)

Investment income  –  –  –  1  –  1 

Fair value adjustments  178  (223)  15  1  (114)  (143)

Segment results  1 064  940  637  2  (189)  2 454 

Finance costs  –  –  –  –  (921)  (921)

Non-cash charges  –  –  –  –  (140)  (140)

Capital items  –  –  –  –  (35)  (35)

Finance income  –  –  –  – 162  162 

Profit before debenture interest  1 064  940  637  2  (1 123)  1 520 

Debenture interest  –  –  –  –  (1 612)  (1 612)

Profit/(loss) before taxation  1 064  940  637  2  (2 735)  (92)

Retail 
Rm

Office 
Rm

Industrial 
Rm

Investment
Rm

Corporate 
Rm

Total 
Rm

income statement 2008

Revenue, excluding straight-line lease income adjustment  1 003  1 050  659  –  –  2 712 

Straight-line lease income adjustment 57 99 52  –  – 208 

Revenue  1 060  1 149  711  –  –  2 920 

Property expenses  (260)  (263)  (152)  –  –  (675)

Net property income  800  886  559  –  –  2 245 

Other operating expenses  –  –  –  –  (62)  (62)

Investment income  –  –  –  1  –  1 

Fair value adjustments  319  636  660  (1)  (1 753)  (139)

Segment results  1 119  1 522  1 219  –  (1 815)  2 045 

Finance costs  –  –  –  –  (697)  (697)

Non-cash charges  –  –  –  –  (193)  (193)

Capital items  –  –  –  –  22  22 

Finance income  –  –  –  – 87  87 

Profit before debenture interest  1 119  1 522  1 219  –  (2 596)  1 264 

Debenture interest  –  –  –  –  (1 363)  (1 363)

Profit/(loss) before taxation  1 119  1 522  1 219  –  (3 959)  (99)
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Retail 
Rm

Office 
Rm

Industrial 
Rm

Investment
Rm

Corporate 
Rm

Total 
Rm

Balance sheet 2009

Non–current assets  

Investment property

 Opening fair value of property assets  9 692  11 381  6 172  –  –  27 245 

 Acquisitions  10  195  190  –  –  395 

 Capital expenditure  241  960  303  –  –  1 504 

 Disposals at fair value  –  (88)  (34)  –  –  (122)

 Transfer to investment property reclassified as held for sale – (574) – – – (574)

 Net fair value adjustments  178  (223)  15  –  –  (30)

 Straight-line lease income adjustment  31  152  36  –  –  219 

 Closing fair value of property assets  10 152 11 803  6 682  –  –  28 637 

Intangible assets – – – –  1 733  1 733 

Other long-term employee benefits  –  –  –  –  47  47 

Equipment  –  –  –  –  2  2 

Listed property investments  –  –  –  10  –  10 

Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia  –  –  –  –  396  396 

Derivative assets  –  –  –  –  166  166 

current assets

Investment property held for sale –  596 – – –  596 

Trade and other receivables  77  128  55  –  21  281 

Cash and cash equivalents  –  –  –  –  497  497 

Segment assets  10 229  12 527  6 737  10  2 862  32 365 

Linked unitholders' interest  –  –  –  –  20 077  20 077 

Other financial liabilities

Other non-current financial liabilities  –  –  –  –  8 815  8 815 

Deferred tax liability  –  –  –  –  359  359 

current liabilities

Current portion of non-current liabilities  –  –  –  –  1 673  1 673 

Trade and other payables  102  168  56  –  289  615 

Taxation payable  –  –  –  –  3  3 

Linked unitholders for interest and dividends  –  –  –  –  823  823 

 Segment equity and liabilities  102  168  56  –  32 039  32 365 
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Retail 
Rm

Office 
Rm

Industrial 
Rm

Investment
Rm

Corporate 
Rm

Total 
Rm

Balance sheet 2008

Non-current assets

Investment property

 Opening fair value of property assets  8 573  8 499  5 101 – –  22 173 

 Reclassification  (73)  73 – – – – 

 Acquisitions  654  1 555  57 – –  2 266 

 Capital expenditure  261  582  302 – –  1 145 

 Disposals at fair value  (99)  (21) – – –  (120)

 Transfer to investment property reclassified as held for sale –  (42) – – –  (42)

 Net fair value adjustments  319  636  660 – –  1 615 

 Straight-line lease income adjustment  57  99  52 – –  208 

 Closing fair value of property assets  9 692  11 381  6 172 – –  27 245 

Intangible assets – – – –  1 832  1 832 

Other long-term employee benefits – – – –  59  59 

Equipment – – – –  2  2 

Listed property investments – – –  9 –  9 

Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia – – – –  325  325 

Derivative assets – – – –  759  759 

current assets

Investment property held for sale –  42 – – –  42 

Trade and other receivables  125  174  48 –  10  357 

Cash and cash equivalents – – – –  27  27 

Segment assets  9 817  11 597  6 220  9  3 014  30 657 

Linked unitholders' interest – – – –  19 784  19 784 

Other financial liabilities

Other non-current financial liabilities – – – –  8 429  8 429 

Deferred tax liability – – – –  387  387 

current liabilities

Current portion of non-current liabilities  150  250  52 –  186  638 

Trade and other payables – – – –  703  703 

Taxation payable – – – –  5  5 

Linked unitholders for interest and dividends – – – –  711  711 

 Segment equity and liabilities  150  250  52 –  30 205  30 657 

Greater 
JHB 
Rm

Pretoria  
 

Rm

Western 
Cape 

Rm

KwaZulu 
Natal 

Rm

Eastern 
Cape 

Rm

North 
West

Rm

Other 
  

Rm

Total 
  

Rm

income statement extract 2009

Net property income, excluding straight-line 
lease income adjustment

 1 223  301  461  254  85 70  58  2 452 

income statement extract 2008

Net property income, excluding straight-line 
lease income adjustment

 968  282  381  222  77 65  42  2 037 
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Greater 
JHB 
Rm

Pretoria  
 

Rm

Western 
Cape 

Rm

KwaZulu 
Natal 

Rm

Eastern 
Cape 

Rm

North 
West

Rm

Other 
  

Rm

Total 
  

Rm

Balance sheet 2009

 Investment property

 Opening fair value of property assets  13 367  3 295  5 492  2 677  1 039 –  1 375  27 245 

  Reclassification  (32)  –  –  –  – 861  (829)  – 

 Acquisitions  126  64  151  54  – –  –  395 

 Capital expenditure  987  46  339  75  2 –  55  1 504 

  Disposals at fair value  (122)  –  –  –  – –  –  (122)

  Transfer to investment property for sale – (396) (49) (129) – – – (574)

 Gross fair value adjustments  318  125  (350)  26  (53) 94  29  189 

 closing fair value of property assets  14 644  3 134  5 583  2 703  988 955  630  28 637 

Greater 
JHB 
Rm

Pretoria  
 

Rm

Western 
Cape 

Rm

KwaZulu 
Natal 

Rm

Eastern 
Cape 

Rm

North 
West

Rm

Other 
  

Rm

Total 
  

Rm

Balance sheet 2008

Investment property

 Opening fair value of property assets  10 168  3 016  4 522  2 323  926 –  1 218  22 173 

 Acquisitions  1 718  99  386  57  – –  6  2 266 

 Capital expenditure  490  32  448  58  42 –  75  1 145 

 Disposals at fair value  (11)  –  (100)  (9)  – –  –  (120)

 Transfer to investment property held for sale  –  –  (42)  –  – –  –  (42)

  Gross fair value adjustments  1 002  148  278  248  71 –  76  1 823 

closing fair value of property assets  13 367  3 295  5 492  2 677  1 039 –  1 375  27 245 

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

35 Joint ventures
Income statement

Revenue 196 165

Property expenses (41) (33)

Property operating profit 155 132

Fair value adjustments 153 47

Operating profit 308 179

Balance sheet

Non-current assets

 Property assets

  Opening fair value of property assets 1 835 1 617

  Acquisitions – 121

  Capital expenditure 122 46

  Net fair value adjustments 153 51

  Less: straight-line lease income adjustment (46) (45)

  Closing fair value of property assets 2 064 1 790

  Straight-line lease income adjustment 46 45

2 110 1 835

Current assets 19 14

Total assets 2 129 1 849
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

35 Joint ventures (continued)
Owners’ equity 2 113 1 839

Current liabilities 16 10

Total equity and liabilities 2 129 1 849

Joint ventures comprise the following properties:
– Northgate Shopping Centre (50.0%)
– Kolonnade Shopping Centre (50.0%)
– Alberton City (35.7%)
– Westgate (50.0%)
– Eagle Industrial Park (50.0%)
– Lakeside Mall (87.2%)

36 Borrowing powers
The borrowing capacity of the company and its subsidiaries, in terms of their 
articles of association, is unlimited.

37 capital commitments
99 1 399 Authorised and contracted 174 2 274

The capital expenditure will be financed from existing funding facilities.

38 contingent liabilities
Certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the company have guaranteed the 
income of their wholly-owned subsidiary companies to certain financial 
institutions. The total value of this income over the next five years amounts 
to approximately R172 million (2008: R204 million) and is due, in terms 
of lease agreements, by the following tenants: Centre for Diabetes and 
Endocrinology (Pty) Limited – R 15 million (2008: R18 million); Ernst and 
Young South Africa – R 135 million (2008: R160 million); and Merck (Pty) 
Limited– R 22 million (2008: R26 million).

172 204
Growthpoint Properties Limited has a total investment in these long-lease 
subsidiaries of approximately R23,1 million. (2008: R22,2 million). 172 204

39.1 minimum contracted rental income
The group leases a number of retail, office and industrial properties under 
operating leases. Leases typically run for a period of three to five years.

Contractual amounts due in terms of operating lease agreements:

1 291 1 126 Less than one year 2 716 2 423

3 524 2 731 Between one and five years 7 334 5 786

3 292 3 203 More than five years 4 311 4 789

8 107 7 060 14 361 12 998

39.2 minimum contracted rental expense
The group is party to leasing contracts as the lessee of the following properties: 
– 540 Pretorius St 
– Metprop Cape 
– Fitzmaurice 
– The Bridge 
– Sportmans Warehouse 
–  Woodmead Retail (based on 10% of net property income, for the first 10 

years, 12,5% for year 11 to 15 and 18% thereafter, assumed net property 
income to be the same as in 2009) 

Contractual amounts due in terms of operating lease agreements:

(5) (4) Less than one year (12) (11)

(18) (18) Between one and five years (24) (24)

(538) (544) More than five years (615) (622)

(561) (566) (651) (657)
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

40 Related party transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control 
the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party making 
financial or operational decisions.

Details of the transactions with directors are set out in the Directors’ report. 

Balances with controlled entities are disclosed in note 20. Balances with BEE 
consortia are disclosed in note 19.

Growthpoint Management Services (Pty) Limited (GMS) is a wholly owned 
subsidiary and is responsible for the property management of the properties. 

20 20 Letting commissions paid to GMS – –

2 1 Project management fees paid to GMS – –

48 34 Collection commission paid to GMS – –

The following key management remuneration was paid during the year:

– – Salaries 12 8

– – Bonuses 9 6

– – Contributions to defined contribution plan 2 1

– – Other long-term employee benefits 19 8

70 55 42 23

The company issued 3 260 105 units (2008: 2 854 700) in terms of the Staff 
Incentive Scheme to key management. 714 925 of the units issued vested in 
the current year.
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 30 June 2009, Rm

Group Company Group Company Group Company Group Company

Total Total Notes Held-for-trading
Designated at 

fair value
Non-financial 
instruments

41 Financial risk management
Balance sheets

Total financial assets and liabilities

The table below sets out the company 
and group’s accounting classification 
of each class of financial assets and 
liabilities, and their fair values at 30 
June 2009 and 30 June 2008.

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Listed property investments  10  – 18  –  –  10  –  –  – 

Long-term loans granted to BEE 
consortia

 396  396 19  –  –  396  396  –  – 

Derivative assets  166  166  166  166  –  –  –  – 

Other investments  –  11 892 20.1  –  –  –  11 892  –  – 

 Investment in subsidiaries  –  4 268  –  –  –  4 268  –  – 

 Amounts due by subsidiaries  –  3 582  –  –  –  3 582  –  – 

 Investment in GSWT  –  4 042  –  –  –  4 042  –  – 

current assets 778 584  –  – 516 402 262 182

Trade and other receivables  281  192 21  –  –  19  10  262  182 

Cash and cash equivalents  497  392 22  –  –  497  392  –  – 

Total assets  1 350  13 038  166  166  922  12 690  262  182 

EquiTy AND LiABiLiTiES

Non-current liabilities– debentures  18 641  18 641 25  –  –  18 641  18 641  –  – 

Other non-current financial 
liabilities

 8 815  4 607 26.5  513  511  8 302  4 096  –  – 

 Interest-bearing borrowings  8 240  4 034  –  –  8 240  4 034  –  – 

 Non-interest-bearing borrowings  62  62  –  –  62  62  –  – 

 Derivative liabilities  513  511  513  511  –  –  –  – 

current liabilities 3 111 2 746 – – 3 111 2 746 – –

Trade and other payables  615  250 27  –  –  615  250  –  – 

Current portion of non-current 
financial liabilities  1 673  1 673 26.4  –  –  1 673  1 673  –  – 

Linked unitholders for interest and 
dividends  823  823  –  –  823  823  –  – 

Total equity and liabilities  30 567  25 994  513  511  30 054  25 483  –  – 
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 30 June 2008, Rm

Group Company Group Company Group Company Group Company

Total Total Notes Held-for-trading
Designated at 

fair value
Non-financial 
instruments

Balance sheets

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Listed property investments  9 – 18 – –  9 – – – 

Long-term loans granted to BEE 
consortia

 325  325 19 – –  325  325 – – 

Derivative assets  759  759  759  759 – – – – 

Other investments –  11 192 20.1 – – –  11 192 – – 

 Investment in subsidiaries –  4 475 – – –  4 475 – – 

 Amounts due by subsidiaries –  3 378 – – –  3 378 – – 

 Investment in GSWT –  3 339 – – –  3 339 – – 

Current assets 384 223 - - 62 29 322 194

Trade and other receivables  357  206 21 – –  35  12  322  194 

Cash and cash equivalents  27  17 22 – –  27  17 – – 

Total assets  1 477  12 499  759  759  396  11 546  322  194 

EquiTy AND LiABiLiTiES

Non-current liabilities– debentures  18 283  18 283 25 – –  18 283  18 283 – – 

Other non-current financial 
liabilities

 9 132  5 275 26.5  239  239  8 893  5 036 – – 

 Interest-bearing borrowings  8 755  4 898 – –  8 755  4 898 – – 

 Non-interest-bearing borrowings  138  138 – –  138  138 – – 

 Derivative liability  239  239  239  239 – – 

current liabilities 1 349 1 034 – – 1 349 1 033 – 1

Trade and other payables  638  323 27 – –  638  322 –  1 

Linked unitholders for interest and 
dividends  711  711 – –  711  711 – – 

Total equity and liabilities  28 764  24 592  239  239  28 525  24 352 –  1 

The financial instruments of the group consist mainly of cash and cash 
equivalents, including deposits with banks, long-term borrowings, derivative 
instruments, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables, long-
term loans, amounts due by subsidiaries, debentures and linked unitholders 
for interest and dividends. The group purchases or issues financial instruments 
in order to finance operations and to manage the interest rate risks that arise 
from these operations and the source of funding.

The group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial 
instruments:

– Credit risk 
– Liquidity risk 
– Market risk

The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment 
and oversight of the group’s risk management framework. The board has 
established the Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for 
developing and monitoring the group’s risk management policies. The Risk 
Management Committee reports regularly to the board of directors on 
its activities.
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Company
2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

41 Financial risk management (continued)
The group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse 
the risks faced by the group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to 
monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems 
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the 
group’s activities.

The Risk Management Committee oversees how management monitors 
compliance with the group’s risk management policies and procedures and 
reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the 
risks faced by the group. The Risk Management Committee is assisted in its 
oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and 
ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of 
which are reported to both the Audit Committee and the Risk Management 
Committee.

41.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a customer or 
counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the long-term loans advanced to 
the BEE parties, the investments in subsidiaries and the Trust, amounts 
advanced to the subsidiaries and Trust, derivatives, as well as trade and other 
receivables. There is no significant concentration of credit risk as exposure is 
spread over a large number of counterparties.

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit 
exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

– – Listed property investment  10  9 

 396  325 Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia  396  325 

 166  732 Derivative assets  166  759 

 11 892  11 192 Other investments – – 

 4 268  4 475  Investment in subsidiaries – – 

 3 582  3 378  Amounts due by subsidiaries – – 

 4 042  3 339  Investment in GSWT – – 

10 12 Trade and other receivables  19  35 

392 17 Cash and cash equivalents  497  27 

a) Long-term loans

The group provided the mezzanine finance for the long-term BEE loans. 
The rights to repayment are subordinated to the rights of the senior lenders 
and junior lenders. The linked units are held by Growthpoint as collateral in 
the event that the group is called upon to provide credit support.

Based on the total debt outstanding in respect of the BEE 1 consortium’s 
loans, a calculation was performed to determine the breakeven unit price at 
which Growthpoint’s loan will be recoverable. Assuming distribution growth 
is in line with budgets and that an annual return of 5% (2008: 7%) on the 
assets held by the consortium is achieved, the breakeven unit price before 
Growthpoint is at risk of non-payment in 2015 was calculated at R5.64 
(2008: R3.90) per Growthpoint linked unit.

Based on the total debt outstanding in respect of the BEE 2 consortium’s 
loans, a calculation was performed to determine the breakeven unit price at 
which Growthpoint’s loan will be recoverable. Assuming distribution growth 
is in line with budgets and that an annual return of 5% (2008: 7%) on the 
assets held by the consortium is achieved, the breakeven unit price before 
Growthpoint is at risk of non-payment in 2016 was calculated at R12.58 
(2008: R11.01) per Growthpoint linked unit.
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2009 Rm
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2008 Rm

b) Derivatives

Exposure to credit risk is limited by investing liquid funds and entering 
into derivative financial instruments with counterparties who have a high 
percentage tier one capital and strong credit ratings assigned by international 
credit rating agencies.

 c) Other investments

Exposure to credit risk is spread between the investments in various entities, 
of which the following are the most significant:

i) Paramount Property Fund Limited

ii) Metboard Properties Limited

iii) Growthpoint Securitisation Warehouse Trust

iv) Growthpoint Management Services (Pty) Limited

No impairments have been accounted for on these investments in the current 
year. The investments are supported by property assets with a fair value of 
R14 680 million (2008: R13 578 million), and financial liabilities to financial 
institutions with a fair value of R4 208 million (2008: R3 917 million). 
Intangible assets with a recoverable amount of R1 733 million (2008: R1 832 
million) were raised in respect of the Property Services Businesses acquisition.

The property assets are located in various sectors as follows:

 5 385  5 010 – Industrial

 6 261  5 708 – Office

 3 034  2 860 – Retail

 14 680  13 578 

The non-current financial liabilities are spread among various providers of 
finance as follows:

 2 739  2 500 – Investec Bank Limited 

 740  762 – ABSA Bank Limited 

 729  655 – RMB Limited

 4 208  3 917 

 d) Trade receivables

The group’s exposure to credit risk is mainly in respect of tenants and is 
influenced by the individual characteristics of each tenant. The group’s wide-
spread tenant base reduces credit risk.

Management has established a credit policy under which each new tenant 
is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the group’s standard 
payment terms and conditions are offered which include, in the majority 
of cases, the provision of a deposit of at least one month’s rental. 
When available, the group’s credit review includes external ratings.

Impairment losses have been recorded for those debts whose recovery was 
not reasonably assured at year-end. The maximum credit exposure at balance 
sheet date was R36 million (2008: R45 million).
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41 Financial risk management (continued)
41.2 Market risk

a) interest rate risk

The group is exposed to interest rate risk and adopts a policy of ensuring that 
at least 75% of its exposure to changes in interest rates on borrowings is on a 
fixed rate basis. This is achieved by entering into receive variable and pay fixed 
interest rate swaps. All such transactions are carried out within the guidelines 
set by executive management. As a consequence, the group is exposed to fair 
value interest rate risk in respect of the fair value of its fixed rate financial 
instruments, which will not have an impact on distributions. Short-term 
receivables and payables and investments are not directly exposed to interest 
rate risk.   

It is estimated that for the year ended 30 June 2009, a 1% increase/(decrease) 
in interest rates would have decreased/(increased) the company’s profit 
before debenture interest by approximately R1,6 million (2008: R7,7 million).

The expiry profile of fixed interest rate contracts is shown in the Directors’ 
review of operations. 

Refer to note 26 for the fixed interest rate exposure on long-term loans.

 b) currency risk

The group’s exposure to currency risk relates only to the investment in 
Orchard Industrial Fund, disclosed as an after balance sheet event (note 45). 
Currency contracts were acquired to limit exposure to currency fluctuations.

c) Other market price risk

Equity price risk arises from the investment in listed investments which are 
carried at fair value. Fair value adjustments are recognised directly in equity. 
All buy and sell decisions are approved by executive management.

41.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due. The group’s policy is to seek to optimise its 
exposure to liquidity risk by balancing its exposure to interest rate risk and 
to refinancing risk. In effect the group seeks to borrow for as long as possible 
at the lowest acceptable cost. The group regularly reviews the maturity 
profile of its financial liabilities and seeks to avoid concentration of maturities 
through the regular replacement of facilities and by using a selection of 
maturity dates. 

The tables below set out the maturity analysis of the group’s financial 
liabilities based on the undiscounted contractual cash flows. 

No interest payments have been included as the amounts involved are 
dependent on future changes in interest rates.
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30 June 2009 
Group

Within 1 year 
Rm

1-2 years 
Rm

2-5 years 
Rm

Over 5 years 
Rm

Total 
Rm

 Non-current liabilities-debentures  –  –  –  35 225  35 225 

 Interest-bearing borrowings 

 (secured by investment property)  1 566  2 505 2 969 2 858  9 898 

 Non-interest-bearing borrowings 

 (secured by investment property)  96  57  –  –  153 

 Non-interest-bearing borrowings 

 (unsecured)  24  –  –  –  24 

 Linked unitholders for interest and dividends  823  –  –  –  823 

 Trade and other payables  615 – – –  615 

 3 124  2 562  2 969  38 083  46 738 

 

30 June 2009 
Company

Within 1 year 
Rm

1-2 years 
Rm

2-5 years 
Rm

Over 5 years 
Rm

Total 
Rm

 Non-current liabilities-debentures  –  –  – 35 225 35 225

 Interest-bearing borrowings 

 (secured by investment property)  1 566  1 700  1 000  1 378  5 644 

 Non-interest-bearing borrowings 

 (secured by investment property)  96 57  –  –  153 

 Non-interest-bearing borrowings 

 (unsecured) 24  – –  –  24 

 Linked unitholders for interest and dividends  823  –  –  –  823 

 Trade and other payables  250  –  –  –  250 

 2 759  1 757  1 000 36 603 42 119

30 June 2008 
Group

Within 1 year 
Rm

1-2 years 
Rm

2-5 years 
Rm

Over 5 years 
Rm

Total 
Rm

 Non-current liabilities-debentures  –  –  –  32 023  32 023 

 Interest-bearing borrowings 

 (secured by investment property)  –  1 566  5 727  2 118  9 411 

 Non-interest-bearing borrowings 

 (secured by investment property)  – 96 57  –  153 

 Non-interest-bearing borrowings 

 (unsecured)  – 24  –  –  24 

 Linked unitholders for interest and dividends  711  –  –  –  711 

 Trade and other payables  638  –  –  –  638 

 1 349  1 686  5 784  34 141  42 960 

30 June 2008 
Company

Within 1 year 
Rm

1-2 years 
Rm

2-5 years 
Rm

Over 5 years 
Rm

Total 
Rm

 Non-current liabilities-debentures  –  –  –  32 023  32 023 

 Interest-bearing borrowings 

 (secured by investment property)  –  1 566  2 213  1 378  5 157 

 Non-interest-bearing borrowings 

 (secured by investment property)  –  96  57  –  153 

 Non-interest-bearing borrowings 

 (unsecured)  –  24  –  –  24 

 Linked unitholders for interest and dividends  711  –  –  –  711 

 Trade and other payables  323  –  –  –  323 

 1 034  1 686  2 270  33 401  38 391 
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41 Financial risk management (continued)
Cash flows are monitored on a monthly basis to ensure that cash resources 
are adequate to meet the funding requirements of the group. In terms of 
covenants with certain banks, the nominal value of long-term interest-
bearing borrowings may not exceed 50% of the value of non-current assets.

Value of property assets and investments  29 785  28 340 

50% thereof  14 893  14 170 

Nominal value of borrowings utilised at year-end  9 898  9 411 

Potential borrowing capacity  4 995  4 759 

Facilities available in terms of existing agreements at year-end  2 547  245 

Facilities available in terms of agreements concluded after year-end –  3 000 

41.4 Derivatives

Derivative instruments are used to hedge the group’s exposure to any increases 
in interest rates on variable rate loans as well as exposure to foreign exchange 
fluctuations with regards to the acquisition of OIF (note 45). Growthpoint 
acquired 175 000 Yield X future contracts that will terminate on 15 September 
2009, to fix the Rand: AU$ exchange at R6.46 : 1AU$. Swap contracts are 
entered into whereby the group swaps its variable rate obligation for a fixed 
rate obligation. Details of the interest rate swap contracts are as follows:

30 June 2009 
group Financial Institution

Amount 
R’000

Start  
date

End 
date

Pay

Swap 1 Investec  702 500 1-Mar-09 1-Feb-24 15.42%
Swap 2 Investec  702 500 1-Mar-09 1-Feb-11 Jibar
Swap 3 Investec  658 000 31-Dec-07 31-Dec-20 8.47%
Swap 4 RMB  650 000 31-May-07 31-May-19 8.56%
Swap 5 Investec  600 000 1-Aug-11 3-Jul-16 7.56%
Swap 6 Investec  600 000 10-Nov-09 10-Nov-11 9.45%
Swap 7 Investec  500 000 2-Sep-11 1-Sep-17 8.63%
Swap 8 Investec  500 000 2-Sep-11 3-Sep-18 8.61%
Swap 9 ABSA  500 000 30-Jun-08 30-Jun-21 9.45%
Swap 10 Standard Bank  500 000 23-Feb-09 23-Feb-14 Jibar– 1%, floor of 6.92%
Swap 11 Investec  450 000 3-Mar-09 31-May-21 8.46%
Swap 12 Investec  400 000 10-Nov-09 11-Nov-13 9.43%
Swap 13 Investec  366 000 10-Nov-09 10-Nov-14 9.42%
Swap 14 Investec  255 000 2-Aug-10 2-Aug-12 8.53%
Swap 15 Investec  255 000 2-Aug-10 3-Aug-15 8.69%
Swap 16 RMB  250 000 30-Sep-08 30-Sep-18 9.73%
Swap 17 RMB  250 000 31-Dec-08 31-Dec-18 9.68%
Swap 18 Investec  250 000 31-Dec-08 31-Dec-15 8.87%
Swap 19 Investec  250 000 31-Dec-08 31-Dec-16 8.82%
Swap 20 RMB  250 000 31-Mar-09 31-Mar-21 8.92%
Swap 21 RMB  250 000 30-Jun-09 30-Jun-21 8.82%
Swap 22 ABSA  250 000 31-Dec-09 31-Dec-14 8.73%
Swap 23 ABSA  250 000 30-Sep-09 30-Sep-15 8.74%
Swap 24 Investec  200 000 1-Aug-11 28-Nov-14 7.78%
Swap 25 Investec  200 000 10-Nov-09 12-Nov-12 9.43%
Swap 26 Investec  183 750 2-Sep-05 30-Sep-15 8.25%
Swap 27 Investec  67 500 1-Aug-11 31-Aug-13 7.91%
Swap 28 Investec  65 000 1-Aug-11 15-Oct-15 7.89%
Swap 29 Investec  52 645 2-Jan-07 30-Sep-16 8.35%
Swap 30 Investec  51 000 6-Nov-09 31-May-21 8.36%
Swap 31 ABSA  51 000 31-Jul-07 6-Nov-09 8.83%
Swap 32 ABSA  50 000 31-Jul-06 27-Jul-11 8.78%
Swap 33 ABSA  36 175 31-Jul-07 23-Mar-10 11.15%
Swap 34 Investec  20 000 2-Sep-05 30-Sep-15 8.25%
Swap 35 Investec  5 028 2-Jan-07 30-Sep-16 8.35%
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42 capital management
In terms of its articles of association, Growthpoint has unlimited borrowing 
capacity. Growthpoint is funded partly by linked units or owner’s capital and 
partly by external borrowings. The linked units each comprise a share of 
5 cents linked to 10 debentures with a nominal value of R2.50 each.

In terms of various covenants that Growthpoint is committed to in terms 
of its external borrowings, the maximum value of external borrowings as a 
percentage of the value of property assets is 55%. In practice, Growthpoint 
aims to keep gearing levels between 35% and 50% over the long-term.  
At 30 June 2009, the nominal value of borrowings, net of cash, was equal 
to 32.2% (2008: 34.4%) of the value of property assets.

During the year the company raised R1,7 billion of owners’ capital through 
the issue of 128 million new linked units. This was done to partly fund the 
R1,9 billion of acquisitions and developments that were brought onto the 
balance sheet during the year as well as to settle interest-bearing liabilities.

The board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base, comprising its 
unitholders’ interest, so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. It is the group’s 
stated purpose to deliver long-term sustainable growth in distributions per 
unit. At least 99% of net profits, as defined in the debenture trust deed, are 
distributed on a six monthly basis. The board of directors monitors the level 
of distributions to unitholders and ensures compliance with the terms of the 
debenture trust deed and that no profits of a capital nature are distributed. 
There were no changes in the group’s approach to capital management during 
the year. Neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject 
to externally imposed capital requirements.

43 Estimation of fair value
The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in 
estimating the fair values of financial instruments:

Listed property investments

Listed property investments are designated as held at fair value through profit 
or loss financial assets on the basis that these investments are managed 
and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with 
a documented risk management or investment strategy and the quarterly 
reports presented to the board are prepared on this basis.

These assets are valued at the closing quoted market prices of the listed units 
on the balance sheet date.

Trade and other receivables

These are valued at their nominal value (less cumulative impairment losses) 
as the time value of money is immaterial for these current assets. Impairment 
losses are estimated at the year-end by reviewing amounts outstanding and 
assessing the likelihood of recoverability.

Other investments

Investments in subsidaries and the Growthpoint Securitisation Warehouse 
Trust are held at fair value. Changes in the fair values of the individual 
assets and liabilities will impact on the fair value adjustment required for 
investments.

Non-current liabilities (excluding debentures) at fair value

In line with its business model as a property loan stock entity, the group  
relies on long-term debt to fund the acquisition of investment properties.  
The group adopts the fair value model to measure investment properties, 
with fair value adjustments being recorded through profit or loss. In order 
to eliminate any mismatch that would otherwise arise from measuring non-
current liabilities on a different basis, non-current liabilities are also measured 
at fair value through profit or loss. The value of these liabilities is estimated 
using a discounted cash flow analysis. Each future cash flow is discounted 
using the market rate indicated on the interest rate curve (see definition 
below) at the dates when the cash flows will take place.
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2009 Rm

Company
2008 Rm

Group
2009 Rm

Group
2008 Rm

Debentures

Debentures are designated as financial liabilities held at fair value through 
profit or loss. It is believed that this method results in the most relevant 
measure of the debenture liability as it represents the net asset value 
attributable to debenture holders after all other liabilities and tangible assets 
are reflected at fair values. In addition, this method eliminates possible 
measurement inconsistencies that may arise by valuing the debenture liability 
on some other basis. These instruments are measured initially at fair value, 
which is nominal value less debenture discount, and subsequently at fair 
value. Fair value represents the net asset value attributable to debenture 
holders after adjusting all other tangible assets and liabilities (excluding 
goodwill and other intangible assets) to fair value. Until such time as the 
debenture discount is fully amortised, the net change in fair value of the 
assets and liabilities will increase or decrease the carrying amount of the 
debentures excluding intangible assets. Once the debenture discount has 
been fully utilised, any increase in net asset value will increase the reserves 
attributable to ordinary shareholders.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments consist of interest rate swaps and Yield X 
future contracts. Interest rate swaps are valued by discounting future cash 
flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract applying the market 
rate indicated on the interest rate curve (see definition below) at the dates 
when the cash flows will take place. Yield X future contracts are valued by 
applying the Rand : AU$ exchange rate at year-end to the open positions in 
place on contracts entered into.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are valued at their nominal value as the time value 
of money is immaterial for these current liabilities.

Definition of the “interest rate curve”

The interest rate curve is the SA swap curve which represents a benchmark 
interest rate curve for all Jibar-related transactions in the market. Jibar itself 
is a benchmark short-term interest rate and, as such, the swap curve gives 
a representation of future expectations of Jibar. It is constructed using both 
short-dated financial instruments (such as forward rate agreements) as well 
as longer dated instruments (such as swaps) where the movements in the 
curve are reflected through price changes of the underlying instruments.

44 Acquisition of Property Services Businesses 
On 1 July 2007 the group acquired the fund management business and 
property management business and all related activities (Property Services 
Businesses) from Investec Property Group Limited (IPG) and the BEE partners 
for a consideration of R1,5 billion, settled by the issue of 98.3 million 
new linked units

The fair value of the assets and liabilities of the Property Services Businesses 
acquired at the effective date were as follows:

Intangible asset – right to manage property – 1 483   

Equipment – 3

Deferred tax liability – (387)

– 1 099

Cash and cash equivalents acquired – –

– 1 099

Consideration on acquisition: –  (1 547)

– units issued for the acquisition –  (1 542)

– cash outflow on the acquisition – (5)

Goodwill raised – 448
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45 Acquisition of OiF
After the year-end, on 30 July 2009, unitholders in the Australian Stock 
Exchange (ASX) listed Orchard Industrial Property Fund (OIF). OIF voted in 
favour of all the resolutions required to issue 50.1% of the units in OIF to 
Growthpoint for a cash consideration of AU$56 million and to internalise the 
management of the fund. 
OIF unitholders also approved a 13 for 10 rights offer at 16 Australian cents 
per unit, which closes on 15 September 2009, underwritten by Growthpoint. 
Depending on the number of unitholders who follow their rights, Growthpoint 
will have a maximum further commitment of AU$144 million and will own 
between 60% and 78% of OIF. 
OIF was renamed Growthpoint Properties Australia and trades on the ASX 
under the share code GOZ. 
Rationale for investing in Australia
As a result of the global recession and scarcity of funding, the Australian 
listed property market has suffered major write-downs over the last year and 
a half, with most counters trading at market values significantly lower than 
net asset values.
Despite weakening against the US Dollar and other developed world currencies 
in the latter half of 2008, the South African Rand has also remained relatively 
strong compared to the Australian Dollar over the same period. The above 
factors presented a unique opportunity for Growthpoint to make an investment 
in a quality property portfolio in a developed economy at a yield that is at least 
as attractive as similar opportunities in South Africa.
When economic conditions return to normal, it is anticipated that there will be 
a re-rating of the Australian listed property market, which will be to the benefit 
of Growthpoint. Exposure to a developed world currency will also provide 
Rand-hedge benefits.
Reasons for investing in OiF
OIF owns 23 industrial properties, which are well located in the major 
metropolitan areas of Australia, valued at AU$643 million at 30 June 2009. 
68% of net income is earned from properties leased to Woolworths, Australia’s 
premier retailer. The weighted lease expiry period is 11 years. The forecast 
distribution of GOZ (which was reviewed by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Australia) to 30 June 2010 is expected to be 14 Australian cents per unit.
The investment is not expected to have a material effect on Growthpoint’s 
distributions for the year to 30 June 2010.
A key aspect of the transaction was the internalisation of management and 
a number of key staff from the existing external fund manager have been 
recruited to run the company. 
As and when opportunities are available, it is the intention to grow GOZ and 
diversify it by acquiring office and retail properties that fit Growthpoint’s 
investment criteria.
The estimated value of the assets and liabilities of OIF acquired (based on 
audited results at 30 June 2009) are as follows:

2009 
AU$m

2009
Rm

2008
Rm

Investment property 643  4 180 –

Trade and other receivables 22  143 –

Cash and cash equivalents 7  46 –

Interest-bearing borrowings (506)  (3 289) –

Derivatives (7)  (46) –

Trade and other payables (43)  (280) –

Net asset value 116 754 –

50.1% of net asset value obtained 
(refer assumptions below) 58 377 –

Consideration – financed by interest-bearing borrowings 56 364 –

Net asset value exceeding consideration 2  13 –

Assumptions:

The exchange rate used in the translation of the assets and liabilities acquired 
as well as the consideration paid was R6.50: AU$1

The purchase price allocation to determine the fair value of the assets and 
liabilities must still be performed.
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Property Portfolio
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Number of 
properties

GLA 
m2

Vacancy 
m2

Vacancy
%

Value
Rm

Value/m2

(excl bulk)
Rands

Ave. gross 
rental 
per m2

Rands

Forward 
yield

%

OFFICE PORTFOLIO

High Rise Offices: Investec  2  83 781  - -  1 891.9  22 582  188.74 10.1%

High Rise Offices  17 238 500  37 778 15.8%  1 983.7  8 457  75.83 8.7%

Low Rise Offices  60 336 732  17 523 5.2% 3 514.3  10 388  92.00 9.3%

Office Parks  47 446 357  45 793 10.3% 3 974.1  8 920  84.00 8.9%

Office/Warehouse  1  63 388  6 605 10.4%  361.8  5 445  54.30 9.2%

Mixed use: Office and Retail  1  6 560  1 591 24.3%  74.6  11 375  133.71 10.7%

Hotels  1  19 233  - -  128.8  6 695  59.77 9.5%

Hospitals  1  14 022  - -  263.8  18 812  159.24 9.2%

Other  8  22 218  - -  182.5  8 216  129.31  - 

Total Office  138 1 230 791  109 290 8.9%  12 375.5  9 971  92.40 9.1%

RETAIL PORTFOLIO

Regional Shopping Centres  12  492 110  7 751 1.6%  6,187.1  12 573  106.21 8.4%

Community Shopping Centres  14  309 671  12 052 3.9%  2,877.1  9 291  92.05 9.3%

Neighbourhood Shopping Centres  20  145 802  10 538 7.2%  929.8  6 377  74.79 9.3%

Retail Warehouses  1  3 914  - -  16.1  4 104  27.16 6.3%

Speciality Centres  2  13 681  115 0.8%  125.8  9 194  90.00 9.7%

Vacant Land and Bare Dominiums  5  560  - -  16.6  -  -  - 

Total Retail  54 965 738  30 456 3.2%  10 152.5  10 496  96.57 8.7%

INDUSTRIAL PORTFOLIO

Warehousing  117  1 102 461  17 872 1.6%  2,473.1  2 229  20.99 10.4%

Industrial Parks  8  306 130  19 610 6.4%  970.4  2 433  27.53 10.4%

Retail Warehousing  15  119 430  7 338 6.1%  429.8  3 583  40.20 11.0%

Motor-related Outlets  16  66 665  7 377 11.1%  391.2  5 689  67.38 10.0%

Mini Units  21  178 433  17 552 9.8%  579.6  3 248  37.25 9.7%

Midi Units  7  78 349  3 819 4.9%  238.6  3 014  35.17 10.0%

Maxi Units  2  42 427  – –  111.5  2 628  25.46 10.6%

Low Grade Industrial  26  223 812  3 948 1.8%  431.0  1 790  19.87 9.6%

High-Tech Industrial  12  93 502  9 418 10.1%  378.4  3 984  39.47 10.3%

High Grade Industrial  21  164 894  18 318 11.1%  668.4  4 054  32.02 9.2%

Vacant Land  1 – – –  10.9 – – –

Total Industrial  246 2 376 103  105 252 4.4%  6 682.9  2 684  26.96 10.2%

Total Growthpoint  438 4 572 632 244 998 5.4%  29 210.9  6 286  58.95 9.2%

 
Gross rental /m2 per month is the weighted average actual gross rental, consisting of net rental, operating cost recoveries and recovery 
of assesment rates.

Forward yield is the budgeted net income for the year to 30 June 2010 as a percentage of the property value.

The yield percentages above have not been reviewed or reported on by Growthpoint’s auditors.

03 
Property Portfolio 
As at 30 June 2009
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Property name Location

GLA
June 09 

m2
Vacancy % 

June 09

June 09 
value 

Rm

Value per m2 
(excl land) 

Rands

High Rise Offices: Investec  83 781 -  1 891.9 22 582 

1 Investec Sandton Sandton 70 945 -  1 595.0 22 482 

2 Investec Cape Town CBD, Cape Town 12 836 -  296.9 23 132 

High Rise Offices  238 500 15.8%  1 983.7 8 457 

1 11 Adderley CBD, Cape Town 21 558 92.1%  144.8 6 716 

2 115 Paul Kruger CBD, Pretoria 4 079 -  22.4 5 481 

3 174 Visagie Street CBD, Pretoria 13 780 14.6%  47.7 3 463 

4 33 Bree Street & 30 Waterkant CBD, Cape Town 12 382 4.0%  146.3 11 812 

5 Aventis Midrand, Johannesburg 7 909 -  82.5 10 427 

6 De Waterkant Centre Greenpoint, Cape Town 5 478 1.5%  57.2 10 443 

7 Fairview Office Park Port Elizabeth 16 769 5.5%  119.0 7 096 

8 Forum Building CBD, Pretoria 35 345 -  175.0 4 951 

9 Fredman Tower Sandton 15 004 8.2%  190.7 12 710 

10 Infotech Hatfield, Pretoria 10 189 6.1%  60.0 5 888 

11 Meersig Centurion, Pretoria 5 587 -  62.0 11 105 

12 Metropark CBD, Pretoria 19 143 16.9%  77.6 4 054 

13 Montclare Place Claremont, Cape Town 29 446 5.7%  378.3 12 849 

14 Newlands on Main Claremont, Cape Town 12 756 8.0%  133.0 10 426 

15 Paramount Place Claremont, Cape Town 11 959 -  125.0 10 453 

16 Rosebank College House CBD, Cape Town 5 406 -  35.1 6 492 

17 The Terraces CBD, Cape Town 11 710 6.4%  127.1 10 851 

Low Rise Offices  336 732 5.2%  3 514.3 10 388 

1 103 Central Street Houghton, Johannesburg 2 362 -  22.4 9 471 

2 140 Daisy Street Sandton 2 240 100.0%  25.9 11 569 

3 160 Jan Smuts Rosebank, Johannesburg 15 411 7.2%  115.5 7 493 

4 166 Jan Smuts Rosebank, Johannesburg 3 591 19.3%  31.7 8 837 

5 24 Peter Place Lyme Park, Sandton 4 306 -  40.1 9 308 

6 25 Rudd Illovo, Johannesburg 3 233 7.5%  33.8 10 451 

7 295 Florida Road Morningside, Durban 2 553 0.5%  22.2 8 700 

8 5 Sturdee Rosebank, Johannesburg 3 640 1.9%  29.7 8 172 

9 6 Georgian Crescent Bryanston, Sandton 897 -  8.3 9 280 

10 61 Central Houghton, Johannesburg 3 607 -  33.3 9 245 

11 68 Oak Avenue Centurion, Pretoria 4 329 -  41.9 9 689 

12 7 Sturdee Avenue Rosebank, Johannesburg 3 674 -  50.7 13 800 

13 70 Grayston Sandton 3 901 -  46.4 11 885 

14 ABSA Bruma Bruma Lake, Johannesburg 2 150 -  20.3 9 454 

15 ABSA Goodwood Goodwood, Cape Town 1 134 -  10.1 8 907 

16 ABSA Midrand Midrand 11 408 -  117.7 10 320 

17 ABSA Cash Centre Westville 2 359 -  23.3 9 889 

18 ADT House Goodwood, Cape Town 4 797 0.7%  32.0 6 671 

19 Autopage Midrand 8 244 -  79.8 9 681 

20 BCX - Faerie Glen Faerie Glen, Pretoria 5 044 -  56.9 11 286 

21 BCX - Port Elizabeth Port Elizabeth 5 327 37.4%  39.0 7 329 

22 Brookfield Office Park Brooklyn, Pretoria 7 365 4.3%  68.1 9 243 

23 City Varsity Gardens, Cape Town 1 750 -  14.6 8 318 

24 Cowey Park Durban 7 065 11.6%  63.7 9 009 

25 Devcon Place Rivonia, Sandton 3 620 10.4%  31.6 8 725 

26 Dunkeld Office Park Dunkeld West, Johannesburg 2 116 1.6%  18.6 8 770 

27 EDS Bedfordview Bedfordview 4 337 -  36.7 8 469 
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Property name Location

GLA
June 09 

m2
Vacancy % 

June 09

June 09 
value 

Rm

Value per m2 
(excl land) 

Rands

28 Emerson Energy Systems Sunninghill, Sandton 1 884 -  15.3 8 129 

29 Endemol Productions Lonehill, Sandton 1 909 -  17.9 9 390 

30 Engen House Parktown, Johannesburg 7 501 -  65.6 8 741 

31 Fedics Rosebank, Johannesburg 1 988 -  23.7 11 910 

32 Gestetner Bedfordview, Johannesburg 4 438 -  49.6 11 187 

33 Greenacres Office Park Newton Park, Port Elizabeth 12 238 8.4%  88.1 7 196 

34 Grosvenor Corner Parktown North, Johannesburg 10 293 -  93.8 9 111 

35 Homechoice Claremont, Cape Town 4 042 71.9%  33.4 8 273 

36 Homestead Place Rivonia, Sandton 5 380 -  55.4 10 296 

37 Honeywell Midrand 3 749 -  28.0 7 469 

38 HP Autumn Road Rivonia, Sandton 9 630 -  85.2 8 850 

39 IBM Sandton 14 077 -  168.4 11 963 

40 Landbank Brooklyn, Pretoria 4 713 -  62.7 13 296 

41 Lincoln on the Lake Umhlanga, Durban development 87.0%  39.0 development

42 Longkloof Studios Gardens, Cape Town 11 635 7.4%  124.0 10 655 

43 Lumley House Parktown North, Johannesburg 2 742 15.4%  24.1 8 777 

44 M & R Bedfordview Bedfordview 1 668 100.0%  13.7 8 223 

45 Meerlus Centurion, Pretoria 5 628 24.7%  38.3 6 804 

46 MLT House Gardens, Cape Town 1 239 -  7.2 5 773 

47 MTN Mount Edgecombe Mount Edgecombe, Durban 7 013 -  99.7 14 217 

48 N1 Medical Chambers Goodwood, Cape Town 4 450 1.4%  46.2 10 387 

49 Nu Payment Solutions Meyersdal, Johannesburg 1 206 -  11.0 9 103 

50 Primegro Place Illovo, Sandton 3 557 -  36.5 10 247 

51 PWC Paarl Paarl, Cape Town 1 563 -  17.5 11 179 

52 Sony House Dunkeld West, Johannesburg 1 445 -  14.9 10 343 

53 Sovereign Quay Greenpoint, Cape Town 7 538 7.7%  77.2 10 242 

54 St Davids Place Parktown, Johannesburg 11 621 5.4%  62.2 5 356 

55 Sunset Boulevard George 10 352 -  49.2 4 751 

56 The Avalon Gardens, Cape Town 4 762 1.1%  34.2 7 180 

57 The Boulevard Westville, Durban 2 576 -  36.9 14 325 

58 The District Woodstock, Cape Town 18 413 31.8%  189.0 10 264 

59 The Place Sandton 33 370 0.1%  663.7 19 889 

60 The Ridge Parktown, Johannesburg 3 652 -  28.4 7 779 

Office Parks  446 357 10.3%  3 974.1 8 920 

1 1 Montgomery Mount Edgecombe, Durban 10 376 -  95.5 9 204 

2 257 Oxford Rd Illovo, Sandton 2 853 0.5%  25.1 8 813 

3 9 Frosterley La Lucia, Durban 1 169 -  9.9 8 464 

4 ABSA Frosterley La Lucia, Durban 3 167 -  41.7 13 160 

5 BCX - Century City Milnerton, Cape Town 11 204 8.5%  136.1 12 147 

6 BCX - Durban 1 La Lucia Ridge, Durban 2 509 -  26.5 10 543 

7 BCX - Durban 2 La Lucia Ridge, Durban 4 906 -  55.6 11 330 

8 BCX - Durban 3 La Lucia Ridge, Durban 939 -  10.9 11 587 

9 BCX - Midrand ABC Midrand 5 459 -  45.7 8 374 

10 BCX - Midrand DQE Midrand 12 305 -  104.5 8 496 

11 Belmont Towers Rondebosch, Cape Town 14 447 -  118.7 8 219 

12 Belvedere Office Park Bellville, Cape Town 5 767 2.5%  52.0 9 016 

13 Central Park Midrand 34 403 10.2%  235.9 6 856 

14 Chiselhurston Chiselhurston, Sandton 2 177 -  19.1 8 783 

15 Constantia Office Park Roodepoort 70 793 20.1%  588.9 8 318 
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16 Ditsela Hatfield, Pretoria 2 876 -  28.6 9 938 

17 The Crescent Sunninghill, Sandton 3 457 -  41.1 11 883 

18 Edgecombe Office Park Umhlanga, Durban 4 381 -  38.8 8 857 

19 Eton Office Park Bryanston, Johannesburg 8 710 0.5%  81.5 9 353 

20 Fountain Grove Hyde Park, Johannesburg 2 030 -  11.6 5 716 

21 Fourways Golf Park (Oakhill) Fourways, Randburg 1 361 -  11.3 8 333 

22 Galileo House Bruma, Johannesburg 1 637 -  12.8 7 801 

23 Gillooly's View Bedfordview, Johannesburg 19 364 37.2%  152.7 7 887 

24 Grayston Office Park Sandton 13 436 3.2%  141.5 10 532 

25 Hatfield Gardens Hatfield, Pretoria 25 203 -  232.4 9 221 

26 Healthcare Park Woodmead 13 079 0.2%  95.9 7 333 

27 Homestead Park Rivonia, Sandton 8 693 15.5%  53.5 6 158 

28 Kirstenhof Midrand, Johannesburg 3 074 -  24.4 7 952 

29 La Rocca Bryanston 2 940 16.5%  24.8 8 430 

30 Lakeside Office Park Centurion, Pretoria 3 212 32.7%  20.3 6 327 

31 Morningside Close Morningside, Bryanston 4 235 7.4%  38.2 9 016 

32 Ogilvy Bryanston 7 986 -  97.6 12 223 

33 Pavilion Office Park Rivonia, Sandton 3 254 10.7%  19.3 5 931 

34 Pinewood Office Park Woodmead, Sandton 6 137 -  50.6 8 251 

35 Riverpark Mowbray, Cape Town 12 513 6.1%  149.7 11 963 

36 Rosebank Office Park Parktown North, Johannesburg 3 808 0.6%  27.4 7 194 

37 Sandhurst B & C Sandton 0 0.0%  35.3 0 

38 Sandton Close 1 Sandton 12 671 19.9%  132.8 10 481 

39 Sandton Close 2 Sandton 12 500 35.8%  77.0 6 159 

40 St Peters Square Fourways, Sandton 1 947 -  13.8 7 069 

41 Standard Bank U.R. Umhlanga Ridge, Durban 3 287 -  35.2 10 702 

42 Sunnyside Ridge Office Park Parktown, Johannesburg 28 091 2.4%  257.4 9 163 

43 The Estuaries Milnerton, Cape Town 11 322 57.9%  118.8 10 492 

44 The Oval Bryanston, Sandton 10 029 2.9%  86.7 8 640 

45 The Oval (Newlands) Newlands, Cape Town 7 659 4.7%  102.3 13 358 

46 Tulbach Park Colbyn, Pretoria 16 770 -  95.4 5 691 

47 Waterfall Park Midrand, Johannesburg 8 221 -  99.3 12 080 
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Office/Warehouse  63 388 10.4%  361.8 5 445 

1 Growthpoint Business Park Midrand 63 388 10.4%  361.8 5 445 

Mixed use: Office and Retail  6 560 24.3%  74.6 11 375 

1 Menlyn Piazza Menlyn, Pretoria 6 560 24.3%  74.6 11 375 

Hotels  19 233 -  128.8 6 695 

1 Holiday Inn Durban 19 233 -  128.8 6 695 

Hospitals  14 022 -  263.8 18 812 

1 N1 City Hospital Goodwood, Cape Town 14 022 -  263.8 18 812 

Bare Dominium Properties  22 218 -  131.6 5 924 

1 540 Pretorius St CBD, Pretoria 6 331 -  -  0 

2 CDE Houghton Houghton, Johannesburg 2 000 -  15.7 7 850 

3 Ernst & Young Illovo, Johannesburg 11 013 -  106.0 9 625 

4 Merck Linbro Park, Johannesburg 2 874 -  9.9 3 455 

Vacant Land  -  50.9 

1 Mayfair on the Lake Umhlanga, Durban 0  11.5 Land

2 The Boulevard Umhlanga Umhlanga, Durban 0  19.6 Land

3 The Worx Zone 1, Uhmlanga Umhlanga, Durban 0  9.9 Land 

4 The Worx Zone 2, Uhmlanga Umhlanga, Durban 0  9.9 Land 

138 TOTAL OFFICE 1 230 791 8.9%  12 375.5 9 971 

LEASE EXPIRy AS AT 30 jUNE 2009

VACANCY MoNTHLY 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2014+

% 8.9 5.6 12.3 16.1 18.8 9.3 10.9 18.1

% 8.0 4.7 11.8 13.0 18.2 10.0 9.1 25.2
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Regional Shopping Centres 492 110 1.6%  6 187.1 12 573 

1 Alberton City (35.7143%) Alberton 17 277 3.2%  243.8 14 113 

2 Brooklyn Mall Brooklyn, Pretoria 56 986 2.5%  1 096.7 19 244 

3 Game City Greyville, Durban 41 044 0.5%  158.3 3 857 

4 Kolonnade (50%) Montana Park, Pretoria 34 268 0.8%  565.2 16 494 

5 La Lucia Mall La Lucia, Durban 36 143 3.3%  581.2 16 080 

6 Lakeside Mall (87.4%) Benoni 52 646 1.8%  655.5 12 451 

7 Longbeach Noordhoek, Cape Town 30 563 2.1%  304.7 9 971 

8 Northgate (50%) North Riding, Johannesburg 45 376 1.1%  536.2 11 816 

9 River Square Centre Three Rivers, Vereeniging 38 942 2.3%  436.0 11 196 

10 The Avenues Springs 36 776 1.5%  250.0 6 798 

11 Waterfall Mall Rustenburg 49 749 0.9%  848.7 17 061 

12 Woodmead Retail Woodmead, Johannesburg 52 340 0.2%  510.8 9 760 

Community Shopping Centres 309 671 3.9%  2 877.1 9 291 

1 Arcadia Centre Arcadia, Pretoria 25 271 11.5%  61.1 2 419 

2 Beacon Bay Beacon Bay, East London 26 861 -  210.0 7 818 

3 Centurion South Lake 1 & 2 Centurion, Pretoria 13 087 0.9%  76.8 5 870 

4 City Mall - Klerksdorp Klerksdorp 24 761 4.1%  279.8 11 298 

5 Constantia Village Constantia, Cape Town 20 396 -  481.5 23 607 

6 Golden Acre CBD, Cape Town 33 739 2.1%  347.2 10 292 

7 Goodwood Mall Goodwood, Cape Town 13 622 0.7%  56.1 4 118 

8 Gustav Voigts Windhoek, Namibia 24 714 3.4%  198.9 8 049 

9 Hatfield Plaza Hatfield, Pretoria 19 050 3.5%  215.8 11 329 

10 Mark Park Vereeniging 21 560 4.2%  126.1 5 850 

11 Meadowdale Value Centre Germiston 18 340 7.1%  80.7 4 400 

12 Middestad Mall Belville, Cape Town 20 200 8.9%  171.0 8 465 

13 Picbel CBD, Cape Town 14 040 11.9%  135.5 9 648 

14 Walmer Walmer Park, Port Elizabeth 34 030 0.1%  436.6 12 828 

Neighbourhood Shopping Centres 145 802 7.2%  929.8 6 377 

1 Atlasville Atlasville, Boksburg 9 450 5.6%  49.6 5 244 

2 Blackheath Blackheath, Randburg 4 312 17.3%  34.4 7 978 

3 Bronkhorstspruit Bronkhorstspruit 6 548 2.9%  32.6 4 971 

4 Campus Building Hatfield, Pretoria 3 240 -  33.7 10 398 

5 Grand Parade Centre CBD, Cape Town 10 624 2.3%  71.9 6 772 

6 Hatfield Mall Hatfield, Pretoria 6 277 7.9%  53.6 8 540 

7 Heritage Market Hillcrest, Durban 14 227 5.6%  101.0 7 099 

8 Lighthouse Mall Umhlanga Rocks, Durban 8 278 8.0%  81.8 9 882 

9 Norkem Mall Norkem Park, Kempton Park 9 375 9.4%  56.6 6 032 

10 Northcliff Shopping Centre Northcliff, Johannesburg 5 263 22.1%  32.2 6 125 

11 OK Empangeni Empangeni, Durban 10 570 3.4%  44.5 4 211 

12 Otjiwarongo Otjiwarongo, Namibia 5 770 4.5%  22.5 3 899 

13 Palm Springs Springs 14 269 14.1%  61.5 4 313 

14 Ruimsig Boulevard Roodepoort 11 189 6.3%  62.6 5 595 

15 Sportsmans Warehouse Belville, Cape Town 3 503 -  33.3 9 517 

16 Standard Plaza Hatfield, Pretoria 3 175 2.3%  25.7 8 092 

17 Stanger Stanger, Durban 3 188 -  24.8 7 790 

18 The Bridge CBD, Johannesburg 8 673 6.4%  68.2 7 858 

19 The Gallery Milnerton, Cape Town 5 307 8.0%  25.3 4 767 

20 Welkom Retail Welkom 2 564 17.6%  14.0 5 466 
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Retail Warehouses 3 914 -  16.1 4 104 

1 Amrel Alberton Alberton 3 914 -  16.1 4 104 

Speciality Centres 13 681 0.8%  125.8 9 194 

1 Virgin Active Three Rivers, Vereeniging 3 250 -  17.2 5 286 

2 Waterfall Value Mart Rustenburg 10 431 1.1%  108.6 10 412 

Vacant Land 560  16.6 _ 

1 Erlank (vacant land) Brooklyn, Pretoria 0  7.5 Vacant land

2 River House Three Rivers, Vereeniging 560  2.9 House

3 Waterfall Cashan (vacant land) Rustenburg 0  6.2 Vacant land

Bare Dominiums 0  -  

1 Edgars - Bloemfontein Bloemfontein 0  -  _ 

2 Jet - Bloemfontein Bloemfontein 0  -  _ 

54 TOTAL RETAIL 965 738 3.2%  10 152.5 10 496 

LEASE EXPIRy AS AT 30 jUNE 2009

VACANCY MoNTHLY 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2014+

% 3.2 2.3 16.1 17.3 11.2 14.1 15.7 20.1

% 2.7 1.7 16.9 20.4 13.9 16.1 15.6 12.7
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Warehousing 1 102 461 1.6% 2 473.1 2 229 

1 10 Richard Carte Road Mobeni, Durban 19 578 - 71.4 3 650 

2 226 Brakpan Road (Clover) Boksburg 48 043 3.5% 112.6 2 344 

3 23 Herman Road Meadowdale, Germiston 3 514 - 16.1 4 582 

4 ADT Styline Pinetown, Durban 3 410 - 15.4 4 516 

5 Aeroton 7 of 17 Aeroton, Johannesburg 3 247 - 5.5 1 707 

6 African Gabions Mahogany Ridge, Durban 5 314 - 21.1 3 974 

7 Afship Isando, Kempton Park 1 917 - 6.4 3 318 

8 Alcom Center Wynberg, Johannesburg 5 501 14.6% 13.1 2 389 

9 Alrode 242 Alrode, Alberton 3 447 - 6.5 1 878 

10 Alrode 706 Alrode, Alberton 7 045 - 16.4 2 333 

11 Alrode Erf 34 Alrode, Alberton 7 491 - 11.2 1 495 

12 Alternator Montague Gardens, Cape Town 8 752 - 26.6 3 040 

13 Astron Denver, Johannesburg 12 313 - 32.9 2 488 

14 Avnett Kopp Kramerville, Johannesburg 4 633 - 26.2 5 644 

15 Belgrade Airport Industrial, Kempton Park 6 909 - 24.7 3 579 

16 Bison Pretoria West, Pretoria 4 356 - 11.0 2 516 

17 Boston Circle Airport Industrial, Cape Town 7 725 40.3% 21.9 2 833 

18 Bunkers Hill Isipingo, Durban 10 032 - 40.3 4 022 

19 Burghers East London 3 972 - 9.2 2 252 

20 Chadwick Wynberg, Sandton 1 256 - 5.2 1 337 

21 Chain Montague Gardens, Cape Town 12 698 - 31.7 2 497 

22 Chemserve Randjespark, Midrand 9 445 - 36.8 3 895 

23 Clarens Eastgate, Sandton 1 195 - 4.0 3 320 

24 Covora Jet Park, Boksburg 5 597 - 16.1 2 872 

25 DCD Dorbyl Boksburg Boksburg 39 601 - 40.0 1 009 

26 DCD Dorbyl Duncanville Vereeniging 32 651 - 22.9 700 

27 DCD Dorbyl Newcastle Newcastle 22 269 - 16.2 680 

28 Denmaree Denver, Johannesburg 5 500 - 9.0 1 630 

29 Dominic Corner Boksburg 7 737 - 17.9 2 060 

30 Elevation Aeroport, Kempton Park 2 246 - 9.4 4 190 

31 Elvan Fishers Hill, Germiston 16 024 - 45.2 2 820 

32 Engine Montague Gardens, Cape Town 1 730 - 4.8 2 749 

33 Epping 1 Epping Industria, Cape Town 1 835 - 3.6 1 953 

34 Epping 2 Epping Industria, Cape Town 7 385 - 15.2 2 053 

35 Epping 3 Epping Industria, Cape Town 2 962 - 5.6 1 875 

36 Epping 4 Epping Industria, Cape Town 2 345 - 4.6 1 943 

37 Epping 6 Epping Industria, Cape Town 1 317 - 2.5 1 930 

38 Equitable Florida, Roodepoort 2 273 100.0% 6.3 2 772 

39 Eskom Road New Germany 6 569 - 21.2 3 230 

40 Fitzmaurice Epping Industria, Cape Town 37 519 - 67.0 1 785 

41 Fleming Meadowdale ext 5, Germiston 1 390 - 5.9 4 232 

42 Foreshore Maydon Wharf, Durban 13 006 - 19.4 1 493 

43 Fourwinds Montague Gardens, Cape Town 4 618 - 15.8 3 416 

44 Friedlander Stormill, Roodepoort 18 922 - 26.9 1 422 

45 Garfield Alberton 7 806 - 13.4 1 720 

46 Gemini Frankenwald, Sandton 1 431 - 8.2 5 720 

47 Gewel Isando, Kempton Park 2 199 - 7.5 3 404 

48 Gillits Road Industrial Park Pinetown, Durban 19 629 - 44.8 2 281 
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49 GKN Chep Durban 14 156 - 20.3 1 436 

50 Global Isando, Kempton Park 8 327 - 33.1 3 971 

51 Goodenough Epping, Cape Town 8 526 - 19.1 2 236 

52 Goodrich Prospecton, Durban 5 864 - 15.9 2 703 

53 Greystone Heliport Glen Anil, Durban 6 784 - 17.4 2 569 

54 Gundle Meadowbrook, Germiston 14 720 - 37.7 2 559 

55 Hawland Midrand 5 252 - 18.4 3 498 

56 Hewitt Epping, Cape Town 7 031 - 16.2 2 297 

57 Hulley Isando, Kempton Park 3 264 - 11.5 3 529 

58 Imperial Germiston South, Germiston 27 696 - 51.5 1 859 

59 Independence Square Ottery, Cape Town 10 830 - 22.4 2 071 

60 Isowrench Isando, Kempton Park 4 078 - 22.7 5 573 

61 JDG Trading Roodekop, Germiston 33 139 - 26.9 813 

62 Kelsteel Spartan, Kempton Park 9 119 - 16.9 1 853 

63 Kuhne & Nagel Aiport Industria, Cape Town 2 941 - 10.2 3 451 

64 Kulingile Isando, Germiston 49 000 - 100.8 2 056 

65 Kwaford New Brighton, Port Elizabeth 10 234 23.2% 24.9 2 436 

66 Laser Cape Town Erf 32549 Epping 2, Cape Town 7 071 - 20.6 2 911 

67 Laser Clayville Erf 1007 Clayville, Midrand 9 645 - 23.3 2 413 

68 Laser Commercial Erf 2 & 3 Clayville, Midrand 2 531 - 6.6 2 610 

69 Laser Commercial Erf 64 Clayville, Midrand 5 520 - 13.4 2 420 

70 Laser Commercial Erf 65 Clayville, Midrand 5 310 - 13.7 2 573 

71 Laser Isipingo Erf 3686 Durban 6 881 - 29.5 4 292 

72 Laser Kimberley Erf 12802 Kimberley 975 - 1.7 1 734 

73 Laser New Brighton 66 Epping Industria, Port Elizabeth 4 041 - 9.4 2 324 

74 Laser Silvertondale Erf 203 Silvertondale, Pretoria 2 085 - 5.6 2 706 

75 Loper Kempton Park 3 845 46.8% 14.7 3 833 

76 Low Cost Marketing Sunnyrock Ext 4, Germiston 3 017 - 12.1 3 994 

77 Luxor Boksburg 8 851 - 25.0 2 825 

78 Mandy Road Reuven, Johannesburg 15 611 - 27.1 1 738 

79 Meadowbrook Meadowbrook, Germiston 13 712 - 33.2 2 419 

80 Metkor Umbilo, Durban 21 442 - 50.2 2 340 

81 Metprop Cape Epping Industrial Township, Cape Town 12 541 - 16.0 1 278 

82 Montani Wynberg, Johannesburg 12 143 35.2% 14.4 1 188 

83 Moorsom Epping, Cape Town 16 808 - 30.9 1 841 

84 Neon Fulcom Park, Springs 10 927 - 12.7 1 158 

85 Newmarket Industrial Alrode, Alberton 34 075 - 70.1 2 014 

86 Novex Kramerville, Sandton 3 496 - 11.5 3 297 

87 Nuffield Nuffield, Springs 10 514 - 12.8 1 219 

88 OK Zandfontein Zandfontein, Johannesburg 18 457 - 38.7 2 097 

89 Olympic Parow, Cape Town 10 600 - 19.8 1 866 

90 Osram Randjespark, Midrand 6 155 - 19.9 3 231 

91 Penraz Industria, Johannesburg 19 762 - 31.5 1 593 

92 Pick ‘n Pay Distribution Centre Mahogany Ridge, Durban 12 996 - 41.7 3 210 

93 Portion 35 Alrode Alrode, Alberton 10 333 - 19.0 1 835 

94 Premier Equipment Boksburg 12 436 - 42.4 3 413 

95 Prolecon Prolecon, Johannesburg 19 779 - 35.5 1 795 

96 Propower Parow, Cape Town 6 418 - 18.7 2 916 

97 Protrans Jet Park, Boksburg 5 439 - 16.3 3 001 
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98 PS Property Boksburg North, Boksburg 6 600 - 16.6 2 512 

99 Redwood Roodekop, Alberton 16 645 - 34.1 2 048 

100 Rittel City Deep, Johannesburg 4 053 - 9.5 2 355 

101 Salmart Alrode, Alberton 3 317 - 6.2 1 873 

102 Sarmcol Amalgam, Johannesburg 2 705 - 7.7 2 832 

103 Seaview Durban 8 736 - 18.2 2 083 

104 Sebenza 137 Sebenza, Edenvale 2 597 - 8.3 3 178 

105 Serenade Elandsfontein, Boksburg 3 449 - 9.5 2 741 

106 Sheidan Waltloo, Pretoria 569 100.0% 4.7 – 

107 Sky Park Airport Airport Industria, Cape Town 2 067 - 4.6 2 239 

108 Sofia Spartan Ext 2, Kempton Park 2 963 27.5% 12.6 4 251 

109 Vereeninging Rd 5 Alrode, Alberton 5 486 3.1% 10.0 1 832 

110 Vereeninging St 36 Alrode, Alberton 4 962 - 8.6 1 733 

111 Vinimark Bldg - Linbro Park Linbro Park, Midrand 2 800 - 14.9 5 335 

112 Vintonia Vintonia Ext 2, Nelspruit 2 910 - 11.0 3 796 

113 Wasteman Airport Airport Industria, Cape Town 4 975 - 20.4 4 099 

114 Watt Meadowdale Ext 1, Germiston 2 841 - 11.7 4 112 

115 Westmead Factory Westmead, Durban 4 300 - 14.9 3 476 

116 Whitworth Heriotdale Ext 8, Johannesburg 3 197 - 8.9 2 773 

117 Wingfield Jet Park, Boksburg 6 558 - 21.2 3 235 

Industrial Parks 306 130 6.4% 970.4 2 433 

1 Central Park Elsiesrivier, Cape Town 49 135 1.1% 122.5 2 493 

2 Gold Reef Park Booysens Reserve, Johannesburg 19 726 17.2% 47.5 2 408 

3 Growthpoint Industrial Estate Meadowdale, Germiston 29 195 - 326.6 3 952 

4 Hilltop Industrial Estate Elandsfontein, Germiston 69 129 8.3% 162.5 2 145 

5 Omni Park Aeroton, Johannesburg 40 393 16.4% 85.6 2 119 

6 Pine Industrial Park New Germany, Durban 39 620 4.3% 86.9 2 194 

7 Route 24 Meadowdale, Germiston 23 128 7.0% 70.9 3 065 

8 Runway Park Mobeni, Durban 35 804 - 67.9 1 897 

Retail Warehousing 119 430 6.1% 429.8 3 583 

1 Builders Market Middelburg 12 973 - 33.5 2 586 

2 Commercial City Strijdom Park, Sandton 13 864 13.1% 70.8 5 107 

3 Epping 5 Epping Industria, Cape Town 2 594 - 5.6 2 146 

4 Fountains Motown Pretoria 11 951 5.9% 59.3 4 964 

5 Gateway Alberton 5 997 12.7% 26.9 4 485 

6 Greenhills Centre Elandsfontein, Germiston 1 860 - 11.3 6 089 

7 Ilnov East London 9 427 - 22.7 2 409 

8 Isipingo 2257 Prospecton, Durban 5 769 - 13.9 2 407 

9 M1 Place Eastgate, Sandton 12 732 - 36.1 2 837 

10 Meadowdale Meadowdale, Germiston 15 139 8.6% 74.8 4 940 

11 Metro Cash and Carry - East London East London 6 331 - 21.6 3 096 

12 Metro Cash and Carry - Krugersdorp Krugersdorp 4 501 - 13.9 3 099 

13 Metro Cash and Carry - VanderBijl Vanderbijlpark 3 960 - 6.0 1 524 

14 Ormonde Ormonde Ext 19, Johannesburg 2 762 100.0% 10.6 3 832 

15 Trador Witbank 9 570 - 22.8 2 380 

Motor-related Outlets 66 665 11.1% 391.2 5 689 

1 Acacia - Scania Rosslyn Rosslyn, Pretoria 3 414 - 20.6 6 036 

2 Bardene Bardene, Boksburg 1 260 - 10.5 8 333 

3 Bonanza Fordsburg, Johannesburg 2 002 - 13.2 6 595 
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4 Cornick Midrand 3 948 100.0% 14.4 3 647 

5 Ellenby Motors Hatfield, Pretoria 5 542 - 45.5 8 217 

6 Heron Booysens, Johannesburg 2 252 - 18.4 8 187 

7 Kentyre Randburg 2 306 - 17.2 7 464 

8 Midas Meadowdale Meadowdale, Germiston 18 981 - 105.6 5 561 

9 Middelbeek Middleburg 3 428 100.0% 5.4 1 583 

10 N1 Tyre N1 City, Cape Town 1 345 - 11.8 8 795 

11 Newton Park Newton Park, Port Elizabeth 947 - 7.3 7 716 

12 Norbertville Robertville, Roodepoort 5 061 - 16.0 3 158 

13 Pasteur Northcliff, Johannesburg 3 074 - 32.0 10 415 

14 Rushair Aeroton, Johannesburg 9 237 - 47.6 3 851 

15 Snowy Owl Pretoria 1 505 0.1% 7.6 5 054 

16 Stormain Florida, Roodepoort 2 363 - 18.1 7 647 

Mini Units 178 433 9.8% 579.6 3 248 

1 Amalgam South Crown Ext 4, Johannesburg 16 271 15.5% 49.1 3 019 

2 Asetileen Silvertondale Ext 4, Pretoria 4 861 19.6% 13.2 2 715 

3 Chelsea Road Industrial Park New Germany, Durban 11 510 3.1% 28.7 2 496 

4 Clayville Mini Units Clayville, Midrand 8 200 - 38.4 4 688 

5 Devro Park Pinetown, Durban 3 944 - 8.9 2 252 

6 Eastgate Business Park Eastgate, Sandton 13 524 - 62.1 4 593 

7 Fern Towers Ferndale Ext 20, Randburg 4 952 22.6% 20.8 4 194 

8 Ferndale Commercial Park Strijdom Park, Randburg 4 271 3.5% 13.7 3 200 

9 Gallagher Place Halfway House, Midrand 8 579 14.0% 29.1 3 397 

10 Gazelle Cape Town Marconi Beam, Cape Town 400 - 1.7 4 208 

11 Glen Murray Redhill, Durban 8 296 - 26.7 3 218 

12 Greystone Industrial Glen Anil, Durban 3 284 - 9.4 2 852 

13 Isando Industrial Isando, Kempton Park 4 932 - 11.4 2 301 

14 Isando Industrial Park Isando, Kempton Park 11 707 28.2% 24.6 2 102 

15 Knightsgate Driehoek, Germiston 16 637 25.0% 57.0 3 426 

16 Kya North Village Kya Sands, Randburg 13 620 5.3% 36.1 2 653 

17 Palm River Pinetown, Durban 8 156 - 23.0 2 816 

18 Scientia Pretoria East, Pretoria 11 886 10.8% 62.5 5 262 

19 Strijdom Park 347 Stydom Park Ext 2, Randburg 4 654 15.4% 9.8 2 098 

20 Thynk Industrial Park Briardene, Durban 6 120 17.6% 28.3 4 618 

21 Trafford Park Pinetown 12 629 - 25.1 1 990 

Midi Units 78 349 4.9% 238.6 3 014 

1 Anchor Industrial Boksburg 14 908 23.3% 43.9 2 945 

2 City Deep Production Park City Deep, Johannesburg 10 932 - 37.2 3 407 

3 Eagle Industrial Park (50%) Richards Bay 7 729 4.6% 21.7 2 483 

4 Galaxy Business park Linbro Park, Johannesburg 11 505 - 60.3 5 238 

5 Rojolea Lea Glen, Roodepoort 4 882 - 7.9 1 612 

6 Route 41 Roodepoort 12 556 - 27.2 2 168 

7 Westgate (50%) Pinetown 15 837 - 40.4 2 554 

Maxi Units 42 427 - 111.5 2 628 

1 Lanner Place Falcon Park, Pinetown 14 466 - 36.4 2 518 

2 Maitland Industrial Maitland, Cape Town 27 961 - 75.1 2 685 

Low Grade Industrial 223 812 1.8% 431.0 1 790 

1 Airrand Wadeville, Germiston 3 632 - 9.3 2 559 

2 Allen Road Elandsfontein, Germiston 2 761 - 9.9 – 
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Property name Location

GLA
June 09 

m2
Vacancy % 

June 09

June 09 
value 

Rm

Value per m2 
(excl land) 

Rands

3 Bofors 2 Epping, Cape Town 12 938 - 30.0 2 319 

4 Chamberlain Jacobs, Durban 12 497 - 29.2 2 337 

5 Chamroy Chamdor, Krugersdorp 10 437 - 13.4 1 282 

6 Dacres Epping, Cape Town 4 840 - 8.7 1 801 

7 Grenville Epping Industria 1, Cape Town 9 162 - 9.8 – 

8 Gunners Epping, Cape Town 32 356 - 56.2 1 738 

9 Isando 103 Isando, Kempton Park 3 735 - 9.7 2 587 

10 Isando 104 Isando, Kempton Park 2 345 - 5.4 2 301 

11 Isando 107 Isando, Kempton Park 1 929 - 5.7 2 936 

12 Italcraft Reuven, Johannesburg 6 519 - 11.5 1 770 

13 Janhope Duncanville, Vereeniging 9 181 - 18.4 1 999 

14 Kew Park Kew, Johannesburg 18 287 - 18.5 1 010 

15 Kinghall 1 Epping, Cape Town 4 950 - 12.3 2 484 

16 Kinghall 2 Epping, Cape Town 2 482 - 5.2 2 087 

17 Linus Parow, Cape Town 6 478 - 10.7 1 656 

18 Maitland Maitland, Cape Town 9 729 - 20.5 2 106 

19 Maskew Isando, Kempton Park 7 652 - 18.2 2 383 

20 Monteer Isando, Kempton Park 29 136 - 53.0 1 819 

21 New Germany New Germany 10 154 - 17.9 1 762 

22 North Reef Elandsfontein 3 593 - 10.7 - 

23 Regina Pinetown 6 326 - 15.2 2 410 

24 Romatile Jet Park, Boksburg 4 471 88.3% 12.2 2 732 

25 Westmead Pinetown 5 746 - 14.6 2 540 

26 Witdrich Witbank 2 476 - 4.8 1 941 

 High-Tech Industrial 93 502 10.1% 378.4 3 984 

1 Adcock Ingram Midrand 19 150 - 105.4 5 504 

2 Altergen Wadeville, Germiston 5 623 - 12.6 2 239 

3 Cummings (Propower) Eastgate, Johannesburg 7 502 - 30.2 4 030 

4 Eagle Freight Meadowdale, Germiston 6 687 - 38.0 4 789 

5 Fifers Spartan Ext 2, Kempton Park 5 995 - 21.4 3 573 

6 Highland Meadowdale, Germiston 3 956 - 20.2 5 113 

7 Impala Road Eastgate, Johannesburg 6 137 59.0% 21.8 3 552 

8 Linbro Linbro Park, Johannesburg 4 040 100.0% 18.1 4 481 

9 National Data Systems Selby, Johannesburg 13 390 - 35.9 2 681 

10 Protec Park Chloorkop, Kempton Park 5 496 - 22.8 4 142 

11 Stormill 51 Stormill Ext 2, Roodepoort 1 755 100.0% 6.6 3 761 

12 Tripark Kelvin View, Johannesburg 13 771 - 45.4 3 300 

High Grade Industrial 164 894 11.1% 668.4 4 054 

1 2 Baker Street Marconi Beam, Cape Town 7 895 - 28.3 3 585 

2 Aeroport Park Spartan Ext 2, Kempton Park 12 867 - 45.7 3 554 

3 African Products Meadowdale, Germiston 4 551 - 35.3 7 746 

4 Corobrick Meadowdale, Germiston 2 470 - 19.0 7 690 

5 Ebony Meadowdale, Germiston 11 915 - 70.1 5 886 

6 Electron Isando, Kempton Park 6 178 11.7% 30.4 4 914 

7 Gazelle Corporate Park, Midrand 6 016 - 29.4 4 887 

8 Gillets Pinetown 19 471 - 57.4 2 947 

9 Highway Wilbart, Germiston 3 332 - 17.7 5 321 

10 Hillclimb Road Westmead Ext, Pinetown 4 214 - 14.0 3 327 

11 Inanda Rd Springfield, Durban 5 770 - 19.4 3 358 
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Property name Location

GLA
June 09 

m2
Vacancy % 

June 09

June 09 
value 

Rm

Value per m2 
(excl land) 

Rands

12 Millenium Park Meadowdale, Germiston 3 343 - 13.7 4 090 

13 Mount Joy Elandsfontein, Germiston 10 067 - 35.6 3 537 

14 Nestle Bellville, Cape Town 14 364 - 54.7 3 808 

15 Oude Moulen Maitland, Cape Town 10 205 - 40.1 3 932 

16 Pretzel Cape Airport City, Cape Town 2 200 - 10.1 4 595 

17 Racetrack Midrand 5 923 - 28.4 4 800 

18 Rectron - Uhmlanga Umhlanga Ridge, Durban 2 293 - 12.9 5 643 

19 The Grove Bus Estate Somerset West, Cape Town 17 596 100.0% 50.2 2 853 

20 Triangle Wilbart Ext 2, Germiston 3 685 - 21.8 5 924 

21 Western Province Park Goodwood, Cape Town 10 539 - 34.2 3 245 

Vacant Land – 10.9

1 Sailor Malan (Scania Aeroton) Aeroton, Johannesburg – 10.9 – 

246 TOTAL INDUSTRIAL 2 376 103 4.4% 6 682.9 2 684 

Property name

Retail Office Industrial

% of GLA No of tenants % of GLA No of tenants % of GLA No of tenants

A Large national tenants, listed tenants, 
government and major franchisees

50% 12 29% 15 47% 55

B Other national tenants, other listed 
tenants, franchisees and medium to large 
professional firms

25% 65 47% 63 45% 332

C Other 25% 1 495 24% 871 8% 312

Category A consists of tenant groups occupying more than 10 000 m2 of space.
Category B consists of tenant groups occupying between 1 000 m2 and 10 000 m2 of space.
Category C consists of tenant groups occupying less than 1 000 m2 of space.

RENTAL ESCALATION

Average contractual rental escalations in force at 30 June 2009 were:

Retail 7.8% (2008: 8.6%)
Office (excluding Investec buildings) 8.8% (2008: 9.5%)
Industrial 8.9% (2008: 9.2%)

LEASE EXPIRy AS AT 30 jUNE 2009

VACANCY MoNTHLY 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2014+

% 4.4 4.4 17.9 20.6 17.4 8.9 9.3 17.1

% 6.1 3.5 18.6 19.5 18.4 10.2 9.3 14.4

GLA                     GRoSS RENTAL   
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Directors

J F Marais (Chairman)
H S P Mashaba (Deputy Chairman) 
E K de Klerk* # (Executive Director)
M G Diliza
P H Fechter
J C Hayward
H S Herman
R Moonsamy 
L N Sasse* (Chief Executive Officer)
S M Snowball* # (Financial Director)
C G Steyn
J H N Strydom
F J Visser
* Executive Directors
# Appointed 26 August 2008

AuDitors

KPMG Inc
(Registration No 1999/021543/21)
85 Empire Road, Parktown, 2193
Private Bag 9, Parkview, 2122

trAnsfer secretAries

Computershare Investor Services 
(Pty) Limited
(Registration No 2004/003647/07)
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107

sponsor

Investec Bank Limited
(Registration No 1969/004763/06)
100 Grayston Drive, 
Sandown, Sandton, 2196
PO Box 785700, Sandton, 2146

registereD office

Growthpoint Properties Limited
(Registration No 1987/004988/06)
The Place, 1 Sandton Drive, 
Sandown, Sandton, 2196
PO Box 78949, Sandton, 2146

compAny secretAry

R A Krabbenhöft
The Place, 1 Sandton Drive, 
Sandown, Sandton, 2196
PO Box 78949, Sandton, 2146

Debenture trustee

Bell Dewar and Hall
(Registration No 1995/004675/21)
Landwell Place, 37 West Street
Houghton, 2198
PO Box 1972, Houghton, 2041

mAnAgement compAny

Growthpoint Management Services 
(Pty) Limited
(Registration No 2004/015933/07)
The Place, 1 Sandton Drive,
Sandown, Sandton, 2196
PO Box 78949, Sandton, 2146

AuDit committee

C G Steyn (Chairman)
P H Fechter
J C Hayward 
J H N Strydom

risk mAnAgement 
committee

J H N Strydom (Chairman)
M G Diliza 
PH Fechter
C G Steyn

The Audit Committee and Risk Management 
Committee members are all independent 
non-executive directors.

The following parties attend or are 
represented at Audit Committee and Risk 
Management Committee meetings:

A Cox (Chief Operating Officer)
E K de Klerk (Executive Director)
N T Govender (Fund Director – Industrial)
S A le Roux (Fund Director – Retail)
S Nizetich (Head of Internal Audit 
and Risk Management)
R G Pienaar (Fund Director – Office)
L N Sasse (Chief Executive Officer)
S M Snowball (Financial Director)
M E Steinau (Financial Manager)

The external auditors, KPMG Inc., attend all 
regular meetings of the Audit Committee 
and ad hoc meetings as required.
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property committee 

P H Fechter (Chairman)
M G Diliza
R Moonsamy 
L N Sasse
C G Steyn
J H N Strydom

The following parties attend Property 
Committee meetings by invitation: 

K Bourhill (Valuer)
A Cox (Chief Operating Officer)
E K de Klerk (Executive Director)
N T Govender (Fund Director – Industrial)
S A le Roux (Fund Director – Retail)
R G Pienaar (Fund Director – Office)
S M Snowball (Financial Director)

trAnsformAtion 
committee 

M G Diliza (Chairman) 
P H Fechter
L N Sasse 
S M Snowball
C G Steyn
J H N Strydom

nominAtion committee

J F Marais (Chairman)
M G Diliza
P H Fechter
J C Hayward
H S Herman
H S P Mashaba 
R Moonsamy 
L N Sasse 
C G Steyn
J H N Strydom
F J Visser

The Nomination Committee members are 
all independent non-executive directors.

remunerAtion committee

J F Marais (Chairman)
H S P Mashaba

The Remuneration Committee members are 
all independent non-executive directors.

Standing invitation: 
L N Sasse (Chief Executive Officer) 
E K De Klerk (Executive Director)

Website

www.growthpoint.co.za

emAil

info@growthpoint.co.za
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JAcobus frAncois 
mArAis (52) 

(CHAIRMAN)

BCom, LLB, H Dip (Company Law) 
A founding partner and the Chairman of 
Glyn Marais Inc. 
Appointed to the board in 2003.

HermAn sAmtseu 
pHilip mAsHAbA (50) 

(DEPUTY CHAIRMAN)

Founder of Black Like Me products in 1985. 
Non-executive director of Black Like Me 
(Pty) Limited. 
Chairman of Leswikeng Minerals and Energy 
(Pty) Limited, the Phatsima Group of 
companies and Stocks Building Africa (Pty) 
Limited.  
Chairman of the Institute of Directors in 
Southern Africa. 
Non-executive director of The IQ Business 
Group (Pty) Limited and PG Group (Pty) 
Limited. 
Appointed to the board in 2006.

leon norbert sAsse (44) 
(CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER)

BCom (Hons) (Acc), CA (SA) 
Ten years’ experience in corporate finance 
dealing with listings, delistings, mergers, 
acquisitions and capital raising, prior to 
joining Growthpoint. 
Chairman: Property Loan Stock Association  
Director of Metboard Properties Limited, 
Paramount Property Fund Ltd, Sandton 
Business Improvement District, and South 
African Property Owners Association.  
Appointed to the board in 2003.

estienne konrAD 
De klerk (40)

BCom (Industrial Psych),  
BCom (Hons) (Marketing) 
BCom (Hons) (Acc), CA (SA) 
Fund Executive for Growthpoint subsequent 
to the acquisition of Metboard Properties 
Limited by Growthpoint in June 2006. 
Extensive experience in listed property as 
an executive at Investec Property Group 
Limited involved in BEE transactions, 
mergers and acquisitions for both 
Growthpoint and Metboard. Six years’ prior 
experience with Investec Bank Limited. 
Board member of the Property Sector 
Charter Council. 
Appointed to the board in 2008.

mZolisi gooDmAn 
DiliZA (60)     

BCom 
Bachelor of Business Management and 
Administration (Hons)  
Chief Executive: Chamber of Mines of 
South Africa. 
Appointed to the board in 2001.

peter Henry fecHter (63)

BSc (Eng) 
More than 30 years’ experience in 
construction, property development, 
management and investment.  
Appointed to the board in 2003.

JoHn cAry HAyWArD (58)

BSc (Hons),  
Fellow of Institute of Actuaries. 
25 years’ experience in investment and 
investment related activities. 
Appointed to the board in 2001.

HugH siDney HermAn 
(68)     

BA LLB 
Chairman of Investec Bank (UK) Limited. 
Chairman of Investec plc 
and Investec Limited. 
Director of Pick ‘n Pay Holdings Limited  
and Pick ‘n Pay Stores Limited. 
Appointed to the board in 1995.

rAgAVAn moonsAmy (45)

Founder of Kascara Financial Services 
(Pty) Limited. 
Chief Executive of UniPalm Investments 
(Pty) Limited. 
Director of Afripalm (Pty) Limited. 
Appointed to the board in 2005.

stuArt mckenZie 
snoWbAll (53)

BCom (Hons) (Acc), CA (SA) 
26 years’ post qualifying working experience 
in commerce, including 18 years property 
experience. Chief Financial Officer of 
Barprop Limited, Primegro Properties 
Limited and of Growthpoint since 2003.  
Appointed to the board in 2008.
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colin grAHAm steyn 
(68)      

FCIS, Senior Management Programme,  
Harvard University 
Formerly Chairman of Barprop Limited. 
Former President of SAPOA.  
Appointed to the board in 2001.

JAn HenDrik nicolAAs 
stryDom (70)    

MCom (Acc), CA (SA) 
Co-founder of Stydom’s Incorporated, a firm 
of Chartered Accountants, specialising in 
business valuations, forensic investigations, 
litigation support and arbitrations. 
Director of MTN Group Limited, Director of 
the Public Investment Corporation Limited 
and senior member of the Special Income 
Tax Court. 
Appointed to the board in 2003.

freDerick JoHAnnes 
Visser (57)   

BCom (Hons)  
Chief Executive Officer of Mine Pension Funds. 
Appointed to the board in 2001.
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compAny profile

Growthpoint Properties Limited is a 
property investment holding company, 
incorporated and registered as a public 
company on 12 October 1987, and listed 
under the “Financial - Real Estate” sector 
of the JSE Limited (JSE).

Growthpoint’s capital structure comprises 
ordinary shares, which are linked to 
unsecured, subordinated, variable rate 
debentures in the ratio of one ordinary 
share of five cents linked to 10 debentures 
of 250 cents each. This linkage means that 
each share may only be issued and traded 
on the JSE as a linked unit together with the 
debentures to which it is linked.

Growthpoint has a diversified portfolio of 
438 properties, valued at R29,2 billion at 30 
June 2009. Retail properties comprise 35% 
of the value, office 42% and industrial 23%. 
The bulk of Growthpoint’s gross lettable 
area is situated in Gauteng (63%), with the 
balance located in the Western Cape (18%), 
KwaZulu Natal (13%), and other provinces 
throughout South Africa and Namibia (6%).

Measured by market capitalisation and total 
assets, Growthpoint is the largest listed 
South African property company on the JSE, 
with a market capitalisation of R18,3 billion 
at 30 June 2009.

On 18 May 2009, Growthpoint entered 
into an agreement to acquire a controlling 
interest in Orchard Industrial Property Fund, 
an Australian-based listed property trust. 
This marks Growthpoint’s first international 
acquisition and further diversification of  
its portfolio.

mission stAtement

“To be the leading South African property 
company, consistently delivering superior 
value to all stakeholders, driven by our 
passion for property and commitment to 
our core values.”

core VAlues

Following the completion of an in-depth 
exercise to explore the culture and values 
of Growthpoint, with extensive input from 
staff, Growthpoint developed a set of core 
values. The mission and core values define 
Growthpoint’s statement, approach and 
attitude - whether to business, employees or 
broader society.

The core values are as follows:

>  Our people are our most important asset 

>  We achieve through extraordinary 
performance 

>  We promise clients the highest level 
of service 

>  We fulfil our commitments 

>  We take ownership 

>  We are ethical and fair 

>  We show respect for all people 

>  We encourage open and honest debate 

>  We are socially responsible 

business pHilosopHy

In striving to achieve its mission and core 
values, Growthpoint seeks, at all times, to:

>  Generate consistent, reliable income and 
long-term capital appreciation by:

  -  Maintaining an optimal balance of well-
located, sectorally and geographically 
diversified portfolio of prime properties

  -  Preserving and enhancing the 
value of properties owned through 
ongoing maintenance, upgrading and 
refurbishment

  -  Maximising the letting of available  
space to financially sound tenants  
with long leases

>  Maintain a strong balance sheet through 
conservative gearing and credit metrics 
that are well within covenants 

>  Limit exposure to interest rate risk by 
fixing interest rates over periods matching 
lease expiries

>  Seek out suitable acquisition opportunities 
both locally and internationally, that fit its 
business philosophy and strategy

04 
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Growthpoint’s corporate governance policies 
and practices, and related developments 
for the year under review, are described in 
brief below. For more details, please refer 
to the Growthpoint website and 2009 
Sustainability Report.

pHilosopHy 

Growthpoint Properties Limited and its 
board of directors are committed to the 
Code of Corporate Practice and Conduct, 
as set out in the King II Report and the JSE 
Listings Requirements. The provisions of the 
third King Report on Corporate Governance, 
effective from March 2010, will also be taken 
into account.

In line with this commitment, the directors 
seek, at all times, to conduct the business 
with integrity and accountability. This entails 
ongoing implementation of structures, 
policies and practices that enhance 
corporate governance, for the ultimate 
benefit of all stakeholders. 

boArD of Directors

The board of directors comprises 10 
independent non-executive directors, 
including the Chairman, and three executive 
directors. Details of the board’s composition 
are set out on pages 100 to 101 of this 
report. In addition to four quarterly board 
meetings held each year on pre-set dates, 
directors’ meetings are convened ad hoc as 
required. Directors’ remuneration is subject 
to the Remuneration Committee’s annual 
review and subsequent recommendation 
to and approval by the board on authority 
obtained at annual general meetings (AGMs) 
(see also “Directors’ remuneration” in the 
Directors’ Report).

The role of the board is to provide strategic 
direction and leadership, so as to promote 
shareholder value and to enhance the 
sustainability of the business, to the benefit 
of the company and all stakeholders. 
To ensure they act with independence 
and integrity, directors are required to 
abide by Growthpoint’s Code of Ethics 
and policies promoting ethical behaviour. 
The directors are required to declare their 
interests in contracts, in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act. These 
interests are noted and recorded at each 
quarterly board meeting. Directors’ interests 
in the company’s linked units as at 30 June 
2009 are set out in the “Directors’ Report” 
on pages 30 - 35.

Non-executive directors are independent 
of management and free from any 
relationship that could materially interfere 
with the execution of their independent 
judgement. Their business experience 
enables them to evaluate strategy and 
act in Growthpoint’s best interests. 
Non-executive directors have unrestricted 
access to all company information and may 
meet with management without the presence 
of executive directors. To help them fulfil their 
responsibilities effectively, non-executive 
directors may also seek professional advice, 
which is paid for by the company. 

The board operates in terms of a written 
charter that sets out its terms of reference, 
overall purpose, responsibilities and 
authority, and governs matters such as 
board membership, meeting procedures and 
ethical conduct. Various board committees, 
each with formal terms of reference, also 
assist the board in fulfilling its objectives.

re-election of Directors

One-third or nearest that number of the 
directors is subject to retirement by rotation 
and re-election by shareholders at the  
AGM each year. Such directors are those 
longest in office since their last re-election 
and also include directors appointed since 
the last AGM. 

The Nomination Committee ensures 
that all new directors are adequately 
informed on Growthpoint’s business, 
policies and meeting dates and procedures. 
This is achieved through the provision of 
information and by induction. 
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AttenDAnce At meetings

The board of directors meets quarterly, at scheduled meetings, and ad hoc as required. In 
convening such meetings and any ad hoc or special board meetings, due regard is given to 
the quorum requirements of Growthpoint’s articles of association, as well as the recusal, 
where necessary, of related party directors and those presented with conflicting interests. 

Details of members of relevant committees’ attendance at meetings from 1 July 2008 to 
30 June 2009 are set out below. Four scheduled board meetings were held during the period. 
Special board meetings were held on 8 July and 1 December 2008, and on 28 April 2009. 

The Nomination Committee did not meet during the period 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009.

Director Board Audit Risk Management Property Transformation Remuneration

A B C A B A B A B A B A B

S Hackner* 1 1 -

J F Marais 7 7 - 4 4

E K de Klerk 6 6 - 6 4 4 4 2 1 4 4 4 3

M G Diliza 7 4 - 4 4 2 2 4 4

P H Fechter 7 7 - 6 5 4 4 2 2 4 4

J C Hayward 7 7 - 6 6

H S Herman 7 6 -

H S P Mashaba*** 7 7 - 1 1 1 1 4 4

R Moonsamy 7 6 - 2 1

B Ngcuka** 2 2 - 2 2

L N Sasse 7 7 - 6 4 4 4 2 2 4 3 4 4

S M Snowball 6 6 - 6 6 4 4 2 2 4 4

C G Steyn 7 7 - 6 6 4 4 2 2 4 4

J H N Strydom 7 7 - 6 6 4 4 2 2 4 3

F J Visser 7 7 -

 
Column A is the number of meetings held during the period that the director was eligible to attend. 
Column B is the number of meetings attended by the director. 
Column C is the number of board meetings at which a director recused himself.

 * Mr S Hackner resigned as a director on 8 July 2008. 
 ** Mr B T Ngcuka retired as a director at the company’s AGM held on 5 November 2008. 
 *** Mr Mashaba resigned his committee memberships on 25 August 2008.

Note: In all cases where directors were unable to attend a meeting, the board or the respective committee accepted their justified leave of absence. 
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DeAling in tHe 
compAny’s linkeD units

In terms of policy and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, directors of the company 
and its major subsidiaries, and the Company 
Secretary, must obtain prior written clearance 
from the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Chairman of their intention to buy or sell 
linked units in the company, whether directly 
or indirectly. This policy is also applied to 
other members of executive management.

Directors and employees who become aware 
of price-sensitive information may not deal 
directly or indirectly in Growthpoint’s linked 
units until such information is made public. 
Closed periods are imposed on directors 
and staff in relation to interim and annual 
financial results and, from time to time, 
specific corporate actions.

Directors’ remunerAtion

The Remuneration Committee makes 
recommendations to the board on the 
remuneration of directors. The board 
sets directors’ emoluments for a financial 
year on the authority obtained from 
linked unitholders at AGMs. Directors’ 
remuneration is disclosed in the annual 
report (“Directors’ Report”) in line with 
the disclosure requirements of the JSE 
Listings Requirements.

During the year under review, the 
Remuneration Committee confirmed the 
remuneration philosophy of Growthpoint, 
taking into account the nature of the 
organisation and the industry it operates 
in. Broadly, this philosophy aims to ensure 
that Growthpoint can competitively attract 
and retain staff in general and secure key 
skills and talent in the marketplace through 
appropriate reward mechanisms. In applying 
this philosophy, Growthpoint’s objective is 
to remain a leading listed property company. 

This philosophy, together with a revised 
performance development process and new 
short-term incentive scheme model,  

should support Growthpoint’s initiatives to 
attract and develop appropriate skills and 
reward productive behaviour that drives 
company results. The long-term incentive 
scheme gives all employees the ability to 
own a share of the company and aligns the 
interests of staff with those of other 
linked unitholders.

During the year, the Remuneration 
Committee also conducted a review and 
benchmarking exercise for the executive 
management roles in the organisation. 
Specific attention was paid to role profiling, 
job sizing and the market relatedness of 
Growthpoint’s executive remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee also 
considered external benchmarks obtained 
on non-executive directors’ remuneration. 
Proposals for such remuneration for the 
financial year ending 30 June 2010 were 
approved by the board at its meeting on  
25 August 2009. 

tHe cHAirmAn

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer are separate and the two operate 
independently of each other. Mr J F Marais is 
an independent non-executive chairman. For 
more details on his responsibilities, see the 
2009 Sustainability Report.

boArD responsibilities

The responsibilities of the board, as set out 
in the Board Charter, are detailed in the 
2009 Sustainability Report.

boArD AccountAbility

All the non-executive directors are 
independent of management and free from 
any relationships that could affect their 
judgement in decisions and in the execution 
of their duties. Their business experience 
enables them to evaluate strategy and act in 
Growthpoint’s best interests. 

The board operates in terms of a written 
charter, available on the company’s website 
or from the Company Secretary. New 
directors receive the Board Charter as part 
of their induction. For more details, see the 
2009 Sustainability Report.

The board underwent formal self-
assessment, as did the Audit Committee 
and Risk Management Committee, in May 
2009. The overall outcome of the appraisals 
was positive and feedback was given to the 
board and the respective committees at their 
meetings in August 2009. Such appraisals are 
available to the external auditors on request.

coDe of etHics AnD 
business conDuct

The directors are bound by a written Code 
of Ethics that forms part of the Board 
Charter. This code aims to ensure that 
Growthpoint and its agents conduct the 
business according to the highest ethical 
standards. In particular, the code seeks to 
ensure compliance with applicable laws and 
regulatory bodies, and in a manner that is 
beyond reproach. 

The code (published on Growthpoint’s 
website) is available to employees and 
other stakeholders. Compliance with the 
code is monitored on an ongoing basis. For 
more details on the Code, see the 2009 
Sustainability Report. Growthpoint has 
also rolled out to staff and the board the 
company’s mission statement and values, 
adopted in March 2009 (see also “Company 
Profile” on page 104).

During the reporting period, Growthpoint 
had no incidents of major non-compliance, 
fines or prosecutions linked, for example, 
to anti-competitive practices or other 
governance and economic issues, or non-
compliance with its Code of Ethics.
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policies promoting 
etHicAl conDuct

Growthpoint has various policies in place 
to promote ethical behaviour and integrity 
among management and employees. These 
policies are published on the intranet, 
available only to employees. For more 
details, see the 2009 Sustainability Report.

Asset mAnAgement AnD 
property ADministrAtion

The management company is Growthpoint 
Management Services (Pty) Limited (GMS), 
a wholly owned subsidiary of Growthpoint. 
GMS is responsible for the asset 
management, property management and 
related businesses of Growthpoint. 

internAl AuDit

The internal audit function is provided in-
house by the Head of Internal Audit and Risk 
Management. For more details, see the 2009 
Sustainability Report.

externAl AuDit

KPMG Inc. is the external auditor of 
Growthpoint and its subsidiaries. The 
independence of the external auditor is 
recognised, and annually reviewed, by the 
Audit Committee with the auditors. The 
external auditors attend all Audit Committee 
meetings and have unrestricted access to the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

boArD committees

Committees established by the board assist 
it in its duties. To further promote sound 
corporate governance, the Chief Executive 
Officer is present at all board committee 
meetings of which he is not a member, by 
standing invitation. 

The board committees have unrestricted 
access to company information and any 
resources required to help them fulfill their 
responsibilities, including professional advice 
which is paid for by the company.

The board is responsible for determining 
and amending, as necessary, the scope and 
responsibilities of the committees, and the 
appointment of new members. The board 
and its committees also undergo annual self-
assessment coordinated by their respective 
Chairmen, with formal feedback given to 
each committee and the board.

The board committees are outlined in 
brief below. For more details on their 
structure and responsibilities, see the 2009 
Sustainability Report.

AuDit committee

This committee comprises four independent 
non-executive directors, including the 
Chairman of the Risk Management 
Committee. It meets at least quarterly. 

The committee considers that it has 
adequately performed its functions in terms 
of its mandate, the Code of Corporate 
Practice and Conduct and the Companies 
Act, 1973, as amended (notably by the 
Corporate Laws Amendment Act, 2006). 

The committee is also satisfied with the 
external auditors’ confirmation of their 
independence and that the audit of the 
2009 annual financial statements has been 
carried out by the external auditors without 
any restriction of the audit’s scope.

risk mAnAgement 
committee

Growthpoint is exposed to credit, liquidity 
and market risk through the use of 
various financial instruments. The board 
of directors has overall responsibility 
for the establishment and overseeing of 
Growthpoint’s risk management framework. 

The Risk Management Committee comprises 
four independent non-executive directors, 
including the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee. The committee meets at least 
quarterly. Its key responsibility is to develop 
and monitor risk management policies, 
which aim to:

>  Identify and analyse risks faced by 
Growthpoint

> Set appropriate risk limits and controls

> Monitor risks and adherence to limits

For more details, see the 2009 
Sustainability Report. 

property committee

The committee comprises five independent 
non-executive directors and the Chief 
Executive Officer. It assists the board in 
discharging its duties relating to transactions 
involving Growthpoint’s property portfolio 
and portfolio management, as well as the 
review and approval of property budgets and 
valuations. The committee meets at least 
twice a year.

remunerAtion committee

The Remuneration Committee consists 
of the board’s Chairman and Deputy 
Chairman. The Chief Executive Officer 
attends meetings by standing invitation. 
The committee meets quarterly on matters 
concerning director remuneration, salary 
increases, bonus payments and Growthpoint 
Staff Incentive Scheme option allocations.

04 
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nominAtion committee

This committee consists of the independent 
non-executive directors in office from 
time to time, and the Chief Executive 
Officer. This committee is chaired by the 
board’s Chairman. The committee meets 
as and when required to, among other 
things, consider and interview candidates 
considered for appointment to the board.

trAnsformAtion 
committee

The committee comprises four independent 
non-executive directors and two executive 
directors. It meets at least four times a 
year to address corporate social investment, 
transformation and employment equity 
related matters.

groWtHpoint stAff 
incentiVe scHeme 

In fostering a philosophy among employees 
of ownership in Growthpoint, all employees 
are eligible to participate in the Staff 
Incentive Scheme. The first award of scheme 
options over linked units (First Award) 
coincided with Growthpoint’s management 
“buy-in” concluded with Investec Property 
Group Limited in 2007, in order to 
incentivise and retain its employees after the 
internalisation of management. In total, 8,5 
million linked units, valued at approximately 
R127 million at the time of issue, were placed 
in the scheme’s Trust.

As at 30 June 2009, 6 242 652 options over 
linked units were held by staff in the scheme. 
Based on the closing price on the JSE on that 
day of R13.00 per linked unit, the total value 
of those linked units was R81,2 million.

Ownership in respect of the First Award 
vests in equal tranches of 25% over four 
years, with the first vesting having taken 
place in September 2008. Subsequent 
awards are for a participation period of five 
years, during which ownership vests in equal 
annual tranches of 25% commencing at the 
end of the second year. 

Details of the Growthpoint linked units 
that are subject to the scheme and over 
which options have been awarded to 
eligible participants appear on page 55, 
in accordance with the JSE 
Listings Requirements.

An ordinary resolution will be proposed at 
the company’s AGM on 4 November 2009 
for amendments to the scheme’s Trust Deed, 
in order to align it with the requirements of 
Schedule 14, as amended, of the JSE Listings 
Requirements. The main amendments 
will be to insert in the Trust Deed figures 
to replace percentages where they appear 
in respect of numerical limits relating to 
the number of linked units which may be 
utilised for purposes of the scheme and the 
maximum number of linked units or options 
that may be allocated to any one participant.

inVestor relAtions

The board is committed to transparency 
and disclosure of relevant information to 
all stakeholders. Such disclosure includes 
communicating information on company 
strategy and performance, board practice, 
the Code of Ethics, Growthpoint’s indirect 
impacts, and business value and risk 
management.

In communicating to stakeholders, the 
emphasis is on timeliness, objectivity, 
honesty, relevance and balance. 
Communication occurs through the 
Growthpoint website, the annual report, the 
sustainability report, the corporate profile, 
presentations and roadshows to clients and 
investment analysts, and regular dialogue 
with institutional investors, analysts and 
the media. Care is taken to ensure that 
price sensitive information is released to all 
shareholders at the same time, as per the JSE 
Listings Requirements. Shareholders are also 
encouraged to attend AGMs and general 
meetings. All resolutions at the AGM are put 
to the vote, and the results are published on 
the JSE’s news service, SENS. A copy of the 
minutes of shareholders’ meetings is also 
lodged with the JSE, making it accessible to 
members of the exchange.

For more details, see the 2009 
Sustainability Report.
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05 
Sustainability

IntroductIon 

As a business focusing on investing in 
property, Growthpoint is aware of its 
responsibility to manage any direct 
impacts it may have on communities 
and the environment.  

The company’s social, ethical and 
environmental commitment goes a lot 
further, however, with a proactive approach 
to assist people in becoming empowered and 
self-sufficient. Simultaneously, Growthpoint 
aims to play a leading and influential role 
in promoting environmentally friendly 
building practices in South Africa. During the 
year under review, the company achieved 
significant progress in these areas of focus.

Specifically, Growthpoint’s sustainability 
approach covers: 

>  Conducting sustainable business activities 

>  Promoting equal opportunity and diversity 
in the workplace 

>  Providing training and development 
opportunities for employees, including 
green building and occupational health and 
safety training 

>  Offering employees a wide range of 
benefits, including a HIV/AIDS programme 

>  Promoting black economic empowerment 
through employment equity and diversity 
policies within the company, employee 
training and development, an external 
enterprise development programme 
and preferential procurement from 
black suppliers

>  Supporting corporate social investment 
projects in communities in which 
Growthpoint operates

>  Playing a leading role in implementing 
green building and energy saving practices 
in South Africa

Growthpoint’s sustainability activities, 
and related significant developments for 
the period under review, are described in 
brief below. For more details, please refer 
to the Growthpoint website and the 2009 
Sustainability Report.

SuStaInable buSIneSS 

Details of Growthpoint’s financial results 
are outlined elsewhere in this report. 
In brief, Growthpoint achieved a sound 
financial performance during a year in which 
the global economic recession started 
to be felt in South Africa. Growthpoint 
continued to show growth in earnings and 
distributions paid to linked unitholders. 
In addition, the quality of the property 
portfolio and diversity and strength of the 
tenant base resulted in a slight increase 
in overall property values, as determined 
by independent external valuers and the 
company’s own valuers.

The quality, diversity and locations of 
Growthpoint’s property portfolio, and the 
contractual nature of the company’s rental 
income from a diverse base of financially 
sound tenants, should ensure sustainable 
growth of revenue for the future.

The company adopts a conservative 
approach to the use of debt in financing its 
property investments, with total debt at 
32.2% of value as at 30 June 2009. Exposure 
to interest rate fluctuations is mitigated by 
fixing interest rates for not less than 75% of 
debt at all times. As at 30 June 2009, 108% 
of debt was at fixed interest rates.

our people 

Growthpoint seeks to attract and retain 
the best people by creating a working 
environment that is conducive to 
productivity and performance. This is 
achieved through: 

>  An organisational culture favouring 
ongoing learning and performance 

>  Promoting equal opportunity and diversity 
in the workplace

>  Employee training and development

>  People management practices and 
employee benefits that address employee 
needs and encourage productivity 
and motivation 

>  Ensuring employee health and safety

OrganisatiOnal culture 
and values
When Growthpoint adopted an internal 
management approach in 2007, all 
employees participated in a process to define 
a mission statement and core values for the 
company. This mission statement and values 
guide employee and business conduct.

equal OppOrtunity and 
diversity
To attain an equitable work environment, 
Growthpoint needs to focus on achieving 
equitable representation of employee 
groups, removing barriers to the 
advancement of designated groups and 
valuing diversity.

Growthpoint’s objective is to not only 
comply with the Employment Equity 
Act but also to integrate the principles 
of employment equity into its business 
practices. Guided by the Property Charter, 
during the year under review, Growthpoint 
began this process by promoting education 
and awareness among staff, constituting 
the statutory representative body for staff, 
submitting the statutory report for a new 
designated employer to the Department of 
Labour and setting numeric objectives for the 
year ahead (these emphasise greater gender 
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representivity at senior levels and racial 
representivity of around 50% by 2010).

Internal transformation and equal 
opportunity are also promoted through 
Human Resources Policies and Conditions 
of Employment, in which Growthpoint 
commits not to engage in any discrimination. 
The board Transformation Committee 
oversees all transformation initiatives and, 
to foster a philosophy of ownership in 
Growthpoint, each employee participates in 
the Staff Incentive Scheme.

emplOyee develOpment
About 2% of payroll is allocated towards 
employee learning and development each 
year.  The emphasis is on the development 
of key property related skills, accredited by 
a recognised SETA wherever possible. During 
the period under review, other initiatives to 
foster employee development included:

>  A performance development process, 
to boost performance and development, 
which will be fully operational in 2009/10 

>  A mentorship programme (still being 
finalised), to ensure that depth of skill is 
developed in key areas of the organisation 
and that key talented individuals are 
effectively managed

>  Committing a senior, experienced member 
of staff to manage the Learning and 
Development initiative on a full-time basis 

emplOyee benefits 
and well-being
All staff qualify for the following benefits:

>  Membership of a medical aid scheme 
and a retirement fund, which provide 
comprehensive cost effective cover for 
health care needs. Additional dreaded 
disease and personal accident cover 
is available

>  Access to insured benefits that provide 
income replacement for temporary 
disability, rehabilitation and permanent 
disability benefits. Maternity leave covers 
the full statutory period and is fully paid

Hiv/aids apprOacH
Growthpoint’s approach to HIV/AIDS 
encompasses:

>  In terms of policy, not prejudicing or 
discriminating against employees who 
disclose their HIV status or are diagnosed 
as HIV/AIDS positive 

>  Ensuring that its corporate medical aid 
schemes provide cover to members for 
HIV/AIDS in terms of both the Prescribed 
Minimum Benefits legislation and a 
comprehensive disease management 
programme for registered members

>  Annual wellness days, to enable staff 
to part take in voluntary counselling 
and testing 

>  As part of World AIDS Day, making a 
donation to HIV/AIDS organisations 

emplOyee relatiOns
Growthpoint has an Employment Equity 
Forum which is representative of all 
employees and meets regularly to discuss 
equity issues. 

Employee relations policies cover all 
employee rights, as outlined in the Labour 
Relations Act. These include policies 
governing sick, maternity and paternity, and 
study leave; prevention of discrimination and 
sexual harassment; and treatment of people 
suffering from disabilities. 

With Growthpoint’s culture encouraging 
open and honest dialogue among staff, 
workforce collective agreements and union 
involvement have not become necessary 
within Growthpoint; nor has it experienced 
employee relations issues such as strike days 
and industrial action.

>  Access to a confidential 24-hour 
Employee Assistance Programme, 
providing counselling, wellness services 
and personal financial planning

>  Compassionate leave, paternity leave, 
family responsibility leave and 
religious leave 

>  Study leave, with financial assistance 
where study is aligned to the career 
at Growthpoint and is approved by 
the manager 

HealtH and safety
Growthpoint promotes optimum internal 
health and safety through the following 
initiatives:

>  In line with the Occupational Health and 
Safety Act, appointing the Chief Executive 
Officer as the S16.1 appointee and the 
Chief Operating Officer as the S16.2 
appointee. Various senior managers have 
also been appointed S16.2 appointees for 
their respective operational areas

>  Implementing safety committees at all 
operational sites, including first aiders, 
fire fighters and evacuation marshals. 
The Risk Manager is responsible for 
occupational health and safety in all 
Growthpoint buildings and maintains a 
comprehensive risk register. Emergency 
procedures are rehearsed and first aid 
and safety officers are retrained within 
the statutory intervals

>  Regular safety inspections. Any incidents 
that occur are fully investigated and 
reported. During 2008/09, Growthpoint 
staff had five health and safety incidents, 
with none resulting in lost working time 
or hospitalisation

>  In Growthpoint buildings, security service 
providers are required to conduct an 
annual risk assessment, provide emergency 
assistance and take charge of any health 
and safety emergencies that may arise
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development of 
Small buSIneSSeS

Growthpoint supports the development of 
small black owned and managed businesses 
in South Africa through its pioneering 
enterprise development project, Property 
Point, as well as a policy to procure 
increasingly from broad based black 
economic empowerment (BBBEE) vendors.

enterprise develOpment – 
prOperty pOint 
Growthpoint initiated and continues 
to manage and run Property Point, an 
enterprise development programme that 
assists small, medium and micro enterprises 
(SMMEs) operating in the listed property 
sector in South Africa. Growthpoint provides 
funding, procurement opportunities and 
mentoring in support of Property Point.

Property Point provides skills training 
and personal development to SMMEs, to 
help them develop into fully independent 
companies. Property Point is fully 
operational in Gauteng, and the objective 
is to roll it out nationally. To date, 
achievements of Property Point include:

>  More than 750 SMMEs attending training

>  Hosting training interventions for 
more than 41 SMMEs, covering 
topics such as industry and business 
compliance, business systems and 
personal development 

>  Initiating 62 business linkages for SMMEs 
with Growthpoint, to the value of over 
R8 million to date, creating 157 jobs 

prOcurement frOm brOad 
based black ecOnOmic 
empOwerment vendOrs 
Growthpoint’s procurement policy is linked 
to BBBEE. The company uses preferential 
procurement to improve the quality 
standards of empowerment companies and 
encourage sustainable BBBEE in the listed 
property sector.  

To achieve this, Growthpoint focuses on 
helping existing vendors to achieve the 
ratings required for sustainable economic 
development, and non-compliant vendors 
to become compliant. In support of these 
objectives Growthpoint has implemented, 
among other things, the following initiatives: 

>  Promotes the development of SMMEs 
through Property Point

>  Uses established empowerment platforms 
to encourage transformation in, and the 
skills development of, existing vendors 

>  Categorises vendors according to 
empowerment credentials, to monitor 
percentage spend. In selecting new 
vendors, preference is given to BBBEE 
vendors which meet all Growthpoint’s 
procurement policy requirements 

>  Ensures that all certification of vendors’ 
BBBEE status is verified by an independent 
vetting company. Preferential procurement 
spend on BEE companies is monitored 
monthly, to help in meeting  
company targets

In the 12 months to end June 2009, 
Growthpoint increased its preferential 
procurement spend with BBBEE companies 
by 59.46% in accordance with the DTI 
Codes of Good Practice. The objective is to 
maintain this level. 

05 



115 

corporate SocIal 
InveStment  

Growthpoint supports corporate social 
investment (CSI) projects that promote skills 
development and empowerment among 
disadvantaged communities. Growthpoint-
owned or managed retail centres are also 
used to support local schools, communities 
and charities. 

In 2008/09, Growthpoint donated 
R4 million to CSI projects. These included:

>  Zikhuliseni skills development project:  
To date, Growthpoint has contributed  
R4,0 million (Growthpoint’s support  
began before the period under review) 
to the Zikhuliseni skills development 
project on the Bophelong property in 
Diepsloot, near Fourways, Gauteng.  
The project involves construction of a 
centre to house proficiency development 
initiatives and provide community training 
in skills ranging from computers through 
to sewing and crafts, bricklaying, welding 
and ironwork, and growing of cash 
vegetable crops. The centre is expected to 
be complete by late 2009

>  Contributions through retail centres: 
Growthpoint contributes to community 
upliftment projects through retail centres 
that it owns or manages. For further 
details, see the 2009 Sustainability Report  

HalO staff cHarity prOject
Halo (“Helping and Loving Others”) is a 
charitable project run by a committee of 
Growthpoint staff members. The project 
assists charities and communities that are 
lesser known and supported. Growthpoint 
contributes R9 000 a month from its CSI 
budget to the Halo project.

envIronment 

Growthpoint continuously enhances its 
green building and energy saving efforts 
so as to reduce its direct impacts on 
the environment, support the broader 
international drive towards carbon 
reduction, and address the challenges of 
rising energy prices and South Africa’s 
energy supply shortages. 

In response to these challenges, during the 
year under review, Growthpoint formed 
an Energy Forum, comprising Growthpoint 
divisional heads. The forum will guide the 
business units on how to approach energy 
issues, consulting with outside experts 
where necessary, and will also engage 
with the South African Property Owners 
Association on energy related matters. To 
assist it in its role, the forum has established 
a technical committee. 

During the year, Growthpoint also 
implemented the following initiatives to 
address energy and other green challenges:

>  Developed an energy efficiency 
programme, to reduce overall energy 
consumption by between 10% and 20% 
where applicable

>  Implemented an effective utilities 
management platform, to improve utilities 
management in Growthpoint buildings 
through comprehensive measuring, 
monitoring and reporting of electricity, 
water and gas consumption. This platform 
will provide the foundation for setting and 
managing energy expenditure targets, in 
accordance with those set by the National 
Energy Regulator 

>  Became a signatory to the National Energy 
Efficiency Accord

>  Applied for a four-star rating for Lincoln 
on the Lake, the first building in KwaZulu 
Natal to be registered with the Green 
Building Council of South Africa (GBCSA) 

>  Appointed a green building consultant 
to help find ways of making existing 
Growthpoint buildings more efficient 
from a green building perspective. The 
objective is to develop a knowledge base 
for Growthpoint facilities and project 
managers 

>  Implemented an educational drive among 
staff, to raise awareness of green buildings. 
Portfolio and facilities managers attend 
green building star rating training

>  Continued with a Partnering for Change 
Programme, run by volunteer employees, 
to share environmental best practices with 
tenants and suppliers

>  Embarked on a carbon footprint 
assessment of Growthpoint’s head office 
in Sandton. This will be used to develop 
a broader rating standard for other 
Growthpoint buildings 

>  Involvement of a Growthpoint 
representative, with the GBCSA, in the 
development of the South African Green 
Star – Retail V1 Technical Manual and 
rating tool

>  Participation in the Climate Change 
Response Programme through the 
National Business Initiative Carbon 
Disclosure Project and the Carbon 
Disclosure Project in London

Green buIldInG 
phIloSophy

Growthpoint’s green building philosophy 
is modelled on that of the Green Building 
Council of South Africa. Many of its building 
practices are already following the guidelines 
laid down in this philosophy, and this 
will continue to be used as a baseline for 
Growthpoint’s environmental behaviour. 
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06 
Linked Unitholders’ Analysis 
As at 30 June 2009

Linked unitholder spread

Number of 
linked unit 

holdings

% of total 
linked unit 

holdings
Number of 

linked units
% of issued 

capital

1-500 units 1 091 13.1% 199 780 0.01%

501-1,000 units 603 7.3% 460 470 0.03%

1,001-5,000 units 2 676 32.2% 7 348 388 0.52%

5,001-10,000 units 1 359 16.3% 10 046 241 0.71%

10,001-20,000 units 995 12.0% 14 237 851 1.01%

20,001-50,000 units 727 8.7% 22 862 294 1.62%

50,001-100,000 units 271 3.3% 18 885 393 1.34%

100,001-200,000 units 207 2.5% 29 889 102 2.12%

200,001-1,000,000 units 247 3.0% 103 819 418 7.37%

1,000,001-10,000,000 units 117 1.4% 366 469 988 26.01%

10,000,001 units and over 19 0.2% 834 799 890 59.25%

Total 8 312 100% 1 409 018 815 100%

Distribution of linked unitholders

Number of 
linked unit 

holdings

% of total 
linked unit 

holdings
Number of 

linked units
% of issued 

capital

 Organs of state 6 0.1% 409 347 518 29.1%

 Unit trusts/mutual funds 168 2.0% 283 778 618 20.1%

 Pension & provident funds 264 3.2% 169 229 393 12.0%

 Empowerment holdings 4 0.0% 126 274 817 9.0%

 Assurance companies 50 0.6% 107 700 118 7.6%

 Custodians 78 0.9% 77 576 613 5.5%

 Multi managers 39 0.5% 53 383 664 3.8%

 Retail shareholders 5 672 68.2% 53 309 200 3.8%

 Trusts 1 353 16.3% 40 205 914 2.9%

 Foundations & charitable funds 172 2.1% 19 143 280 1.4%

 Private companies 202 2.4% 15 424 675 1.1%

 Managed funds 9 0.1% 12 391 792 0.9%

 Scrip lending 25 0.3% 8 688 209 0.6%

 Public companies 25 0.3% 8 375 138 0.6%

 Share schemes 1 0.0% 7 159 778 0.5%

 Stockbrokers 15 0.2% 4 954 241 0.4%

 Insurance companies 14 0.2% 3 651 892 0.3%

 Close corporations 91 1.1% 2 676 754 0.2%

 Investment partnerships 54 0.6% 2 146 652 0.2%

 Medical aid funds 15 0.2% 1 996 173 0.1%

 Nominees 49 0.6% 1 364 024 0.1%

 Hedge funds 6 0.1% 240 352 0.0%

Total 8 312 100% 1 409 018 815 100%
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Linked unitholder type

Number of 
linked unit 

holdings

% of total 
linked unit 

holdings
Number of 

linked units
% of issued 

capital

Non-Public Linked Unitholders  23 0.28%  449 635 345 31.91%

 Directors and Associates  15 –  33 128 049 2.35%

 Public Investment Corporation  7 –  409 347 518 29.05%

 Growthpoint Staff Incentive Scheme  1 –  7 159 778 0.51%

Public Linked Unitholders  8 289 99.72%  959 383 470 68.09%

Total 8 312 100% 1 409 018 815 100%

Beneficial linked unitholders with holding 
greater than 3% of the issued linked units

Total linked 
unit holding

% of issued 
capital

 Public Investment Corporation 409 347 518 29.05%

 BEE Consortia 122 000 000 8.66%

 Old Mutual Group 85 450 101 6.06%

 Stanlib 67 416 487 4.78%

 Investec 64 342 076 4.57%

Linked unit price performance cents

Opening price 1 July 2008 10.96

Closing price 30 June 2009 13.00

Intraday high for the period (recorded 17 December 2008) 16.85

Intraday low for the period (recorded on 3 July 2008) 10.90 

 units

Number of linked units in issue at 30 June 2009 1 409 018 815

Weighted average number of linked units 1 335 924 411

Volume traded during period 726 674 062

Ratio of volume traded to weighted average number of linked units issued (%) 54.39%
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Financial year end  30 June

Annual financial statements posted  September

Annual general meeting  4 November 2009 

Dividends and debenture interest Declared Paid

 Interim February March

 Final August September
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06 
Notice to Members

NOTICE TO MEMBERS

Notice is hereby given that the 21st annual 
general meeting of members of Growthpoint 
Properties Limited will be held at The Place, 
1 Sandton Drive, Sandown, Sandton 2196, on 
Wednesday 4 November 2009 at 09:00 for 
the following purposes:

1.  To receive, consider and adopt the annual 
financial statements of the Company and 
the Group for the year ended 30 June 
2009, together with the reports of the 
directors and auditors thereon.

2.  To consider for re-election and, if deemed 
fit, to individually re-elect Messrs J C 
Hayward, H S Herman, H S P Mashaba, 
C G Steyn and F J Visser who retire 
by rotation but, being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-election as directors.

3.  To authorise the directors to determine 
the remuneration of the auditors for the 
past audit.

4.  To approve the payment of directors’ 
remuneration as reflected in the annual 
financial statements for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2009 and to authorise 
the Board on recommendation of its 
Remuneration Committee to determine the 
directors’ remuneration payable in respect 
of the financial year ending 30 June 2010.

5.  To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, 
with or without modification, the 
following resolution as an ordinary 
resolution in order to align the Trust 
Deed (“Trust Deed”) of the Growthpoint 
Staff Incentive Scheme (“the Scheme”) 
with the requirements of Schedule 14, as 
amended, of the JSE Listings Requirements 
(“Schedule 14”), notably relating to the 
insertion in the Trust Deed figures to 
replace percentages where they appear 
in respect of numerical limits relative to 
the number of linked units that may be 
utilised for purposes of the Scheme and 
the maximum number of linked units or 
options that may be allocated to any one 
participant: 

OrDiNary resOLUTiON NO 1
Resolved that: 

5.1  Clause 15.1.2 of the Trust Deed which 
pertains to amendments to the Trust 
Deed and its Schedules be amended to 
cater for the requirement of Schedule 14, 
that certain amendments to the Scheme 
be approved by a requisite majority 
of linked unitholders. Following such 
amendment, clause 15.1.2 of the Trust 
Deed will read as follows, the highlighted 
portions representing the amendments:

  “Without derogating from the terms 
of 15.1, no amendment in respect of 
any matters provided for in the listings 
requirements of the JSE for the time 
being, requiring the approval of the 
Company in general meeting and such 
requisite majority of the votes of linked 
unitholders cast in favour of such 
resolution as may be prescribed from 
time to time in terms of the listings 
requirements of the JSE shall operate, 
unless such amendment has received 
such requisite the approval of the 
Company in general meeting.”

5.2  Clauses 2.11.2, 3.1.1 and 3.1.2 of the Rules 
applicable to the Scheme, contained 
in Appendix 1 of the Trust Deed, which 
pertain to the imposition of limits to 
the amount of linked units which can 
be used for purposes of the Scheme be 
amended to cater for the requirement 
of Schedule 14, that a fixed number of 
linked units, as opposed to a percentage, 
which may be utilised for purposes of 
the Scheme must be stated. Following 
such amendment:

5.2.1  Clause 2.11.2 will read as follows, 
(the highlighted portions representing 
the amendments): 
 
“New Issue Linked Units to be used for 
the purposes of the Scheme must not 
exceed 2% (two per cent) 20 000 000 
(twenty million) of the total number 
of Linked Units in issue at any time 
and provided such New Issue Linked 
Units are only issued subject to certain 
performance criteria conditions as the 
Committee in its sole discretion may 
determine from time to time”

5.2.2  Clause 3.1.1 will read as follows,  
(the highlighted portions representing 
the amendments): 
 
“No Awards may be made to the 
extent that after acceptance thereof 
the aggregate number of Linked 
Units held under the Scheme exceeds 
7,5% (seven comma five per cent) 
50 000 000 (fifty million) of the 
Linked Units in the issued share and 
debenture capital of the Company at 
any time, or such increased number 
of Linked Units in the Company as 
may from time to time be approved 
by the Company in general meeting 
and subject to the provisions of the JSE 
Listings Requirements, if applicable”

5.2.3  Clause 3.1.2 will read as follows, 
(the highlighted portions representing 
the amendments) 
 
“No individual may participate in the 
Scheme with respect to more than 
0,5% (half a per cent) 5 000 000 (five 
million) of the total number of Linked 
Units in issue at any time. This limit 
may be exceeded if the Committee, 
with the approval of the board of  
directors of the company, determines 
that exceptional circumstances make 
it desirable that Awards should be 
granted in excess of this limit.”
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5.3  Clause 3.2 of the Rules applicable to 
the Scheme, contained in Appendix 
1 of the Trust Deed, which pertains 
to the variation of the share capital 
of the company be amended to cater 
for the requirement of Schedule 14, 
that all amendments to the Scheme 
be approved by a requisite majority 
of linked unitholders. Following such 
amendment, clause 3.2 will read as 
follows, the highlighted portions 
representing the amendments: 
 
“The Remuneration Committee may 
vary the numerical limit in Rule 3.1 to 
take account of any variation in the 
ordinary share and debenture capital of 
the Company, or any special dividend, 
special distribution or other transaction 
which the Committee considers might 
affect the value of the Linked Units and 
provided any such adjustments, are 
approved by such requisite majority 
of the votes of linked unitholders cast 
in favour of such resolution as may be 
prescribed from time to time in terms 
of the listings requirements of the JSE 
and, where necessary, are confirmed 
to the Company and the JSE in writing 
by the Company’s auditors that these 
adjustments have been calculated on a 
reasonable basis and in accordance with 
the Scheme.”

6.  To consider and, if deemed fit, pass with 
or without modification, the following 
ordinary resolution:

OrDiNary resOLUTiON NO 2
Resolved that:

The unissued shares in the Company’s 
authorised capital, be and are hereby placed 
under the control of the directors of the 
Company who are authorised to allot or 
issue any such shares at their discretion, 
subject at all times to the provisions of 
the Companies Act, 1973, as amended 
or successive legislation, the Company’s 
Articles of Association and the requirements 
of the JSE Limited, provided that each 
ordinary share of five cents be issued 
together with 10 (ten) unsecured variable-
rate subordinated debentures of 250 cents 
each, as a linked unit and provided further 
that the number of shares issued at any time 
may not exceed 10% of the total number of 
shares in issue determined immediately prior 
to each issue of new shares. 
 
No issue will be made that could effectively 
transfer control of the Company without 
the prior approval of unitholders in general 
meeting and the only issue of linked units 
that is contemplated at the present time is 
for a vendor placing of new Growthpoint 
linked units to enable the Company to follow 
its rights in a rights issue (and a top-up 
placement if required) of “stapled securities” 
by Growthpoint Australia Limited (formerly 
Orchard Industrial Property fund and 
Orchard Management Limited).

7.  To consider and, if deemed fit, pass with 
or without modification, the following 
ordinary resolution:

OrDiNary resOLUTiON NO 3
Resolved that:

Subject to the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 1973, as amended and the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE Limited, the directors 
be and they are hereby authorised by way 
of a specific standing authority to issue 
ordinary shares of five cents each (“ordinary 
shares”) together with unsecured variable-rate 
subordinated debentures of 250 cents each 
(“debentures”), as and when they 
deem appropriate, for the exclusive purpose 
of affording linked unitholders opportunities 
from time to time to elect to reinvest 
their distributions in new linked units of 
the Company.

8.  To consider and, if deemed fit, pass with 
or without modification, the following 
ordinary resolution:

OrDiNary resOLUTiON NO 4
Resolved that

Subject to the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 1973, as amended and the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE Limited, the 
directors be and they are hereby authorised 
by way of a general authority, to issue 
ordinary shares of five cents each (“ordinary 
shares”) together with unsecured variable-
rate subordinated debentures of 250 cents 
each (“debentures”) for cash as and when 
suitable situations arise, subject to the 
following limitations:

>  that each ordinary share be linked to 10 
debentures to form linked units (“the 
linked units”);

>  this authority shall not extend beyond 
15 months from the date of this general 
meeting;
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>  a paid press announcement giving full 
details, including the impact on net 
asset value and earnings per linked unit, 
will be published at the time of an issue 
representing, on a cumulative basis within 
one year, 5% or more of the number of 
linked units in issue prior to such issues;

>  that issues in aggregate in any one 
financial year will not exceed 10% of 
the number of securities of any class in 
issue, including instruments which are 
compulsorily convertible into securities of 
that class;

> that, in determining the price at which an 
issue of linked units may be made in terms 
of this authority, the maximum discount 
permitted will be 5% of the weighted 
average traded price of the linked units in 
question, measured over the 30 business 
days prior to the date on which the price of 
such issue is determined or agreed by the 
directors; 

>  that issues of linked units shall be made to 
public subscribers only and not to related 
parties; and

>  that this authority shall be restricted to 
the issue of linked units to finance the 
acquisition of property assets or at any 
time to settle debt in respect of any of the 
Company’s property assets, and further, 
provided that any such issues for cash 
may be made prior to the registration 
of transfer of any property assets to be 
acquired.

In terms of the Listings Requirements of the 
JSE Limited, at least 75% of the votes held 
by linked unitholders present or represented 
by proxy at the meeting need to be cast 
in favour of this resolution in order to give 
effect hereto.

9.  To consider and, if deemed fit, to 
pass, with or without modification, 
the following resolution as a special 
resolution:

sPeciaL resOLUTiON NO 1: 
ameNDmeNT Of arTicLes Of 
assOciaTiON
Resolved that:

“The words ‘twelve years’ be deleted and 
substituted for the words “three years” 
where they appear in the third sentence of 
article 22.4 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association.”

The reason for and the effect of this special 
resolution number 1 is to alter clause 22.4 
of the Company’s Articles of Association 
in order to reduce from 12 years to 3 years 
the period after which dividends that have 
remained unclaimed from their date of 
payment may be forfeited by the directors 
for the benefit of the Company.

At least 75% of the votes held by linked 
unitholders present or represented by proxy 
at the meeting need to be cast in favour of 
this resolution in order to give effect hereto.
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10.  To consider and, if deemed fit, to 
pass, with or without modification, 
the following resolution as a special 
resolution:

sPeciaL resOLUTiON NO 2: 
rePUrchase Of LiNkeD UNiTs
Resolved that:

“The Company or any of its subsidiaries 
be and are hereby authorised, by way of a 
general approval, to acquire ordinary shares 
and debentures issued as linked units by the 
Company, in terms of Sections 85 (2) and 
85 (3) of the Companies Act No. 61 of 1973, 
as amended, and in terms of the rules and 
requirements of the JSE Limited (“the JSE”), 
being that:

>  any such acquisition of linked units shall 
be implemented on the open order 
book of the JSE and without any prior 
arrangement;

>  this general authority shall be valid until 
the Company’s next annual general 
meeting, provided that it shall not 
extend beyond 15 months from the date 
of registration of this special resolution;

>  an announcement will be published 
as soon as the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries has acquired linked units 
constituting, on a cumulative basis, 
3% of the number of linked units in 
issue prior to the acquisition pursuant 
to which the aforesaid 3% threshold is 
reached, and for each 3% in aggregate 
acquired thereafter, containing full 
details of such acquisitions;

>  acquisitions of linked units in aggregate 
in any one financial year may not exceed 
20% of the Company’s issued ordinary 
share capital as at the date of passing of 
this special resolution;

>  in determining the price at which 
ordinary linked units issued by the 
Company are acquired by it or any of 
its subsidiaries in terms of this general 
authority, the maximum premium at 
which such linked units may be acquired 
will be 10% of the weighted average of 
the market value at which such linked 
units are traded on the JSE over the five 
business days immediately preceding the 
date of repurchase of such linked units;

 >  the Company is duly authorised by its 
Articles of Association to acquire linked 
units issued by it;

 >  at any point in time, the Company may 
only appoint one agent to effect any 
repurchase on the Company’s behalf;

>  the Company’s sponsor must confirm 
the adequacy of the Company’s working 
capital for purposes of undertaking the 
repurchase of linked units in writing to 
the JSE before entering the market to 
proceed with the repurchase;

 >  the Company shall remain in compliance 
with the minimum shareholder spread 
requirements of the JSE, and 

>  the Company and/or its subsidiaries may 
not repurchase any linked units during a 
prohibited period as defined by the JSE 
Listings Requirements.”

The reason for and the effect of this special 
resolution number 2 is to permit the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries, by way 
of a general approval, to acquire ordinary 
shares and debentures issued as linked 
units by the Company as and when suitable 
opportunities to do so arise.

At least 75% of the votes held by linked 
unitholders present or represented by proxy 
at the meeting need to be cast in favour of 
this resolution in order to give effect hereto.

Although no repurchase of linked units 
is contemplated at the present time, the 
directors, having considered the effects 
of a repurchase of the maximum number 

of ordinary shares and debentures issued 
as linked units in terms of the aforegoing 
general authority, are of the opinion that for 
a period of 12 (twelve) months after the date 
of the notice of annual general meeting:

>  the Company and the Group will be able, 
in the ordinary course of business, to pay 
its debts;

>  the assets of the Company and the 
Group, fairly valued in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practice, 
will exceed the liabilities of the Company 
and the Group; and

>  the Company and the Group’s ordinary 
share capital, reserves and working 
capital will be adequate for ordinary 
business purposes.

The following additional information, some 
of which may appear elsewhere in the 
annual report of which this notice forms 
part, is provided in terms of the JSE Listings 
Requirements for purposes of the general 
authority:

>  Directors and management 
– pages 100 and 101;

>  Major beneficial shareholders 
– page 119;

>  Directors’ interests in linked units 
– page 32 and 33;

>  Share capital of the Company 
– page 58.

Litigation statement
In terms of section 11.26 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the directors, whose names 
appear on pages 100 and 101 of the annual 
report of which this notice forms part, 
are not aware of any legal or arbitration 
proceedings that are pending or threatened, 
that may have or have had in the recent 
past, being at least the previous 12 (twelve) 
months, a material effect on the Company’s 
or Group’s financial position.



125 

Directors’ responsibility statement
The directors, whose names appear on 
pages 100 and 101 of the annual report, 
collectively and individually accept full 
responsibility for the accuracy of the 
information pertaining to this special 
resolution and certify that, to the best of 
their knowledge and belief, there are no 
facts that have been omitted which would 
make any statement false or misleading, and 
that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain 
such facts have been made and that the 
special resolution contains all information.

Material changes
Other than the facts and developments 
reported on in the annual report, there have 
been no material changes in the affairs or 
fi nancial position of the Company and its 
subsidiaries since the date of signature of the 
audit report and up to the date of this notice.

The directors have no specifi c intention, at 
present, for the Company to repurchase any 
of its shares but consider that such a general 
authority should be put in place should an 
opportunity present itself to do so during 
the year which is in the best interests of the 
Company and its shareholders.

NOTes:
A member entitled to attend and vote at the 
annual general meeting is entitled to appoint 
one or more proxies to attend and vote in
his stead. A proxy need not be a member
of the Company.

All proxy forms or other instruments of 
authority must be deposited with the 
Transfer Secretaries, Computershare Investor 
Services (Pty) Limited, Ground Floor, 70 
Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO 
Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107) so as to 
be received not less than 48 hours before 
the appointed time for the holding of the 
meeting (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and 
public holidays).

If you are a certifi cated Growthpoint linked 
unitholder or an own name dematerialised 
Growthpoint linked unitholder and are 
unable to attend the annual general meeting 
of Growthpoint linked unitholders to be 
held at 09:00 on Wednesday, 4 November 
2009 (“the Growthpoint annual general 
meeting”), but wish to be represented 
thereat, you must complete the form of 
proxy attached hereto in accordance with 
the instructions therein and return it to the 
Transfer Secretaries, Computershare Investor 
Services (Pty) Limited, Ground Floor,
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107)
so as to be received by no later than
09:00 on Tuesday, 3 November 2009.

If you are a dematerialised Growthpoint 
linked unitholder and are not an own 
name dematerialised Growthpoint linked 
unitholder then you must instruct your 
CSDP or broker as to how you wish to 
cast your vote at the Growthpoint annual 
general meeting in order for them to vote 
in accordance with your instructions. If you 
wish to attend the Growthpoint annual 
general meeting in person, please request 
your CSDP or broker to issue the necessary 
letter of representation to you. This must be 
done in terms of the agreement entered into 
between the dematerialised Growthpoint 
linked unitholder (who is not an own 
name dematerialised Growthpoint linked 
unitholder) and the CSDP or broker.

By order of the Board

r a krabbenhöft
Company Secretary
11 September 2009
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Form of Proxy

 
TO Be cOmPLeTeD By ONLy cerTificaTeD aND OWN Name DemaTeriaLiseD LiNkeD UNiThOLDers Of 
GrOWThPOiNT PrOPerTies LimiTeD (“Growthpoint”) 

I/We (Name in block letters)

of (Address in block capitals)

being the registered holder of  linked units in Growthpoint, hereby appoint

 of  or failing him

 of  or failing him

 of  or failing him

 
the Chairman of the meeting, as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the company to be held at  
The Place, 1 Sandton Drive, Sandown, Sandton, 2196, on Wednesday, 4 November 2009 at 09:00, or any adjournment as follows:

 Signed at: this: day of: 2009

 Signature/s of member/s:

 Telephone: (            ) Cell: Fax: (            )

resolutions In favour of Against Abstain

1. Adoption of annual financial statements

2. Re-election of the following directors who are to retire at the meeting:

2.1 J C Hayward

2.2 H S Herman

2.3 H S P Mashaba

2.4 C G Steyn

2.5 F J Visser

3. To authorise the directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration for the past audit

4.  To approve payment of remuneration to the directors for the year ended 30 June 2009 
and to authorise the Board to determine the directors’ fees for year ending 30 June 2010

5. To approve amendments to the Growthpoint Staff Incentive Scheme Trust Deed

6. To place the unissued shares in the authorised capital under the control of the directors

7.  Specific and exclusive authority to issue shares to afford linked unitholders the 
opportunity to elect to reinvest distributions

8. General authority to issue shares as part of linked units for cash

9. Special resolution 1: Amendment of Articles of Association relating to unclaimed dividends

10. Special resolution 2: Authority to repurchase linked units

My/our proxy has been instructed to vote in accordance with my/our wishes as indicated by the 
placing of a cross in the appropriate space above. Unless so instructed, my/our proxy may vote as 
he/she thinks fit.
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NOTES

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to 
appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a 
member of the company.

All proxy forms or other instruments of authority must be deposited with the Transfer 
Secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, 
Johannesburg 2001 (P O Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107) so as to be received not less than 
48 hours before the appointed time for the holding of the meeting (excluding Saturdays, 
Sundays and public holidays).

If you are a certificated Growthpoint linked unitholder or an own name dematerialised 
Growthpoint linked unitholder and are unable to attend the Annual General Meeting of 
Growthpoint linked unitholders to be held at 09:00 on Wednesday, 4 November 2009 
(“the Growthpoint Annual General Meeting”) but wish to be represented at thereat, you 
must complete the form of proxy attached hereto in accordance with the instructions 
therein and return it to the Transfer Secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) 
Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (P O Box 61051, Marshalltown 
2107) so as to be received by them not later than 09:00 on Tuesday, 3 November 2009. 

If you are a dematerialised Growthpoint linked unitholder and are not an own name 
dematerialised Growthpoint linked unitholder then you must instruct your CSDP or 
broker as to how you wish to cast your vote at the Growthpoint Annual General Meeting 
in order for them to vote in accordance with your instructions. If you wish to attend the 
Growthpoint Annual General Meeting in person, please request your CSDP or broker to issue 
the necessary letter of representation to you. This must be done in terms of the agreement 
entered into between the dematerialised Growthpoint linked unitholder (who is not an own 
name dematerialised Growthpoint linked unitholder) and the CSDP or broker.
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